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Part III incorporates certain information by reference from the definitive proxy statement to be filed by the registrant for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 5, 2020 (the “Proxy
Statement”).
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�3�$�5�7���,

�7�K�L�V���)�R�U�P���������.  �F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�V���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���R�I���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������$���R�I���W�K�H���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V���$�F�W���R�I���������������D�V���D�P�H�Q�G�H�G�����D�Q�G���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������(
�R�I���W�K�H���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V���(�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���$�F�W���R�I���������������D�V���D�P�H�Q�G�H�G�����W�K�H�����(�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���$�F�W���������$�Q�\���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�H�G���K�H�U�H�L�Q���U�H�J�D�U�G�L�Q�J���R�X�U���I�X�W�X�U�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H��
�R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����R�U���R�W�K�H�U���P�D�W�W�H�U�V�����L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J�����Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���O�L�P�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q�����V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���W�R���W�K�H���H�I�I�H�F�W���W�K�D�W���Z�H�����E�H�O�L�H�Y�H���������H�[�S�H�F�W���������S�O�D�Q���������P�D�\���������Z�L�O�O���������L�Q�W�H�Q�G���W�R����
���S�U�R�M�H�F�W���������D�Q�W�L�F�L�S�D�W�H���������F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���������V�W�U�L�Y�H���W�R���������V�H�H�N���W�R���������D�U�H���H�Q�F�R�X�U�D�J�H�G���E�\���������U�H�P�D�L�Q���F�D�X�W�L�R�X�V���������U�H�P�D�L�Q���R�S�W�L�P�L�V�W�L�F�������R�U�����H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�������V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���R�I�����J�R�D�O�V��
�R�U�����Y�L�V�L�R�Q�V�������R�U���R�W�K�H�U���Y�D�U�L�D�W�L�R�Q�V���W�K�H�U�H�R�I���R�U���F�R�P�S�D�U�D�E�O�H���W�H�U�P�L�Q�R�O�R�J�\���R�U���W�K�H���Q�H�J�D�W�L�Y�H���W�K�H�U�H�R�I�����V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����$�F�W�X�D�O���U�H�V�X�O�W�V
�F�R�X�O�G���G�L�I�I�H�U���P�D�W�H�U�L�D�O�O�\���I�U�R�P���W�K�R�V�H���S�U�R�M�H�F�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�V���D���U�H�V�X�O�W���R�I���D���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���I�D�F�W�R�U�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���W�K�R�V�H���V�H�W���I�R�U�W�K���X�Q�G�H�U
�,�W�H�P�������X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���K�H�D�G�L�Q�J�����5�L�V�N���)�D�F�W�R�U�V�����E�H�J�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�Q���S�D�J�H�����������D�Q�G���H�O�V�H�Z�K�H�U�H���L�Q���W�K�L�V���)�R�U�P���������. �����$�O�W�K�R�X�J�K���Z�H���E�H�O�L�H�Y�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���H�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V���U�H�I�O�H�F�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H
�I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�U�H���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H�����Z�H���F�D�Q�Q�R�W���J�X�D�U�D�Q�W�H�H���I�X�W�X�U�H���U�H�V�X�O�W�V�����O�H�Y�H�O�V���R�I���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\�����S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���R�U���D�F�K�L�H�Y�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����<�R�X���V�K�R�X�O�G���Q�R�W���S�O�D�F�H���X�Q�G�X�H
�U�H�O�L�D�Q�F�H���R�Q���W�K�H�V�H���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����: �H���G�L�V�F�O�D�L�P���D�Q�\���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���X�S�G�D�W�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�H�G���L�Q���D�Q�\���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W��

�,�7�(�0 ���������������%�8�6�,�1�(�6�6

�2�Y�H�U�Y�L�H�Z

National Instruments Corporation (the "Company," "NI," "we," "us" or "our") started over 40 years ago on an idea of connecting engineers through
software. Our founders created technology to connect instruments to computers in order to accelerate the testing and measurement of innovative technology,
and this was the seed of a philosophy of accelerating innovation that continues to be a driving force of our culture, our business, and our operations today. We
strive to enable customers around the world to do their most ambitious work while meeting fast-moving market demands. We provide the integration of
modular hardware and open, flexible software systems, to consistently support organizations’ evolving test and measurement needs. Our hope is that in 100
years’ time, future generations will continue to benefit from the results of the innovation we make possible today.

Our overarching goal, which we call our core strategic vision is to be the leader in software-defined automated test and automated measurement
systems. This vision provides a framework to help us achieve our financial goals of profitability and revenue growth by:

• Delivering value that gives our customers a competitive advantage
• Providing a differentiated software-defined platform for automated test and automated measurement systems
• Focusing on industry-specific applications that benefit from our platform's disruptive capabilities
• Enhancing our system-level offerings to more fully meet customers' enterprise wide challenges

In pursuing our vision, we have empowered our team to be deliberate about the market opportunities we pursue to fuel growth by targeting the applications
where we believe our systems can provide significant value to our customers. We believe our long-term track record for innovation and our differentiation in
the market helps support the success of our customers, employees, community, and stockholders.

�3�H�R�S�O�H���I�L�U�V�W���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K���W�R���H�Q�J�L�Q�H�H�U�L�Q�J

Our philosophy of putting the needs of our customers first and elevating the impact of their creativity and innovation is at the heart of how we do
business. We utilize our expertise to partner with talented engineers and enterprises around the world to push the limits of innovation. We believe it is a
combination of our people, technology and data that make a difference in helping our customers reach speed, scale and efficiency across all phases of the
product development cycle.

NI is headquartered in Austin, Texas. We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas in May 1976 and were reincorporated in Delaware
in June 1994. In March 1995, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock. Our common stock, $0.01 par value, is quoted on the NASDAQ
Stock Market under the trading symbol NATI.

�3�U�R�G�X�F�W�V�����7�H�F�K�Q�R�O�R�J�\�����D�Q�G���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V

Our commitment to innovation and continuous improvement has been a core value for us for over 40 years. Below is an overview of our products,
technology and services.

�6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H
    
NI software is the key differentiator of our platform. We have empowered hundreds of thousands of loyal users of LabVIEW, a unique graphical

software platform optimized for engineers, and numerous other application software tools. We have
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consistently invested to maintain and strengthen our software platform to provide a simplified user interface, faster time-to-test, modern web- and cloud-
enabled capabilities, and the ability to quickly create application-specific software tools.

The NI software platform spans the full range of customer needs, from high-performance driver software for NI hardware to general-purpose
development tools that allow customers to create their own IP to higher-level software products that directly meet targeted customer applications. A hallmark
of the NI software platform is the integration of NI and third-party software and hardware. We recently demonstrated our commitment and discipline to
software excellence by a major investment to modernize our software platform, which resulted in a refresh of our flagship software, LabVIEW, as well as a
series of new software products that address higher-level customer needs.

�7�K�H���S�R�Z�H�U���R�I���R�X�U���R�S�H�Q���S�O�D�W�I�R�U�P

Across the world, software connections are driving our innovation. We have made significant investments in software interfaces so customers can
use development tools such as Python, Linux, C++, Mathworks, MATLAB & Simulink, Microsoft Visual Studio, .NET and more to develop test and
measurement applications with our platform.

    
NI provides a wide variety of software tools for programming automated test and automated measurement applications. This software offering

includes:

�3�U�R�J�U�D�P�P�L�Q�J���( �Q�Y�L�U�R�Q�P�H�Q�W�V
• �1�,���/�D�E�9�,�(�:  - a graphical programming approach that helps visualize every aspect of the application, including hardware configuration, measurement

data, and debugging. This visualization makes it simple to integrate measurement hardware from various vendors, represent complex logic on the
diagram, develop data analysis algorithms, and design custom engineering user interfaces.

• �1�,���/�D�E�: �L�Q�G�R�Z�V���&�9�, - an ANSI C integrated development environment and engineering toolbox with built-in libraries for measurement, analysis, and
engineering UI design.

• �1�,���0�H�D�V�X�U�H�P�H�Q�W���6�W�X�G�L�R��- a suite of .NET tools designed for building engineering applications in Microsoft Visual Studio to acquire, analyze, and display
measurement data.

�$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H
• �1�,���7�H�V�W�6�W�D�Q�G��- application software targeted for automated test and automated measurement applications in a manufacturing environment.
�� �1�,���9�H�U�L�6�W�D�Q�G��- a ready-to-use software environment for configuring real-time testing applications, including hardware-in-the-loop test systems.
• �)�O�H�[�O�R�J�J�H�U - application software optimized for quick sensor configuration and data logging of mixed signals to verify electromechanical systems.
• �1�,���,�Q�V�L�J�K�W�&�0���(�Q�W�H�U�S�U�L�V�H - a software solution with tightly integrated hardware options for monitoring ancillary rotating equipment.

�6�\�V�W�H�P�V���D�Q�G���' �D�W�D���0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W
• �1�,���' �,�$�G�H�P - configuration-based technical data management, analysis, and report generation tools to interactively mine and analyze engineering and

measurement data.
• �1�,���6�\�V�W�H�P�/�L�Q�N��- systems management software that enables the mass coordination of connected devices, software deployments, and data communications

throughout a distributed system.
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�0 �R�G�X�O�D�U���+�D�U�G�Z�D�U�H

We provide modular instrumentation that offers our customers the ability to create their own unique programmable, flexible and low-cost solutions.
We believe our modular instrument approach enables us to grow our sales in the automated validation and automated production test market by delivering
more test coverage and a lower-cost alternative for our customers. We offer two primary hardware form factors, PXI and NI C-series, both with a modular
input/output ("I/O") approach in addition to industry standard PCI form factors. The NI PXI modular instrument platform, introduced in 1997, is a standard
PC architecture in a rugged form factor with expansion slots and instrumentation extensions for timing, triggering and signal sharing. PXI combines
mainstream PC software and PCI hardware with advanced instrumentation capabilities. The NI C-series platform, used in our CompactRIO and
CompactDAQ products, is a rugged, high-performance I/O and processing platform used in a wide variety of data acquisition applications. We believe our C-
series data acquisition and control products provide unique value where diverse I/O is needed, and we believe that we can expand our user base through new
distributed and rugged products.��The NI PXI and C-series platforms include field programmable gate array ("FPGA") technology, giving customers
programmable hardware capability that provides high performance and is user-customizable with NI LabVIEW software.

Increasingly, our customers’ applications demand more system capabilities that more closely match their application needs. We have continually
evolved our offering to include highly innovative products and application-specific systems. One example in the semiconductor industry is our NI
Semiconductor Test System ("STS") which combines NI modular instrumentation with NI software for RF and mixed-signal production testing. The STS
features fully production-ready test systems that use NI technology in a form factor suitable for a semiconductor production test environment. The STS
combines the NI PXI hardware, TestStand test management software, and LabVIEW graphical programming software inside a fully enclosed test head. The
compact STS design houses all the key components of a production tester while using a fraction of the floor space, power, and maintenance typically required
by traditional automated test equipment. With the open, modular design, engineers can take advantage of the latest industry-standard PXI modules for more
instrumentation and computing power.

�6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���D�Q�G���6�X�S�S�R�U�W

We provide global services and support as part of our commitment to our customers’ success. Our services and support have always played a key
role in helping our customers to design, deploy and create. Our services and support team is made up of highly qualified engineers and experts who help our
customers to meet their application needs. With direct operations in approximately 45 countries, NI has local market expertise, on-site services, and technical
support to enable customer success.

Through our ecosystem with an active community of software developers and over 1,000 National Instruments Alliance Partners around the world
we are able to deliver solutions tailored to customer needs. Our Alliance Partners have deep knowledge of NI systems and the rich domain expertise to
connect the right technologies, strategies, and support based on customers’ business needs.

We also offer software maintenance services, hardware services and maintenance and training certification.

�6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H���0�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V

�6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���I�R�U���(�Q�G���8�V�H�U�V�� Our Standard Service Program provides our end users with support services through a software maintenance
contract. The Standard Service Program is designed to help ensure that our end users are successful with our products by providing the end user with regular
product upgrades and service packs, professional technical support from local engineers, 24-hour-a-day access to self-paced online product training, and
access to older versions of their licensed NI software.

�9�R�O�X�P�H���/�L�F�H�Q�V�L�Q�J���I�R�U���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W���/�H�Y�H�O���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V�� Our NI Volume License Program (“VLP”) and Enterprise Agreements (“EAs”) are designed to meet
the needs of the business in addition to the needs of each end user. In addition to access to the Standard Service Program for each end user, businesses that
take advantage of the VLP and EAs receive account-level benefits designed to help effectively manage their software assets and lower their total cost of
ownership.
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�+�D�U�G�Z�D�U�H���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���D�Q�G���0�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H

�: �D�U�U�D�Q�W�\���D�Q�G���5�H�S�D�L�U�� We offer standard and extended warranties to help meet project life-cycle requirements and provide repair services for our
products, express repair, and advance replacement services.

��������
�&�D�O�L�E�U�D�W�L�R�Q�� To help our customers’ calibration needs, NI provides calibration solutions, including recalibration services, manual calibration

procedures, and automated calibration software. In 2011, the American Association for Laboratory Accreditation accredited NI Calibration Services Austin to
one of the highest international calibration standards in the industry, ISO/IEC 17025:2005 (“17025”). We now offer 17025 calibration services for original
equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") and other organizations seeking to maintain their compliance with governmental, medical, transportation and electronics
regulations. The 17025-calibration service offering is designed for companies standardizing their automated test and measurement systems on PXI modular
instrumentation, which provides some of the most advanced technology for addressing the latest engineering challenges.

��������
�6�\�V�W�H�P���&�R�Q�I�L�J�X�U�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���' �H�S�O�R�\�P�H�Q�W�� Our��NI System Assurance Program provides a fast, easy way to get our customers' new NI systems up and

running. Our trained technicians install software and hardware and configure our customers’ PXI, and NI CompactRIO system to their specifications.��������

�7�U�D�L�Q�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���&�H�U�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q

�1�,���7�U�D�L�Q�L�Q�J���3�U�R�J�U�D�P�� NI training helps the customer build the skills to more efficiently develop robust, maintainable applications. We offer fee-
based training classes and self-paced online training for many of our software and hardware products. On-site courses are quoted per customer requests and
we include on-line course offerings with live teachers.

�1�,���&�H�U�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���3�U�R�J�U�D�P�� We offer programs to certify programmers and instructors for our products. Our certification program demonstrates our
customers have the skills needed to create high-quality applications with NI software.

�0 �D�U�N�H�W�V���D�Q�G���$�S�S�O�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V

NI invests to enhance our offerings in software connected systems in the semiconductor, transportation and aerospace, defense, and government ADG
industries. We are able to leverage the investments in these areas to serve a broad base of diverse customers in the other industries we serve.

• �6�H�P�L�F�R�Q�G�X�F�W�R�U

Within the semiconductor industry, customers are facing a rapid increase in complexity and intense time to market pressures. We are investing to
increase our ability to deliver flexible, automated test, and measurement solutions that scale from chip verification to characterization, validation and
into the production floor. This will help to meet the business needs of integrated circuit ("IC") manufacturers. IC makers are pressured to deliver
more integrated solutions, ensure high levels of quality and reliability, remain cost competitive, and to shorten time to market to meet tight market
windows. We continue to innovate with solutions that span our customers' product development lifecycle, focused on helping IC manufacturers
address the cost, scalability, design, and device challenges they face in targeting the development of the next generation of smart devices.

• �7�U�D�Q�V�S�R�U�W�D�W�L�R�Q

The automotive industry is evolving to include electrification and advanced driver-assistance systems (ADAS). New test challenges and
requirements are coming faster than ever before and we believe customers see benefits in NI’s adaptable technologies. Our open and easily
upgradable automated test and measurement systems give customers the flexibility to meet their needs when faced with rapidly changing
requirements and tight budgets.

• �$�H�U�R�V�S�D�F�H�����' �H�I�H�Q�V�H���D�Q�G���* �R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W

Over the years we have built a deep understanding of how to help our ADG customers optimize test strategies to meet increasingly demanding
technical and business requirements. We help our customers control their proprietary IP through our software offering while meeting their demands
for highly customized and long life-cycle systems. Our adaptive, open technologies are designed to reduce the cost of maintenance and support by
proactively managing technology insertion and life-cycle management strategies. Our combination of flexible hardware and open software also
allows for rapid prototyping and validation of new technologies, helping reduce the time to innovate.
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• �3�R�U�W�I�R�O�L�R

For over 40 years, we have enabled engineers to develop and deliver increasingly complex products in every industry we serve. With our adaptive
automated measurement technology, we help our customers perform research, validate design quality and thoroughly test them in production. Our
platform’s modular characteristics allow our customers to quickly integrate solutions and also allows us to efficiently define and deliver ready-to-run
offerings that meet their application needs even faster. The main industries of focus within the portfolio grouping, include Electrical Equipment,
Electronics, Energy, Life Sciences and Academic.

�2�X�U���&�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V

We continue to have a broad, diverse sets of customers with over 35,000 customer accounts worldwide, with no customer representing more than 3%
of our revenues in each of the past three years.

�&�X�O�W�X�U�H���D�Q�G���(�P�S�O�R�\�H�H�V

We consider our employees to be one of our greatest assets and central to our continued success. As of December 31, 2019, we had more than 7,300
employees worldwide. We consider our employee relations to be good.

�6�D�O�H�V���D�Q�G���' �L�V�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q

We distribute and sell our products primarily through a direct sales organization. We also use independent distributors, OEMs, value-added resellers
("VARs"), system integrators and consultants, each of whom we refer to as partners, to market and sell our products.

We have sales and support offices in approximately 45 countries. Sales outside of the U.S. accounted for approximately 63% of our revenues in each
of the last three years. We believe the ability to provide comprehensive service and support to our customers is an important factor in our business. We
generally permit customers to return products within 30 days from receipt for a refund of the purchase price less a restocking charge. Our hardware products
are generally warranted against defects in materials and workmanship for one year from the date we ship the products to our customers. Historically, warranty
costs and returns have not been material.

Our foreign operations are subject to certain risks set forth under Item 1A, Risk Factors, We are Subject to Various Risks Associated with
International Operations and Foreign Economies. See also discussion regarding fluctuations in our quarterly results and seasonality in Item 1A, Risk Factors,
Our Revenues are Subject to Seasonal Variations.

We have one operating segment and one reporting unit. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates our financial information and resources and
assesses the performance of these resources on a consolidated basis. For information regarding revenue, results of operations, and total assets for each of our
last three fiscal years, please refer to our financial statements included in this Form 10-K and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations included in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

�0 �D�U�N�H�W�L�Q�J

We bring our inside knowledge of leading-edge technology trends to the professional engineering community throughout the year, achieving
significant customer reach at our premier global events, NIWeek, NIDays Europe and NIDays Asia. We engage a broad audience and partner with our direct
sales force to help strengthen customer relationships at all levels of the account. We expand our reach through thought leadership and content on our website
at ni.com, gaining exposure through online webcasts, blogs and social media. We also participate actively in conversations in the technology community
through industry tradeshows, technical conferences, trainings and user seminars.
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�&�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�R�Q

We operate in a highly competitive market, with competition offering products and solutions specific to industries and applications. Different
competitors offer hardware, software or solutions that directly compete with different aspects of our business. Key competitors include Advantest, Anritsu,
Fortive, Keysight, Rohde & Schwarz, and Teradyne.

See further discussion regarding risks associated with our competitive environment in Item 1A, Risk Factors, We Operate in Intensely Competitive
Markets.

�5�H�V�H�D�U�F�K���D�Q�G���' �H�Y�H�O�R�S�P�H�Q�W

Our business and our customers’ businesses are rapidly evolving. We invest significant resources in research and development because we believe
our long-term growth and success depends on helping our customers stay ahead of the curve in the fast-moving world of technology. We listen to our
customers’ needs as a guide to our research and development efforts. We focus on enhancing existing products and developing new products that have
features and functionality intended to address expected technology advances and we seek to offer competitive capabilities and performance at excellent value.
Our research and development team strives to build quality into our products from the start, in the design phase. We believe this “quality first” mindset helps
to reduce overall development and manufacturing costs and provide reliability in our end products.

Our research and development expenses were $272 million, $261 million and $232 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

�,�Q�W�H�O�O�H�F�W�X�D�O���3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\

We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark law, contracts and technical measures to establish and protect our
proprietary rights in our products. As of December 31, 2019, we held 870 U.S. patents (868 utility patents and 2 design patents) and 91 patents in foreign
countries (78 patents registered in Europe, 7 patents in China, 5 patents in Japan, and 1 patent in Mexico), and had 62 patent applications pending in the U.S.
and foreign countries. 258 of our issued U.S. patents are software patents related to LabVIEW and cover fundamental aspects of the graphical programming
approach used in LabVIEW. Our patents expire from 2020 to 2038. The expiration of any particular patent in the short term is not expected to have any
significant negative impact on our business. No assurance can be given that our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents. We also own
certain registered trademarks in the United States and abroad. See further discussion regarding risks associated with our patents in Item 1A, Risk Factors, Our
Business Depends on Our Proprietary Rights and We Have Been Subject to Intellectual Property Litigation.

�0 �D�Q�X�I�D�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���6�X�S�S�O�L�H�U�V

We manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. Our product manufacturing
operations can be divided into four areas: electronic circuit card and module assembly; chassis and cable assembly; technical manuals and product support
documentation; and software duplication. Most of our electronic circuit card assemblies, modules and chassis are manufactured in house, although contractors
are used from time to time. The majority of our electronic cable assemblies are produced by contractors; however, we do manufacture some on an exception
basis. Our software duplication, technical manuals and product support documentation are primarily produced by contractors.

Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-quality components and subassemblies supplied by outside sources. Several of these
components are only available through limited sources. Limited source items purchased include custom application specific integrated circuits, chassis and
other items. We have in the past experienced delays and quality problems in connection with limited source items, and there can be no assurance that these
problems will not recur in the future. Accordingly, our failure to receive items from limited source item suppliers could result in a material adverse effect on
our net sales and operating results. See Our Business is Dependent on Key Suppliers for additional discussion of the risks associated with limited source
suppliers. We must comply with many different governmental regulations related to the use, storage, discharge, and disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise
hazardous chemicals used in our operations in the U.S., Hungary, and Malaysia. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, Our Operations are Subject to a Variety of
Environmental Regulations and Costs for further discussion of environmental matters as they may affect our business.
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�%�D�F�N�O�R�J

Backlog is a measure of orders that are received but that are not shipped to customers at the end of a quarter. We typically ship products shortly
following the receipt of an order. Accordingly, our backlog typically represents less than 5 days sales. Backlog should not be viewed as an indicator of our
future sales.

�&�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�H���5�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\

At NI, we want to help engineers, enterprises, and innovators thrive today, tomorrow, and for the next hundred years. From inspiring future science,
technology, engineering, and math ("STEM") leaders to protecting our planet, our goal of making a positive impact on the world is ingrained in our culture,
and business practices. As a company, we are fostering a pipeline of diverse STEM talent through academic partnerships, our employee mentor program, and
investment in STEM education. We also are exploring ways that we can better conserve natural resources, reduce our environmental footprint, and put our
technology to use in helping solve our planet's most pressing environmental problems.

At NI, we proudly support our employees and our communities as we collectively take on the most significant challenges of our time.

�$�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q

Our website is www.ni.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T are available through our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with, or
furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), or upon written request without charge. Our website and the information contained
therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The SEC maintains a website, www.sec.gov, which
contains these reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically

9



Table of Contents

�,�7�(�0 �����$�����������5�,�6�. ���)�$�&�7�2�5�6��

In addition to the other information set forth in this Form 10-K, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed below. The risks described
below are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results.

�8�Q�F�H�U�W�D�L�Q���*�O�R�E�D�O���(�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V���&�R�X�O�G���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O�O�\���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V������Our operations and performance
are sensitive to fluctuations in general economic conditions, both in the U.S. and globally. Uncertainty about global and regional economic conditions poses a
risk to us as businesses may decrease or postpone spending in response to events such as continued trade tensions between the U.S. and China or other
countries, geopolitical instability, pandemics and other major public health issues including the coronavirus, financial market volatility, tariffs or other trade
restrictions, government regulatory actions, negative financial news or other factors. Negative trends or sentiments in worldwide and regional economic
conditions have in the past and could again have a material adverse effect on demand for our products and services. Even if resolved, these trends could have
a broad negative impact on the global industrial economy, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and our results of operations. These
factors as well as others we may not contemplate could have a material adverse effect on the spending patterns of businesses including our current and
potential customers which could have a material adverse effect on our net sales and our results of operations. See “Current business outlook” in this Form 10-
K for information regarding recent business conditions.

�: �H���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���9�D�U�L�R�X�V���5�L�V�N�V���$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�H�G���Z�L�W�K���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���)�R�U�H�L�J�Q���(�F�R�Q�R�P�L�H�V�� Our international sales and operations are subject to
inherent risks, including, but not limited to:

• fluctuations in foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar;
• unexpected changes to currency policy or currency restrictions in foreign jurisdictions;
• delays in collecting trade receivable balances from customers in developing economies;
• tariffs and other trade barriers; 
• unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
• fluctuations in local economies;  
• disparate and changing employment laws in foreign jurisdictions;
• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;  
• costs and risks of localizing products for foreign countries;
• major public health concerns, including the coronavirus:
• enhanced exposure to potential unauthorized use, duplication, misappropriation, theft or other infringement or violation of our intellectual property

rights;  
• government actions throughout the world; and 
• the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws.  

Moreover, there can be no assurance that our international sales will continue at existing levels or grow in accordance with our efforts to increase foreign
market penetration.

In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common to engage in business practices that are prohibited by U.S.
regulations applicable to us such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Although we have policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these
laws, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors and agents, including those based in or from countries where practices which violate
such U.S. laws may be customary, will not take actions in violation of our policies. Any violation of foreign or U.S. laws by our employees, contractors or
agents, even if such violation is prohibited by our policies, could have a material adverse effect on our business. We must also comply with various import
and export regulations. The application of these various regulations depends on the classification of our products which can change over time as such
regulations are modified or interpreted. As a result, even if we are currently in compliance with applicable regulations, there can be no assurance that we will
not have to incur additional costs or take additional compliance actions in the future. Failure to comply with these regulations could result in fines or
termination of import and export privileges, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. Additionally, the regulatory environment in
some countries is very restrictive as their governments try to protect their local economy and value of their local currency against the U.S. dollar.
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�: �H���0�D�N�H���6�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V���L�Q���1�H�Z���3�U�R�G�X�F�W�V���W�K�D�W���0�D�\���1�R�W���%�H���6�X�F�F�H�V�V�I�X�O���R�U���$�F�K�L�H�Y�H���(�[�S�H�F�W�H�G���5�H�W�X�U�Q�V�� We plan to continue to make significant
investments in research, development, and marketing for new and existing products and technologies. We have made and expect to make significant
investments in software and other technology development related to the new and enhanced features of our products. These investments involve a number of
risks as the commercial success of such efforts depend on many factors, including our ability to anticipate and respond to innovation, achieve the desired
technological fit, and be effective with our marketing and distribution efforts.  If our existing or potential customers do not perceive our latest product
offerings as providing significant new functionality or value, or if we are late to market with a new product or technology, we may not achieve our expected
return on our investments or be able recover the costs expended to develop new product offerings, which could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results.  Even if our new products are profitable, our operating margins for new products may not be as high as the margins we have experienced
historically.

�2�X�U���3�U�R�G�X�F�W���5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V���D�U�H���' �H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���R�Q���&�H�U�W�D�L�Q���,�Q�G�X�V�W�U�L�H�V���D�Q�G���&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H�V�H���,�Q�G�X�V�W�U�L�H�V���&�R�X�O�G���+�D�Y�H���D���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H���(�I�I�H�F�W���R�Q���2�X�U
�5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V��  Sales of our products are dependent on customers in certain industries, particularly telecommunications, semiconductor, consumer
electronics, automotive, energy, automated test equipment, and aerospace, defense and government. As we have experienced in the past, and as we may
continue to experience in the future, downturns characterized by diminished product demand in any one or more of these industries may result in decreased
sales and a material adverse effect on our operating results. We cannot predict when and to what degree contractions in these industries may occur; however,
any sharp or prolonged contraction in one or more of these industries could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

�2�X�U���6�X�F�F�H�V�V���' �H�S�H�Q�G�V���R�Q���1�H�Z���3�U�R�G�X�F�W���,�Q�W�U�R�G�X�F�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���0�D�U�N�H�W���$�F�F�H�S�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I���2�X�U���3�U�R�G�X�F�W�V�� The market for our products is characterized by rapid
technological change, evolving industry standards, changes in customer needs and frequent new product introductions, and is therefore highly dependent upon
timely product innovation. Our success is dependent on our ability to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products on a timely basis to
replace declining revenues from older products, and on increasing penetration in domestic and international markets. As has occurred in the past and as may
be expected to occur in the future, we have experienced significant delays between the announcement and the commercial availability of new products. Any
significant delay in releasing new products could have a material adverse effect on the ultimate success of a product and other related products and could
impede continued sales of predecessor products, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to introduce new products in accordance with announced release dates, that our new products will achieve market acceptance or that any such
acceptance will be sustained for any significant period. Failure of our new products to achieve or sustain market acceptance could have a material adverse
effect on our operating results.

�2�X�U���5�H�S�R�U�W�H�G���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���0�D�\���E�H���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W�H�G���E�\���&�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�L�Q�F�L�S�O�H�V���*�H�Q�H�U�D�O�O�\���$�F�F�H�S�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���8���6�� We prepare our
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. These accounting principles are subject to interpretation by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and the Securities and Exchange Commission. Generally accepted accounting principles and accompanying
accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations for many aspects of our business, such as revenue recognition, software
capitalization, and income tax uncertainties, are complex and involve subjective judgments by management. A change in these policies or interpretations
could have a significant effect on our reported financial results and our internal controls over financial reporting, may retroactively affect previously reported
results, could cause unexpected financial reporting fluctuations, and may require us to make costly changes to our operational processes and accounting
systems. For example, in February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which, as amended, supersedes nearly all existing U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles ("GAAP") lease guidance and which became effective for us for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2019. (See Note 1 - Operations
and summary of significant accounting policies and Note 9 - Leases of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the accounting
changes).
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�2�X�U���0�D�Q�X�I�D�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J���&�D�S�D�F�L�W�\�����D�Q�G���D���6�X�E�V�W�D�Q�W�L�D�O���0�D�M�R�U�L�W�\���R�I���R�X�U���: �D�U�H�K�R�X�V�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���' �L�V�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q���&�D�S�D�F�L�W�\���L�V���/ �R�F�D�W�H�G���2�X�W�V�L�G�H���R�I���W�K�H���8���6�� We
manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. In order to enable timely shipment of
products to our customers we maintain the substantial majority of our inventory at our international locations. In addition to being subject to the risks of
maintaining such a concentration of manufacturing capacity and global inventory, these facilities and their operations are also subject to risks associated with
doing business internationally, including, but not limited to:

• the volatility of the Hungarian forint and the Malaysian ringgit relative to the U.S. dollar; 
• changing and potentially unstable political environments; 
• significant and frequent changes in corporate tax laws; 
• difficulty in managing manufacturing operations in foreign countries; 
• challenges in expanding capacity to meet increased demand; 
• difficulty in achieving or maintaining product quality; 
• interruption to transportation flows for delivery of components to us and finished goods to our customers;
• major public health concerns, including the coronavirus; 
• restrictive labor codes; and 
• increasing labor costs. 

No assurance can be given that our efforts to mitigate these risks will be successful. Any failure to effectively deal with the risks above could result in an
interruption in the operations of our facilities in Hungary or Malaysia which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Our centralization of inventory and distribution from a limited number of shipping points is subject to inherent risks, including:

• burdens of complying with additional or more complex VAT and customs regulations; and 
• concentration of inventory increasing the risks associated with fire, natural disasters and logistics disruptions to customer order fulfillment. 

Any failure or delay in distribution from our facilities in Hungary and Malaysia could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

�2�X�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���3�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���L�V���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���5�L�V�N�V���$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�H�G���Z�L�W�K���&�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���W�K�H���9�D�O�X�H���R�I���W�K�H���8���6�����' �R�O�O�D�U���Y�H�U�V�X�V���/ �R�F�D�O���&�X�U�U�H�Q�F�L�H�V. The vast majority of
our sales outside of the U.S. are denominated in local currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar equivalent of these sales is affected by changes in the
foreign currency exchange rates. If the local currencies in which we sell our products strengthen against the U.S. dollar, we have in the past, and in the future
may need to, lower our prices in the local currency to remain competitive in our international markets. This could have a material adverse effect on our gross
and net profit margins. If the local currencies in which we sell our products weaken against the U.S. dollar and if the local sales prices cannot be raised due to
competitive pressures, we will experience a deterioration of our gross and net profit margins. In the past, we have noted that significant volatility in foreign
currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a significant impact on the revaluation of our foreign currency denominated firm
commitments, on our ability to forecast our U.S. dollar equivalent net sales and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging programs. In the past, these
dynamics have also adversely affected our net sales growth in international markets and may pose similar challenges in the future. See “Results of
Operations” in this Form 10-K for further discussion on the effect that changes in the foreign currency exchange rates have had on our operating results. See
“Current business outlook” in this Form 10-K for information regarding recent business conditions.
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�2�U�G�H�U�V���Z�L�W�K���D���9�D�O�X�H���R�I���*�U�H�D�W�H�U���W�K�D�Q���2�Q�H���0�L�O�O�L�R�Q���' �R�O�O�D�U�V���(�[�S�R�V�H���8�V���W�R���6�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���$�G�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���/ �H�J�D�O���5�L�V�N�V���W�K�D�W���&�R�X�O�G���+�D�Y�H���D���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O
�$�G�Y�H�U�V�H���,�P�S�D�F�W���R�Q���R�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�����5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�� We continue to make a concentrated effort to increase our net sales
through the pursuit of orders with a value greater than $1.0 million. These types of orders expose us to significant additional business and legal risks
compared to smaller orders. Our very large customers frequently require contract terms that vary substantially from our standard terms of sale. At times these
orders include terms that impose critical delivery commitments and severe contractual liabilities if we fail to provide the required quantity of products at the
required delivery times, impose product acceptance requirements and product performance evaluation requirements which create uncertainty with respect to
the timing of our ability to recognize revenue from such orders, allow the customers to cancel or delay orders without liability, require us to develop specific
product mitigation plans for product delivery constraints caused by unexpected or catastrophic situations to help assure quick production recovery, and that
require most favored customer pricing, significant discounts, extended payment terms and volume rebates. At times these customers require broad indemnity
obligations and large direct and consequential damage provisions in the event we breach our contracts with them. At times these contracts have supply
constraint requirements which mandate that we allocate large product inventories for a specific contract. These inventory requirements expose us to higher
risks of inventory obsolescence and can adversely impact our ability to provide adequate product supply to other customers.

While we attempt to limit the number of contracts that contain the non-standard terms of sale described above and attempt to contractually limit our
potential liability under such contracts, we have been, and expect to be, required to agree to some or all of such provisions to secure orders from very large
customers and to continue to grow our business. These arrangements expose us to significant additional legal and operational risks which could result in a
material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, these larger orders are more volatile, are subject to greater
discount variability and may contract at a faster pace during an economic downturn. We attempt to manage these risks but there can be no assurance that we
will be successful in our efforts.

�5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���' �H�U�L�Y�H�G���I�U�R�P���6�\�V�W�H�P�V���2�U�G�H�U�V���&�R�X�O�G���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���R�X�U���*�U�R�V�V���0�D�U�J�L�Q���D�Q�G���&�R�X�O�G���/ �H�D�G���W�R���*�U�H�D�W�H�U���9�D�U�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���L�Q���R�X�U���4�X�D�U�W�H�U�O�\���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���� We
consider orders with a value greater than $20,000 as being indicative of our systems business. These orders have been and may continue to be more sensitive
to changes in the global industrial economy, subject to greater discount variability and such orders may be pushed-out or reduced at a faster pace during an
economic downturn compared to orders valued at less than $20,000.  To the extent that the amount of our net sales derived from systems orders increases in
future periods, either in absolute dollars or as a percentage of our overall business, our gross margins could decline, and we could experience greater volatility
in our financial results and business, and see a greater negative financial impact from future downturns in the global industrial economy. System orders may
also have an impact on the historical seasonal pattern of our net sales and our results of operations. System orders make managing inventory levels more
difficult as we have in the past and may have to in the future build large quantities of inventory in anticipation of future demand that may not materialize.

�2�X�U���5�H�D�O�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V���0�D�\���E�H���' �L�V�U�X�S�W�L�Y�H���W�R���2�X�U���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���1�H�J�D�W�L�Y�H�O�\���,�P�S�D�F�W���2�X�U���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V��
Over the past three years, we have been implementing changes within our organization designed to enhance our ability to pursue market opportunities,
accelerate our technology development initiatives, and improve operational efficiencies. Specifically, we have aligned certain aspects of our operations with
our strategic focus on industry-specific applications where we believe our product platform can add the most value to our customers. In the short-term, these
actions may lead to business disruptions, decreased productivity and unanticipated employee turnover which may have an adverse impact on our business and
results of operations.

�&�R�Q�F�H�Q�W�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���&�U�H�G�L�W���5�L�V�N���D�Q�G���8�Q�F�H�U�W�D�L�Q���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H���*�O�R�E�D�O���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���0�D�U�N�H�W�V���0�D�\���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I
�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V��  By virtue of our holdings of cash, investment securities and foreign currency derivatives, we have exposure to many different counterparties, and
routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry, including commercial banks and investment banks. Many of these
transactions expose us to credit risk in the event of a default of our counterparties. We continue to monitor the stability of the financial markets, particularly
those in the emerging markets. We can give no assurance that we will not be negatively impacted by any adverse outcomes in those markets. There can be no
assurance that any losses or impairments to the carrying value of our financial assets as a result of defaults by our counterparties would not materially and
adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.

�: �H���+�D�Y�H���(�V�W�D�E�O�L�V�K�H�G���D���%�X�G�J�H�W���D�Q�G���9�D�U�L�D�W�L�R�Q�V���I�U�R�P���2�X�U���%�X�G�J�H�W���: �L�O�O���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�V�X�O�W�V��    We have established an operating budget for fiscal
2020. Our budget was established based on the estimated revenue from sales of our products which are based on anticipated economic conditions in the
markets in which we do business as well as the timing and volume of our new products and the expected penetration of both new and existing products in the
marketplace. If demand for our products during the remainder of 2020 is less than the demand we anticipated in setting our fiscal year budget, our operating
results could be negatively impacted.
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If we exceed our budgeted level of expenses or if we cannot reduce expenditures in response to a decrease in net sales, our operating results could be
adversely affected. Our spending could exceed our budget due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

• continued foreign currency fluctuations;
• increased manufacturing costs resulting from component supply shortages or component price fluctuations; 
• additional marketing costs for new product introductions or for conferences and tradeshows; 
• the timing, cost or outcome of any future intellectual property litigation or commercial disputes;
• unanticipated costs related to acquisitions we may make; or
• increased component costs resulting from vendors increasing their sales prices.  

�: �H���2�S�H�U�D�W�H���L�Q���,�Q�W�H�Q�V�H�O�\���&�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�Y�H���0�D�U�N�H�W�V���� The markets in which we operate are characterized by intense competition from numerous competitors,
some of which have larger market capitalization and resources than we do, and we may face further competition from new market entrants in the future. Key
competitors are Advantest, Anritsu, Fortive, Keysight, Rohde & Schwarz, Teradyne, and others. These competitors offer hardware and software products that
provide solutions that directly compete with our software defined automated test and automated measurement systems. Because these companies have strong
positions in the instrumentation business, new product introductions by them, changes in their marketing strategy or product offerings or aggressive pricing
strategies by them to gain market share could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

We believe our ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors both within and outside our control, including, but not limited to:
• general market and economic conditions;
• our ability to maintain and grow our business with our very large customers;
• our ability to meet the volume and service requirements of our large customers;
• success in developing and selling new products;
• product pricing, including the impact of currency exchange rates;
• industry consolidation, including acquisitions by us or our competitors;
• capacity utilization and the efficiency of manufacturing operations;  
• timing of our new product introductions; 
• new product introductions by competitors; 
• the ability of competitors to more fully leverage low cost geographies for manufacturing or distribution; 
• effectiveness of sales and marketing resources and strategies; 
• adequate manufacturing capacity and supply of components and materials; 
• strategic relationships with our suppliers and other third parties; 
• product quality and performance; 
• protection of our products by effective use of intellectual property laws; 
• the financial strength of our competitors; 
• the outcome of any future litigation or commercial dispute; 
• barriers to entry imposed by competitors with significant market power in new markets; and 
• government actions throughout the world. 

There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the future.
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�2�X�U���4�X�D�U�W�H�U�O�\���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���)�O�X�F�W�X�D�W�L�R�Q�V���' �X�H���W�R���9�D�U�L�R�X�V���) �D�F�W�R�U�V���W�K�D�W���0�D�\���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���� Our
quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

• changes in the amount of revenue derived from very large orders (including orders from our very large customers) and the pricing, margins, and
other terms of such orders; 

• tariffs and trade restrictions imposed by the U.S. or other countries;
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; 
• changes in global economic conditions; 
• changes in the capacity utilization including at our facility in Malaysia;
• changes in the mix of products sold; 
• the availability and pricing of components from third parties (especially limited sources); 
• the difficulty in maintaining margins, including the higher margins traditionally achieved in international sales; 
• changes in pricing policies by us, our competitors or suppliers; 
• the timing, cost or outcome of any future intellectual property litigation or commercial disputes; 
• delays in product shipments caused by human error or other factors;
• disruptions in transportation channels; or
• major public health concerns such as pandemics or other factors.  

�2�X�U���5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���6�H�D�V�R�Q�D�O���9�D�U�L�D�W�L�R�Q�V��  In previous years, our revenues have been characterized by seasonality, with revenues typically
growing from the first quarter to the second quarter, being relatively constant from the second quarter to the third quarter, growing in the fourth quarter
compared to the third quarter and declining in the first quarter of the following year from the fourth quarter of the preceding year. This historical trend has
been affected and may continue to be affected in the future by broad fluctuations in the global industrial economy as well as the timing of new product
introductions or any acquisitions. In addition, revenue derived from very large orders, including those from our very large customers, have had a significant
impact on our historical seasonal trends as these orders may be more sensitive to changes in the global industrial economy, may be subject to greater volatility
in timing and amount, greater discount variability, lower gross margins, and may contract at a faster pace during economic downturns.

�2�X�U���7�D�[���5�H�W�X�U�Q�V���D�Q�G���2�W�K�H�U���7�D�[���0�D�W�W�H�U�V���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���(�[�D�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q���E�\���W�K�H���8���6�����,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H���D�Q�G���2�W�K�H�U���7�D�[���$�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G
�*�R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W�D�O���%�R�G�L�H�V���D�Q�G���W�K�H���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���7�K�H�V�H���(�[�D�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�V���&�R�X�O�G���+�D�Y�H���D���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H���(�I�I�H�F�W���R�Q���2�X�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�� We account for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement attributes for financial statement
disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. These uncertain tax positions are subject to examination by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service and other tax authorities. There can be no assurance as to the outcome of any future examinations. If the ultimate determination of our taxes
owed is for an amount in excess of amounts previously accrued, our operating results, cash flows, and financial condition could be materially adversely
affected. Our tax years 2013 through 2019 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject.

�$�F�T�X�L�V�L�W�L�R�Q�V�����-�R�L�Q�W���9�H�Q�W�X�U�H�V�����$�O�O�L�D�Q�F�H�V�����R�U���6�L�P�L�O�D�U���6�W�U�D�W�H�J�L�F���5�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�V�����R�U���' �L�V�S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���$�Q�\���R�I���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�H�V�����D�Q�G���W�K�H���5�H�O�D�W�H�G���,�Q�W�H�J�U�D�W�L�R�Q���R�U
�6�H�S�D�U�D�W�L�R�Q���5�L�V�N�V���0�D�\���' �L�V�U�X�S�W���R�U���2�W�K�H�U�Z�L�V�H���+�D�Y�H���D���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H���(�I�I�H�F�W���R�Q���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�V�X�O�W�V�� As part of our business strategy, we
pursue selective acquisitions, as well as joint ventures, partnerships, alliances, or similar strategic transactions and relationships with third parties, to support
our business. We may also undertake dispositions of certain of our businesses or products.  Achieving the anticipated benefits of an acquisition or other
strategic transaction depends upon whether the integration of the acquired business, products or technology is accomplished efficiently and effectively. In
addition, successful transactions generally require, among other things, integration of product offerings, manufacturing operations and coordination of sales
and marketing and research and development efforts. These difficulties can become more challenging due to the need to coordinate geographically separated
organizations, the complexities of the technologies being integrated, and the necessities of integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and
combining different corporate cultures. The time invested in completing any strategic transaction as well as the integration of operations following a strategic
transaction also requires the dedication of management resources, which may distract attention from our day-to-day business and may disrupt key research
and development, marketing or sales efforts. Our inability to successfully integrate any of our acquisitions could harm our business. The existing products
previously sold by entities we have acquired may be of a lesser quality than our products or could contain errors that produce incorrect results on which users
rely or cause failure or interruption of systems or processes that could subject us to liability claims that could have a material adverse effect on our operating
results or financial position. Furthermore, products acquired, developed, or marketed in connection with acquisitions or other strategic transactions may not
gain acceptance in our markets, and we may not achieve the anticipated or desired benefits of such transactions.
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Similarly, any divestitures have inherent risks, including the inability to find potential buyers with favorable terms, the expense of selling the entity,
business, or product line, the possibility that any anticipated sale will be delayed or will not occur, the potential impact on our cash flows and results of
operations which may dilute our earnings per share, the potential delay or failure to realize the perceived strategic or financial merits of the divestment,
difficulties in the separation of operations, services, information technology, products and personnel, potential loss of customers or employees, exposure to
unanticipated liabilities, unexpected costs associated with such separation, diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns and potential
post-closing claims for alleged breaches of related agreements, indemnification or other disputes.

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also result in the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, or write-offs of
goodwill and other intangible assets, any of which could harm our financial condition.

�7�D�[���/ �D�Z���&�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���+�X�Q�J�D�U�\���&�R�X�O�G���+�D�Y�H���D���1�H�J�D�W�L�Y�H���,�P�S�D�F�W���R�Q���R�X�U���(�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���7�D�[���5�D�W�H�����( �D�U�Q�L�Q�J�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V. The profit from our
Hungarian operations benefits from the fact that it is subject to an effective income tax rate that is lower than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate. Our earnings
in Hungary are subject to a statutory tax rate of 9%. In addition, effective January 1, 2010, certain qualified research and development expenses in Hungary
became eligible for an enhanced tax deduction. These tax benefits may not be available in future years due to changes in political conditions in Hungary or
changes in tax laws in Hungary or in the U.S. The reduction or elimination of these benefits in Hungary could result in an increase in our future effective
income tax rate which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. (See Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional discussion regarding the impact of these matters on our income taxes).

 �2�X�U���,�Q�F�R�P�H���7�D�[���5�D�W�H���&�R�X�O�G���E�H���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���(�[�S�L�U�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D���7�D�[���+�R�O�L�G�D�\���L�Q���0�D�O�D�\�V�L�D�� Profits from our manufacturing facility in Penang,
Malaysia are free of tax under a 15-year tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. The tax holiday has been extended for a period of ten years starting from the
year 2028. If we fail to satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax benefit may be terminated early. The expiration of the tax holiday in Malaysia could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results. (See Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion
regarding the impact of this tax holiday on our income taxes).

�2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���L�V���' �H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���R�Q���. �H�\���6�X�S�S�O�L�H�U�V���D�Q�G���' �L�V�W�U�L�E�X�W�R�U�V���D�Q�G���' �L�V�U�X�S�W�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H�V�H���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�H�V���&�R�X�O�G���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V
�R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�� Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-quality components and subassemblies supplied by outside sources. Several of these
items are only available through limited sources. Limited source items purchased include custom ASICs, chassis and other components. We have in the past
experienced delays and quality problems in connection with limited source items, and there can be no assurance that these problems will not recur in the
future. Accordingly, our failure to receive items from limited source item suppliers could result in a material adverse effect on our net sales and operating
results. In the event that any of our limited source suppliers experience significant financial or operational difficulties due to adverse global economic
conditions or otherwise, our business and operating results would likely be adversely impacted until we are able to secure another source for the required
materials.

In some countries, we use distributors to support our sales channels. In the event that any of our distributors experience significant financial or operational
difficulties due to adverse global economic conditions or if we experience disruptions in the use of these distributors, our business and operating results would
likely be adversely impacted until we are able to secure another distributor or establish direct sales capabilities in the affected market.

�: �H���0�D�\���( �[�S�H�U�L�H�Q�F�H���&�R�P�S�R�Q�H�Q�W���6�K�R�U�W�D�J�H�V���W�K�D�W���0�D�\���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V����As has occurred in the past and as may
be expected to occur in the future, supply shortages of components used in our products, including limited source components, can result in significant
additional costs and inefficiencies in manufacturing. If we are unsuccessful in resolving any such component shortages in a timely manner, we will experience
a significant impact on the timing of revenue, a possible loss of revenue, or an increase in manufacturing costs, any of which would have a material adverse
impact on our operating results.
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�: �H���5�H�O�\���R�Q���0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���6�\�V�W�H�P�V���D�Q�G���,�Q�W�H�U�U�X�S�W�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���R�X�U���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���7�H�F�K�Q�R�O�R�J�\���6�\�V�W�H�P�V���R�U���&�\�E�H�U���$�W�W�D�F�N�V���R�Q���R�X�U���6�\�V�W�H�P�V���&�R�X�O�G
�$�G�Y�H�U�V�H�O�\���$�I�I�H�F�W���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�� We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of complex information technology systems and networks, including
cloud-based and other outsourced services, to operate our business. We rely on a primary global center for our management information systems and on
multiple systems in branches not covered by our global center. As with any information system, unforeseen issues may arise that could affect our ability to
receive adequate, accurate and timely financial information, which in turn could inhibit effective and timely decisions. Furthermore, it is possible that our
global center for information systems or our branch operations could experience a complete or partial shutdown. A significant system or network disruption
could be the result of new system implementations, facility issues, energy blackouts, and computer viruses, cyber-attacks, or security breaches, some of which
may remain undetected for an extended period.  Threats to our information technology security can take a variety of forms and individuals or groups of
hackers or sophisticated organizations including state-sponsored organizations, may take steps that pose threats to our customers and our infrastructure. If we
were to experience a shutdown, disruption or attack, it would adversely impact our product shipments and net sales, as order processing and product
distribution are heavily dependent on our management information systems. Such an interruption could also result in a loss of our intellectual property or the
release of sensitive competitive information or partner, customer or employee confidential information or personal data. Any loss of such information could
harm our competitive position, result in a loss of customer confidence, and cause us to incur liability and significant costs to remedy the damages caused by
the disruptions or security breaches. In addition, changing laws and regulations governing our responsibility to safeguard private data could result in a
significant increase in operating or capital expenditures needed to comply with these new laws or regulations. Accordingly, our operating results in such
periods would be adversely impacted. From time to time, we have experienced attempts to breach our security and attempts to introduce malicious software
into our information technology systems; however, such attacks have not previously resulted in any material damage to us.

We are continually working to maintain reliable systems to control costs and improve our ability to deliver our products in our markets worldwide. Our
efforts include, but are not limited to the following: firewalls, antivirus protection, patches, log monitors, routine backups with offsite retention of storage
media, system audits, data partitioning and routine password modifications. Our internal information technology systems environment continues to evolve,
and our business policies and internal security controls may not keep pace as new threats emerge.  No assurance can be given that our efforts to continue to
enhance our systems will be successful. Although we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that such insurance or the contractual limitations used by
us to limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any claims which may occur.

�: �H���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���5�L�V�N�V���$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�H�G���Z�L�W�K���2�X�U���: �H�E�V�L�W�H��  We devote significant resources to maintaining our website, ni.com, as a key marketing, sales and
support tool and expect to continue to do so in the future. Failure to properly maintain our website may interrupt our normal operations, including our ability
to provide quotes, process orders, ship products, provide services and support to our customers, bill and track our customers, fulfill contractual obligations
and otherwise run our business, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. We host our website internally. Any failure to
successfully maintain our website or any significant downtime or outages affecting our website could have a material adverse impact on our operating results.

�2�X�U���3�U�R�G�X�F�W�V���D�U�H���&�R�P�S�O�H�[���D�Q�G���0�D�\���&�R�Q�W�D�L�Q���%�X�J�V�����9�X�O�Q�H�U�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V�����( �U�U�R�U�V�����R�U���' �H�V�L�J�Q���)�O�D�Z�V��   As has occurred in the past and as may be expected to
occur in the future, our hardware products, software products and third-party components or operating systems on which our products are based may contain
bugs, vulnerabilities, errors or design flaws. Our products operate in conjunction with third-party products and components across a broad ecosystem. As has
occurred in the past and as may be expected to occur in the future, our products, or products or components in conjunction with which they operate, may
contain design flaws. These bugs, vulnerabilities, errors or design flaws, or fixes to these issues, may have a negative impact on the performance of our
products, which could result in additional costs, liability claims, reduced revenue, or harm to our reputation or competitive position, any of which could have
a material adverse impact on our operating results. Although we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that such insurance or the contractual
limitations used by us to limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any claims which may occur.
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�: �H���$�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���W�K�H���5�L�V�N���R�I���3�U�R�G�X�F�W���/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���&�O�D�L�P�V��  Our products are designed to provide information upon which users may rely. Our products are
also used in “real time” applications requiring extremely rapid and continuous processing and constant feedback. Such applications give rise to the risk that a
failure or interruption of the system or application could result in economic damage, bodily harm or property damage. We attempt to assure the quality and
accuracy of the processes contained in our products, and to limit our product liability exposure through contractual limitations on liability, limited warranties,
express disclaimers and warnings as well as disclaimers contained in our “shrink wrap” and electronically displayed license agreements with end-users. If our
products contain errors that produce incorrect results on which users rely or cause failure or interruption of systems or processes, customer acceptance of our
products could be adversely affected. Further, we or our customers could be subject to product recall obligations, and we could be subject to liability claims
that could have a material adverse effect on our operating results or financial position. Although we maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that such
insurance or the contractual limitations used by us to limit our liability will be sufficient to cover or limit any claims which may occur.

�&�R�P�S�O�L�D�Q�F�H���Z�L�W�K���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V�����������D�Q�G�����������R�I���W�K�H���6�D�U�E�D�Q�H�V���2�[�O�H�\���$�F�W���R�I�������������L�V���&�R�V�W�O�\���D�Q�G���&�K�D�O�O�H�Q�J�L�Q�J. 
As required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, this Form 10-K contains our management’s certification of adequate disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2019. This annual report on Form 10-K also contains a report by our management on our internal control over financial
reporting including an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 and an attestation and report
by our external auditors with respect to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
While these assessments and reports did not reveal any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, compliance with Sections 302 and
404 is required for each future fiscal year end. We expect that the ongoing compliance with Sections 302 and 404 will continue to be both very costly and
very challenging and there can be no assurance that material weaknesses will not be identified in future periods. Any adverse results from such ongoing
compliance efforts could result in a loss of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an adverse effect on our stock price.

�2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���' �H�S�H�Q�G�V���R�Q���2�X�U���3�U�R�S�U�L�H�W�D�U�\���5�L�J�K�W�V���D�Q�G���: �H���+�D�Y�H���%�H�H�Q���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���,�Q�W�H�O�O�H�F�W�X�D�O���3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���/ �L�W�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�� Our success depends on our ability to
obtain and maintain patents and other proprietary rights relative to the technologies used in our principal products. Despite our efforts to protect our
proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may have in the past infringed or violated certain of our intellectual property rights. We from time to time engage in
litigation to protect our intellectual property rights. In monitoring and policing our intellectual property rights, we have been and may be required to spend
significant resources. However, the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights, may not be adequate to prevent unauthorized use, copying,
misappropriation, or theft of our intellectual property or other infringement on or violation of our intellectual property rights. Intellectual property laws differ
in various jurisdictions in which we operate and are subject to change at any time, which could further restrict our ability to protect our intellectual property
and proprietary rights. In particular, a portion of our revenues is derived from jurisdictions where adequately protecting intellectual property rights may prove
more challenging or impossible. We may also not be able to detect unauthorized uses or take timely and effective steps to remedy unauthorized conduct. To
prevent or respond to unauthorized uses of our intellectual property, we may be required to engage in costly and time-consuming litigation or other
proceedings and we may not ultimately prevail. We from time to time may be notified that we are infringing certain patent or intellectual property rights of
others. There can be no assurance that any future intellectual property dispute or litigation will not result in significant expense, liability, injunction against
the sale of some of our products, and a diversion of management’s attention, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

�2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���' �H�S�H�Q�G�V���R�Q���W�K�H���&�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H�G���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H���R�I���2�X�U���. �H�\���0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���D�Q�G���7�H�F�K�Q�L�F�D�O���3�H�U�V�R�Q�Q�H�O��  Our success depends upon the continued
contributions of our key management, sales, marketing, research and development and operational personnel, including Eric Starkloff, who became our
President and Chief Executive Officer effective February 1, 2020, and other members of our senior management and key technical personnel. The loss of the
services of one or more of our key employees in the future could have a material adverse effect on our operating results. We also believe our future success
will depend upon our ability to attract and retain additional highly skilled management, technical, marketing, research and development, and operational
personnel with experience in managing large and rapidly changing companies, as well as training, motivating and supervising employees. The market for
hiring and retaining certain technical personnel, including software engineers, has become more competitive and intense in recent years. Failure to attract and
retain a sufficient number of qualified technical personnel, including software engineers, or retain our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on
our operating results.

18



Table of Contents

�2�X�U���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�U�H���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���D���9�D�U�L�H�W�\���R�I���( �Q�Y�L�U�R�Q�P�H�Q�W�D�O���5�H�J�X�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���&�R�V�W�V���W�K�D�W���0�D�\���+�D�Y�H���D���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���$�G�Y�H�U�V�H���(�I�I�H�F�W���R�Q���2�X�U���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G
�5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V��  We must comply with many different governmental regulations related to the use, storage, discharge and disposal of toxic, volatile or
otherwise hazardous chemicals used in our operations in the U.S., Hungary, and Malaysia. Although we believe that our activities conform to presently
applicable environmental regulations, our failure to comply with present or future regulations could result in the imposition of fines, suspension of production
or a cessation of operations. Any such environmental regulations could require us to acquire costly equipment or to incur other significant expenses to comply
with such regulations. Any failure by us to control the use of or adequately restrict the discharge of hazardous substances could subject us to future liabilities.

�3�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���2�X�U���&�K�D�U�W�H�U���' �R�F�X�P�H�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���' �H�O�D�Z�D�U�H���/ �D�Z���0�D�\���' �H�O�D�\���R�U���3�U�H�Y�H�Q�W���D�Q���$�F�T�X�L�V�L�W�L�R�Q���R�I���8�V�� Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and
Delaware law contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us without the consent of our Board of Directors. These
provisions include a classified Board of Directors, prohibition of stockholder action by written consent, prohibition of stockholders to call special meetings
and the requirement that the holders of at least 80% of our shares approve any business combination not otherwise approved by two-thirds of our Board of
Directors. Delaware law also imposes some restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 15% or more of our
outstanding common stock. In addition, our Board of Directors has the right to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to
dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer.
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�,�7�(�0 �����%�����������8�1�5�(�6�2�/�9�(�' ���6�7�$�)�)���&�2�0 �0 �(�1�7�6

None.

�,�7�(�0 ���������������3�5�2�3�(�5�7�,�( �6

We own approximately 141 acres of land in the Austin, Texas area. Our principal corporate and research and development activities are conducted in
three buildings we own in Austin, Texas; 232,000 square foot and 140,000 square foot office facilities, and a 380,000 square foot research and development
facility.

Our principal manufacturing activities are conducted in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. We own a 374,000 square foot manufacturing,
distribution and general and administrative facility in Debrecen, Hungary and a 314,000 square foot manufacturing, research and development, and general
and administrative facility in Penang, Malaysia. In total, we hold a 99-year lease on approximately 23 acres of land comprised of two tracts in an industrial
park in Penang, Malaysia.

Our German subsidiary, National Instruments Engineering GmbH & Co. KG, owns a 25,500 square foot office building in Aachen, Germany in
which a majority of its activities are conducted. National Instruments Engineering owns another 19,375 square foot office building in Aachen, Germany,
which is partially leased to third-parties. National Instruments Corporation (UK) Limited, United Kingdom, owns a 29,270 square foot office building in
Newbury, UK, in which a majority of its activities are conducted.

As of December 31, 2019, we also leased a number of sales and support offices in the U.S. and various countries throughout the world. We believe
our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements.

�,�7�(�0 ���������������/ �( �* �$�/ ���3�5�2�&�(�(�' �,�1�* �6

We are not currently a party to any material litigation. However, in the ordinary course of our business, we have in the past, are currently and will
likely become involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory, tax or government inquiries and investigations, and could incur uninsured
liability in any one or more of them. We also periodically receive notifications from various third parties related to alleged infringement of patents or
intellectual property rights, commercial disputes or other matters. No assurances can be given with respect to the extent or outcome of any investigation,
litigation or dispute.

�,�7�(�0 ���������������0 �,�1�(���6�$�)�(�7�<���' �,�6�&�/ �2�6�8�5�(�6

Not applicable.
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�3�$�5�7���,�,

�,�7�(�0 ���������������0 �$�5�. �( �7���)�2�5���7�+�(���5�(�* �,�6�7�5�$�1�7�
�6���&�2�0 �0 �2�1���( �4�8�,�7�<�����5�(�/ �$�7�(�' ���6�7�2�&�. �+�2�/ �' �( �5���0 �$�7�7�(�5�6���$�1�' ���,�6�6�8�(�5���3�8�5�&�+�$�6�(�6
�2�)���( �4�8�,�7�<���6�(�&�8�5�,�7�,�( �6

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol NATI effective March 13, 1995.

At the close of business on February 7, 2020, there were approximately 293 holders of record of our common stock and approximately 44,584
beneficial holders of our common stock.

We believe factors such as quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations, announcements by us or our competitors, changes in earnings estimates
by analysts or changes in our financial guidance, technological innovations, new product introductions, governmental regulations, actions, or litigation, may
cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate, perhaps substantially. In addition, stock prices for many technology companies fluctuate widely for
reasons that may be unrelated to their operating results. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.

Our cash dividend payments for the two most recent fiscal years, on a per share basis, are indicated in the following table. The dividends were paid
on the dates set forth below:

�' �L�Y�L�G�H�Q�G���$�P�R�X�Q�W

��������  
March 4, 2019 $ 0.25
June 3, 2019 $ 0.25
September 3, 2019 $ 0.25
December 2, 2019 $ 0.25

 
��������  
March 5, 2018 $ 0.23
June 4, 2018 $ 0.23
September 4, 2018 $ 0.23
December 3, 2018 $ 0.23

Our policy as to whether any future dividends will be paid, and if so, the amount, will be based on, among other considerations, our balance of
available cash, our ability to obtain external financing through our line of credit, or by selling equity or debt securities to the public or to selected investors,
our views on changes in tax rates applied to dividend income, potential future capital requirements related to research and development, expansion into new
market areas, strategic investments and business acquisitions, share dilution management, legal risks, and challenges to our business model. Future dividends
are subject to approval and declaration by our Board of Directors.

On January 29, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.26 per common share, payable on March 9, 2020, to
stockholders of record on February 18, 2020.

�,�V�V�X�H�U���3�X�U�F�K�D�V�H���R�I���( �T�X�L�W�\���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V

Period  
Total number of
shares purchased  

Average price paid
per share  

Total number of
shares purchased as

part of publicly
announced plans or

programs  

Maximum number of
shares that may yet be

purchased under the plans
or programs (1)

October 1, 2019 to October 31, 2019  —  —  —  3,794,324
November 1, 2019 to November 30, 2019  794,324  42.98  794,324  3,000,000
December 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019  —  —  —  3,000,000
Total  794,324  42.98  794,324  3,000,000

(1) On April 21, 2010, our Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time, depending on market conditions and other factors. On January 23,
2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be repurchased to 4,000,000 shares. On October 23, 2019, our Board of Directors
amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be repurchased by 3,000,000 shares. At December 31, 2019, there were 3,000,000 shares remaining available for
repurchase under our stock repurchase program. This repurchase program does not have an expiration date.
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�3�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���* �U�D�S�K

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to holders of NI’s common stock from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2019 to the
cumulative return over such period of the (i) Nasdaq Composite Index, (ii) Russell 2000 Index and (iii) Russell 2500 Index.

The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2014 in NI’s common stock and in each of the three indices and the reinvestment of all
dividends, if any. Stockholders are cautioned against drawing any conclusions from the data contained therein, as past results are not necessarily indicative of
future performance.

.

  ��������������������  ��������������������  ��������������������  ��������������������  ��������������������  ��������������������

National Instruments  100  94.7  104.7  144.6  160.8  153.6
Nasdaq  100  107.1  116.7  151.4  147.2  201.2
Russell 2500  100  97.1  114.2  133.3  120.0  153.2
Russell 2000  100  95.6  115.9  132.9  118.2  148.4

The information contained in the Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that NI specifically
incorporates it by reference into any such filing. The graph is presented in accordance with SEC requirements.

�8�Q�U�H�J�L�V�W�H�U�H�G���6�D�O�H�V���R�I���( �T�X�L�W�\���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V

None.
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�,�7�(�0 ���������������6�(�/ �( �&�7�(�' ���&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�' ���)�,�1�$�1�&�,�$�/ ���' �$�7�$

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, including the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Form 10-K. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of our future
operations. The information should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
��

��

 �)�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ���L�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V�����H�[�F�H�S�W���S�H�U���V�K�D�U�H���G�D�W�D��

 ����������������  ����������������  ��������  ��������  ��������

�6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���R�I���,�Q�F�R�P�H���' �D�W�D��           
Net sales:          

Americas  $ 538,679  $ 538,388  $ 504,626  $ 482,039  $ 496,746
EMEIA  403,424  432,977  408,625  389,843  409,119
APAC  411,112  387,767  376,135  356,297  319,591
Consolidated net sales  1,353,215  1,359,132  1,289,386  1,228,179  1,225,456

Cost of sales:  336,891  333,727  328,324  313,121  316,956
Gross profit  1,016,324  1,025,405  961,062  915,058  908,500

Operating expenses:           
Sales and marketing  473,392  482,576  477,921  461,236  452,262
Research and development  272,452  261,072  231,761  235,706  225,131
General and administrative  122,768  108,878  105,602  98,390  93,935
Gain on sale of assets  (26,842)  —  —  —  —

Total operating expenses  841,770  852,526  815,284  795,332  771,328
Operating income  174,554  172,879  145,778  119,726  137,172

Other income (expense):           
Interest income  8,129  5,896  2,276  1,122  1,403
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain  (1,846)  (3,423)  892  (4,632)  (7,075)
Other (expense) income, net  (293)  1,101  (1,566)  (1,581)  (221)

Income before income taxes  180,544  176,453  147,380  114,635  131,279
Provision for income taxes  18,393  21,396  94,969  31,901  36,017

Net income  $ 162,151  $ 155,057  $ 52,411  $ 82,734  $ 95,262

          
Basic earnings per share  $ 1.23  $ 1.17  $ 0.40  $ 0.64  $ 0.74

          
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic  131,722  131,987  130,300  128,453  127,997

          
Diluted earnings per share  $ 1.22  $ 1.16  $ 0.40  $ 0.64  $ 0.74

          
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted  132,734  133,274  131,387  129,008  128,668

          
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ 1.00  $ 0.92  $ 0.84  $ 0.80  $ 0.76
(1) On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Prior periods have not been adjusted. See Note 1 - Operations and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ���L�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

 ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W���' �D�W�D��           
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 194,616  $ 259,386  $ 290,164  $ 285,283  $ 251,129
Short-term investments  237,983  271,396  121,888  73,117  81,789
Working capital  641,235  739,236  624,835  574,572  559,525
Total assets  1,651,889  1,671,235  1,566,434  1,496,564  1,453,856
Long-term debt, net of current portion  —  —  —  25,000  37,000
Total stockholders' equity  1,176,350  1,238,358  1,128,021  1,114,219  1,081,721
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�,�7�(�0 ���������������0 �$�1�$�* �(�0 �(�1�7�
�6���' �,�6�&�8�6�6�,�2�1���$�1�' ���$�1�$�/�<�6�,�6���2�)���)�,�1�$�1�&�,�$�/ ���&�2�1�' �,�7�,�2�1���$�1�' ���5�(�6�8�/�7�6���2�)���2�3�(�5�$�7�,�2�1�6����

�7�K�H���I�R�O�O�R�Z�L�Q�J�����0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W�
�V���' �L�V�F�X�V�V�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���$�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���R�I���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�V���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V
�Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���R�I���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������$���R�I���W�K�H���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V���$�F�W���D�Q�G���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������(���R�I���W�K�H���(�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���$�F�W�����$�Q�\���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�H�G���K�H�U�H�L�Q���U�H�J�D�U�G�L�Q�J���R�X�U���I�X�W�X�U�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O
�S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H�������R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����R�U���R�W�K�H�U���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V�����L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J�����Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���O�L�P�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q�����V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���W�R���W�K�H���H�I�I�H�F�W���W�K�D�W���Z�H�����E�H�O�L�H�Y�H���������H�[�S�H�F�W���������S�O�D�Q�������
�
�L�Q�W�H�Q�G���W�R���������P�D�\����
���Z�L�O�O���������S�U�R�M�H�F�W���������D�Q�W�L�F�L�S�D�W�H���������F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���������V�W�U�L�Y�H���W�R���������V�H�H�N���W�R���������D�U�H���H�Q�F�R�X�U�D�J�H�G���E�\���������U�H�P�D�L�Q���F�D�X�W�L�R�X�V���������U�H�P�D�L�Q���R�S�W�L�P�L�V�W�L�F�������R�U�����H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�������V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���R�I
���J�R�D�O�V�����R�U�����Y�L�V�L�R�Q�V�������R�U���R�W�K�H�U���Y�D�U�L�D�W�L�R�Q�V���W�K�H�U�H�R�I���R�U���F�R�P�S�D�U�D�E�O�H���W�H�U�P�L�Q�R�O�R�J�\���R�U���W�K�H���Q�H�J�D�W�L�Y�H���W�K�H�U�H�R�I�����V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����$�F�W�X�D�O
�U�H�V�X�O�W�V���F�R�X�O�G���G�L�I�I�H�U���P�D�W�H�U�L�D�O�O�\���I�U�R�P���W�K�R�V�H���S�U�R�M�H�F�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�V���D���U�H�V�X�O�W���R�I���D���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���I�D�F�W�R�U�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���W�K�R�V�H���V�H�W���I�R�U�W�K
�X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���K�H�D�G�L�Q�J�����5�L�V�N���)�D�F�W�R�U�V�������D�Q�G���H�O�V�H�Z�K�H�U�H���L�Q���W�K�L�V���)�R�U�P���������. �����$�O�W�K�R�X�J�K���Z�H���E�H�O�L�H�Y�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���H�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V���U�H�I�O�H�F�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V
�D�U�H���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H�����Z�H���F�D�Q�Q�R�W���J�X�D�U�D�Q�W�H�H���I�X�W�X�U�H���U�H�V�X�O�W�V�����O�H�Y�H�O�V���R�I���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\�����S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���R�U���D�F�K�L�H�Y�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����<�R�X���V�K�R�X�O�G���Q�R�W���S�O�D�F�H���X�Q�G�X�H���U�H�O�L�D�Q�F�H���R�Q���W�K�H�V�H���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G��
�O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����: �H���G�L�V�F�O�D�L�P���D�Q�\���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���X�S�G�D�W�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���F�R�Q�W�D�L�Q�H�G���L�Q���D�Q�\���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W��

�2�Y�H�U�Y�L�H�Z����

For more than 40 years, we have enabled engineers and scientists around the world to accelerate productivity, innovation and discovery. Our
software-centric platform provides an advanced approach through integration of software and modular hardware to create automated test and automated
measurement systems. We believe our long-term track record of innovation and our differentiated platform helps support the success of our customers,
employees, suppliers and shareholders. We have been profitable in every year since 1990. We sell to a large number of customers in a wide variety of
industries. No single customer represented more than 3% of our sales in each of the last three years.

The key strategies that we focus on in running our business are the following:

�( �[�S�D�Q�G���R�X�U���D�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H���P�D�U�N�H�W���R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�\����

We strive to increase our available market by identifying new opportunities in existing customers, attracting and serving new customers, and
expanding our business to market adjacencies. Our large network of existing customers provides a broad base from which to expand.

�0 �D�L�Q�W�D�L�Q�L�Q�J���D���K�L�J�K���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���F�X�V�W�R�P�H�U���V�D�W�L�V�I�D�F�W�L�R�Q����

To maintain a high level of customer satisfaction we strive to offer innovative, modular and integrated products through a global sales and support
network. We strive to maintain a high degree of backwards compatibility across different platforms to preserve the customer’s investment in our products. In
this time of intense global competition, we believe it is crucial that we continue to offer products with high quality and reliability, and that our products
provide cost-effective solutions for our customers.  

�/ �H�Y�H�U�D�J�L�Q�J���H�[�W�H�U�Q�D�O���D�Q�G���L�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���W�H�F�K�Q�R�O�R�J�\����

Our product strategy is to provide superior products by leveraging generally available technology, supporting open architectures on multiple
platforms and by leveraging our core technologies across multiple products.

We sell into test and measurement and industrial/embedded applications in a broad range of industries and are subject to the economic and industry
forces that drive those markets. It has been our experience that the performance of these industries and our performance are impacted by general trends in
industrial production for the global economy and by the specific performance of certain vertical markets that are intensive consumers of measurement
technologies. Examples of these markets are semiconductor, transportation, and aerospace, defense and government.

�/ �H�Y�H�U�D�J�L�Q�J���D���Z�R�U�O�G�Z�L�G�H���V�D�O�H�V�����G�L�V�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���P�D�Q�X�I�D�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J���Q�H�W�Z�R�U�N����

We distribute and sell our software and hardware products primarily through a direct sales organization. We also use independent distributors,
OEMs, VARs, system integrators and consultants to market and sell our products. We have sales offices in the U.S. and sales offices and distributors in key
international markets. Sales outside of the Americas accounted for approximately 60% of our revenues in each of 2019 and 2018 and 61% of our revenues
during 2017. The vast majority of our foreign sales are denominated in the customers’ local currency, which exposes us to the effects of changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. We expect that a significant portion of our total revenues will continue to be derived from international sales. (See Note 2 – Revenue
and Note 14 - Segment information of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for details concerning the geographic breakdown of our net sales and long-
lived assets, respectively).
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We manufacture substantially all of our product volume at our facilities in Debrecen, Hungary and Penang, Malaysia. Our product manufacturing
operations can be divided into four areas: electronic circuit card and module assembly; chassis and cable assembly; technical manuals and product support
documentation; and software duplication. Most of our electronic circuit card assemblies, modules and chassis are manufactured in house, although contractors
are used from time to time. The majority of our electronic cable assemblies are produced by contractors; however, we do manufacture some on an exception
basis. Our software duplication, technical manuals and product support documentation are primarily produced by contractors. 

�' �H�O�L�Y�H�U�L�Q�J���K�L�J�K���T�X�D�O�L�W�\�����U�H�O�L�D�E�O�H���S�U�R�G�X�F�W�V

We believe that our long-term growth and success depend on delivering high quality software and hardware products on a timely basis. Accordingly,
we focus significant efforts on research and development. We focus our research and development efforts on enhancing existing products and developing new
products that incorporate appropriate features and functionality to be competitive with respect to technology, price and performance. Our success also
depends on our ability to obtain and maintain patents and other proprietary rights related to technologies used in our products. We have engaged in litigation
and where necessary, will likely engage in future litigation to protect our intellectual property rights. In monitoring and policing our intellectual property
rights, we have been and may be required to spend significant resources.

Our operating results fluctuate from period to period due to changes in global economic conditions and a number of other factors. As a result, we
believe our historical results of operations should not be relied upon as indications of future performance. There can be no assurance that our net sales will
grow or that we will remain profitable in future periods.

�&�X�U�U�H�Q�W���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���R�X�W�O�R�R�N��

Many of the industries we serve have historically been cyclical and have experienced periodic downturns. In assessing our business, we consider the
trends in the Global Purchasing Managers’ Index (“PMI”), global industrial production as well as industry reports on the specific vertical industries that we
target. During most of 2019, the PMI continued to steadily decline, indicating ongoing weakness in the industrial economy. The PMI was below 50.0 for six
months of the year (May to October), the longest period of contraction in the past seven years. Despite softening demand in the industrial economy for most
of the year, we were able to finish the year strong with record quarterly revenue in the fourth quarter. During the fourth quarter of 2019, the PMI reading
showed initial signs of recovery, as the average of the PMI was 50.1 and the average of the new order element of the PMI was 50.3. For January 2020, the
most recent PMI reading was 50.4, a nine-month high. For January 2020, the new order element of the PMI was 50.9. We are unable to predict whether the
industrial economy, as measured by the PMI, will remain above the neutral reading of 50, strengthen or contract during 2020.

We have taken steps to improve efficiencies and rebalance our resources on higher return activities. The timing and scope of any future headcount
reduction will vary.

We are encouraged by signs of stabilization in the industrial economy along with the improvements we have made to our operating profitability over
the past three years. We remain optimistic about our long-term position in the industry through the sustained differentiation we deliver to our customers
through our platform-based approach. However, we remain cautious about a variety of factors, including public health concerns such as those in China, that
could have an adverse impact on our results of operations heading into 2020.
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�5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V  

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of net sales represented by geographic region and by certain items reflected
in our Consolidated Statements of Income:  

 �<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Net sales:       
Americas  39.8 %  39.6 %  39.1 %
EMEIA  29.8  31.9  31.7
APAC  30.4  28.5  29.2
Consolidated net sales  100.0  100.0  100.0

Cost of sales  24.9  24.6  25.5
Gross profit  75.1 75.4 74.5

Operating expenses:       
Sales and marketing  35.0  35.5  37.1
Research and development  20.1  19.2  18.0
General and administrative  9.1  8.0  8.2
Gain on sale of assets  (2.0)  —  —

Total operating expenses  62.2  62.7  63.3
Operating income  12.9  12.7  11.3

Other income (expense):       
Interest income  0.6  0.4  0.2
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)  (0.1)  (0.3)  0.1
Other expense, net  —  0.1  (0.1)

Income before income taxes  13.3  13.0  11.4
Provision for income taxes  1.4  1.6  7.4
Net income  12.0 % 11.4 % 4.1 %

  �)�L�J�X�U�H�V���P�D�\���Q�R�W���V�X�P���G�X�H���W�R���U�R�X�Q�G�L�Q�J��

�5�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U�����������������������������������D�Q�G����������

�1�H�W���6�D�O�H�V��  The following table sets forth our net sales for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 along with the percent changes
between the corresponding periods.

 �<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

          
($ in millions)  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������

          
Product sales  $ 1,215.0  (0.4)%  $ 1,220.0  4.0%  $ 1,173.5
Software maintenance sales  138.2  (0.6)%  139.1  20.0%  115.9

Total net sales  $ 1,353.2  (0.4)%  $ 1,359.1  5.4%  $ 1,289.4

In 2019, product and software maintenance sales decreased slightly compared to 2018. The decrease in product and software maintenance sales
during the period was primarily attributable to unfavorable changes in exchange rates and general weakness in the industrial economy throughout most of
2019, particularly in the EMEIA region, which was partially offset by strength in the APAC region.

In 2018, product and software maintenance sales increased compared to 2017. The increases in product sales during 2018 is attributable to increased
sales volume, particularly for orders greater than $20,000, across all geographic regions. The increase in software maintenance sales during 2018 can
primarily be attributed to increased adoption of our software platform and increased recurring revenues related to software maintenance renewals.
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Orders with a value greater than $20,000 increased by 4% year over year during 2019 compared to a year over year increase of 13% in 2018. Orders
with a value greater than $20,000 were 60%, 58%, and 56% of our total orders for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. A
significant factor in the continued expansion of these orders in the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to 2018 and 2017, was strong demand for our
system-level offerings, particularly within the semiconductor and ADG end markets. Orders with a value greater than $20,000, particularly those orders with
a value greater than $100,000, are more volatile, are subject to greater discount variability and may contract at a faster pace during an economic downturn.

We do not typically maintain a large amount of order backlog as orders typically translate to sales quickly. As such, any weakness in orders typically
has a pronounced impact on our net sales in the short term.

The following table sets forth our net sales by geographic region for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 along with the changes
between the corresponding periods and the region’s percentage of total net sales.
��

 �<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

          
($ in millions)  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������

          
Americas  $ 538.7  0.1%  $ 538.4  6.7%  $ 504.6

Percentage of total net sales  40%    40%    39%

          
EMEIA  $ 403.4  (6.8)%  $ 433.0  6.0%  $ 408.6

Percentage of total net sales  30%    32%    32%

          
APAC  $ 411.1  6.0%  $ 387.8  3.1%  $ 376.1

Percentage of total net sales  30%    28%    29%

We expect sales outside of the Americas to continue to represent a significant portion of our revenue. We intend to continue to expand our
international operations by increasing our presence in existing markets, adding a presence in some new geographical markets and continuing the use of
distributors to sell our products in some countries.  

Almost all of the sales made by our direct sales offices in the Americas (excluding the U.S.), EMEIA, and APAC are denominated in local
currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar equivalent of these sales is affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In order to provide a
framework for assessing how our underlying business performed excluding the effects of foreign currency fluctuations between periods, we compare the
percentage change in our results from period to period using constant currency calculations. To calculate the change in constant currency, current and
comparative prior period results for entities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Dollars are converted into U.S. Dollars at constant exchange rates (i.e. the
average rates in effect during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively). The following tables present this information, along with the
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on sales denominated in local currencies, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

��

 
�<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U

����������������  
�&�K�D�Q�J�H

�L�Q���&�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W���' �R�O�O�D�U�V  
�,�P�S�D�F�W���R�I���F�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���I�R�U�H�L�J�Q

�F�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\���H�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���U�D�W�H�V���R�Q���Q�H�W���V�D�O�H�V 
�<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U

����������������

($ in millions)  
�* �$�$�3��

�1�H�W���6�D�O�H�V  �' �R�O�O�D�U�V  �3�H�U�F�H�Q�W�D�J�H  �' �R�O�O�D�U�V  �3�H�U�F�H�Q�W�D�J�H  
�* �$�$�3��

�1�H�W���6�D�O�H�V

            
Americas  $ 538.4  $ 1.0  0.2%  $ (0.7)  (0.1)%  $ 538.7
EMEIA  433.0  (19.2)  (4.4)%  (10.4)  (2.4)%  403.4
APAC  387.8  31.1  8.0%  (7.7)  (2.0)%  411.1
Total net sales  $ 1,359.1  $ 12.9  1.0%  $ (18.9)  (1.4)%  $ 1,353.2

  �)�L�J�X�U�H�V���P�D�\���Q�R�W���V�X�P���G�X�H���W�R���U�R�X�Q�G�L�Q�J��
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�<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U

����������������  
�&�K�D�Q�J�H

�L�Q���&�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W���' �R�O�O�D�U�V  
�,�P�S�D�F�W���R�I���F�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���I�R�U�H�L�J�Q

�F�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\���H�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���U�D�W�H�V���R�Q���Q�H�W���V�D�O�H�V 
�<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U

����������������

($ in millions)  
�* �$�$�3��

�1�H�W���6�D�O�H�V  �' �R�O�O�D�U�V  �3�H�U�F�H�Q�W�D�J�H  �' �R�O�O�D�U�V  �3�H�U�F�H�Q�W�D�J�H  
�* �$�$�3��

�1�H�W���6�D�O�H�V

            
Americas  $ 504.6  $ 33.0  6.5%  $ 0.8  0.2%  $ 538.4
EMEIA  408.6  10.5  2.6%  13.9  3.4%  433.0
APAC  376.1  4.3  1.1%  7.4  2.0%  387.8
Total net sales  $ 1,289.4  $ 47.7  3.7%  $ 22.1  1.7%  $ 1,359.1

�)�L�J�X�U�H�V���P�D�\���Q�R�W���V�X�P���G�X�H���W�R���U�R�X�Q�G�L�Q�J��

To help protect against changes in the U.S. dollar equivalent value caused by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates of forecasted foreign
currency cash flows resulting from international sales, we hedge portions of our forecasted revenue denominated in foreign currencies with average rate
forward contracts. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding
our cash flow hedging program and its related impact on our consolidated sales for 2019 and 2018). 

�*�U�R�V�V���3�U�R�I�L�W�� The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017 along with the percentage changes in gross profit for the corresponding periods. We continue to focus on cost control and cost reduction
measures throughout our manufacturing cycle. 

 �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

($ in millions)  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������

          
Gross Profit  $ 1,016.3  (0.9)%  $ 1,025.4  6.7%  $ 961.1

Gross Profit as a percentage of net sales  75.1%   75.4%    74.5%
  

The slight decreases in our gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of sales during the year ended December 31, 2019 can be attributed to
changes in product mix and foreign currency exchange rates. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the change in exchange rates had the
effect of decreasing our cost of sales by $3.3 million and increasing our cost of sales $3.2 million, respectively. To help protect against changes in our cost of
sales caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates of forecasted foreign currency cash flows, we hedge portions of our forecasted costs of sales
denominated in foreign currencies with average rate forward contracts. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, these hedges had the effect of
increasing our cost of sales by $0.5 million and decreasing our cost of sales by $0.7 million, respectively. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging
activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our cash flow hedging program and its related impacted on our
results of operations).

��������
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�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���( �[�S�H�Q�V�H�V�� The following table sets forth our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 along with the
percentage changes between the corresponding periods and the line item as a percentage of total net sales.  
��

 �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

($ in thousands)  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������  �&�K�D�Q�J�H  ��������

          
Sales and marketing  $ 473,392  (2)%  $ 482,576  1%  $ 477,921

Percentage of total net sales  35 %    36%    37%
         

Research and development  $ 272,452  4%  $ 261,072  13%  $ 231,761
Percentage of total net sales  20 %    19%    18%

          
General and Administrative  $ 122,768  13%  $ 108,878  3%  $ 105,602

Percentage of total net sales  9 %    8%    8%
           

Gain on sale of assets  $ (26,842)  100%  $ —  —%  $ —
Percentage of total net sales  (2)%    —%    —%

         
Total operating expenses  $ 841,770  (1)%  $ 852,526  5%  $ 815,284

Percentage of total net sales  62 %    63%    63%

On August 29, 2019, we sold an office building and recognized a gain on the sale of $26.8 million, which is presented as "Gain on sale of assets" on
the Consolidated Statements of Income, in accordance with ASC 360 - �3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\�����3�O�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W (See note 1 - Operations and summary of significant
accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on our Gain on Sales of Assets). The $16 million increase in our
operating expenses, excluding the gain on sale of assets, during 2019 compared to 2018 was primarily related to the following:

• a $14 million increase due to additional stock-based compensation expense, primarily attributable to comparatively     higher stock prices on the
grant date of unvested RSU awards and a shorter average service period for our awards;

• a $13 million decrease related to the year over year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates;

• a $7 million increase due to a charitable contribution to a donor-advised fund using a portion of the proceeds from the sale of an office building;

• a $5 million increase related to a decrease in software development costs eligible for capitalization, as described in more detail below;

• a $6 million increase due to restructuring costs during the year; and

• a $3 million decrease in personnel costs, primarily driven by a $12 million decrease in variable pay related to not attaining the performance
targets under our company performance bonus for 2019, partially offset by increases in salaries and other variable pay plans intended to remain
competitive with market levels;

The increase in research and development costs during 2019 was primarily related to a $5 million decrease in software development costs eligible for
capitalization and an increase in stock-based compensation expense. In the second quarter of 2018, we began moving toward more frequent releases for many
of our software products. Specifically, for many of our software development projects we started applying agile development methodologies which are
characterized by a more dynamic development process with more frequent and iterative revisions to a product's features and functions as the software is being
developed. Due to the shorter development cycle and focus on rapid production associated with agile development, we expect that for a significant majority of
our software development projects the costs incurred subsequent to the achievement of technological feasibility will be immaterial in future periods and we
expect to record significantly less capitalized software development costs than under our historical software development approaches. Consequently, a larger
portion of our software development expenditures are being recognized as operating expenses in the future. We also expect amortization of previously
capitalized software development costs to steadily decline as previously capitalized software development costs become fully amortized over the next four
years.
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The increase in our operating expenses in 2018 was primarily related to the following:

• a $29 million increase in research and development expenses, primarily attributable to a decrease in software development costs eligible for
capitalization, as described in more detail above.

• a $10 million increase in personnel costs, primarily attributable to an $8 million increase related to our equity compensation costs due to higher
stock prices. Additionally, increases in variable compensation costs to be more competitive with market levels were partially offset by lower
salary and benefits costs, primarily related to headcount reductions.

• a $8 million increase related to the year over year impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

• a $7 million decrease related to reductions in travel, outside services, and building and equipment costs. The decrease in cash expenditures
related to travel and outside services is consistent with our continued focus on disciplined expense management and cost optimization.

We believe that our long-term growth and success depends on developing high quality software and hardware products on a timely basis. We are
focused on leveraging recent investments in research and development and in our field sales force and taking actions to help ensure that those resources are
focused in areas and initiatives that will contribute to future growth in our business.

�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���,�Q�F�R�P�H��  For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, operating income was $175 million, $173 million and $146 million,
respectively, an increase of 1% in 2019, following an increase of 19% in 2018. As a percentage of net sales, operating income was 13%, 13% and 11%,
respectively, over the three-year period.  The changes in operating income in absolute dollars and as a percent of sales in 2018 and 2019 are attributable to the
factors discussed in Net Sales, Gross Profit and Operating Expenses above.

�,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���,�Q�F�R�P�H�� ������Interest income was $8.1 million, $5.9 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively, an increase of 38% in 2019, following an increase of 159% in 2018. On average, yields in 2019 were less favorable than in 2018, however, we
benefited from higher yields on investments that were made in 2018 for the full year in 2019.

�1�H�W���)�R�U�H�L�J�Q���(�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H�����/ �R�V�V�����*�D�L�Q�� ������Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain was $(1.8) million, $(3.4) million, and $0.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. These results are attributable to movements in the foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar
and foreign currencies in subsidiaries for which our functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. During most of 2019, we saw continued volatility in the
exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and many of the currency markets where we have exposure, primarily in South Korea and Europe along with a
moderately stronger U.S. dollar when compared to 2018. As of February 20, 2020, the U.S. dollar index, as tracked by the St. Louis Federal Reserve, remains
near its ten-year high. During 2018, we saw volatility in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and many of the currency markets where we have
exposure, primarily in China and some emerging markets along with a stronger U.S. dollar when compared to 2017. In the past, we have noted that significant
volatility in foreign currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a significant impact on the revaluation of our foreign currency
denominated firm commitments, on our ability to forecast our U.S. dollar equivalent revenues and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging
programs. In the past, these dynamics have also adversely affected our revenue growth in international markets and may pose similar challenges in the future.
We recognize the local currency as the functional currency in virtually all of our international subsidiaries.

We utilize foreign currency forward contracts to hedge our foreign denominated net foreign currency balance sheet positions to help protect against
the change in value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. We typically hedge up to 90% of our outstanding foreign denominated net
receivable or payable positions and typically limit the duration of these foreign currency forward contracts to approximately 90 days. The gain or loss on
these derivatives as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings under the line item
“Net foreign exchange Gain/loss”. Our hedging strategy increased our foreign exchange losses by $0.3 million, decreased our foreign exchange losses by $0.3
million, and decreased our foreign exchange gains by $5.9 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging
activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of our derivative instruments and hedging activities).

��������
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�3�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q���I�R�U���,�Q�F�R�P�H���7�D�[�H�V��  For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, our provision for income taxes reflected an effective tax rate of 10%,
12% and 64%, respectively. The factors that caused our effective tax rates to change year-over-year are detailed in the table below:

�<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G
���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

Effective tax rate for 2018 12 %
Increased profits in foreign jurisdictions with reduced income tax rates 4
Change in enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses 1
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset 1
Change in state income taxes, net of federal benefit (2)
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion ("GILTI") (1)
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction (2)
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred 2
Research and development tax credit (1)
Nondeductible officer compensation 1
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale (6)
Foreign tax on undistributed earnings 1
Effective tax rate for 2019 10 %

�<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G
���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

Effective tax rate for 2017 64 %
Change in U.S. federal tax rate (14)
Increased profits in foreign jurisdictions with reduced income tax rates 8
Change in enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses (1)
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset 2
Change in state income taxes, net of federal benefit 2
Remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax balance 10
Transition tax on deferred foreign income (55)
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred ("GILTI") (2)
Foreign tax on undistributed earnings (3)
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction (1)
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion 2
Effective tax rate for 2018 12 %
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�4�X�D�U�W�H�U�O�\���U�H�V�X�O�W�V���R�I���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V

The following quarterly results have been derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements that, in the opinion of management, reflect
all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of such quarterly information. The operating results for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. The following tables presenting our quarterly results of operations
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
unaudited quarterly financial data for each of the eight quarters in the two years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:

 �7�K�U�H�H���P�R�Q�W�K�V���H�Q�G�H�G

 ���L�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V�����H�[�F�H�S�W���S�H�U���V�K�D�U�H���G�D�W�D��

 �0 �D�U�F�K������������������  �-�X�Q�H������������������  �6�H�S�W�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Net sales  $ 311,074  $ 334,231  $ 340,442  $ 367,468
Gross profit  234,999  250,465  254,527  276,333
Operating income  23,399  32,296  65,178  53,681
Net income  23,220  28,692  51,644  58,596
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.18  $ 0.22  $ 0.39  $ 0.45
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.17  $ 0.22  $ 0.39  $ 0.45
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.25  $ 0.25  $ 0.25  $ 0.25

��

��

 �7�K�U�H�H���P�R�Q�W�K�V���H�Q�G�H�G

 ���L�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V�����H�[�F�H�S�W���S�H�U���V�K�D�U�H���G�D�W�D��

 �0 �D�U�F�K������������������  �-�X�Q�H������������������  �6�H�S�W�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Net sales  $ 311,897  $ 341,009  $ 346,127  $ 360,099
Gross profit  237,374  258,850  257,112  272,070
Operating income  28,137  36,912  46,010  61,821
Net income  24,268  31,054  43,194  56,541
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.19  $ 0.24  $ 0.33  $ 0.43
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.18  $ 0.23  $ 0.32  $ 0.42
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.23  $ 0.23  $ 0.23  $ 0.23

33



Table of Contents

�2�W�K�H�U���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q����

We believe that the following additional unaudited operational metrics assist investors in assessing our operational performance relative to others in
our industry and to our historical results.   The following tables provide details with respect to the amount of GAAP charges related to stock-based
compensation, amortization of acquisition intangibles, acquisition-related transaction costs, disposal gains on buildings and related charitable contributions,
tax effects on businesses held-for-sale, capitalization and amortization of internally developed software costs, and restructuring charges that were recorded in
the line items indicated below (in thousands).

 �7�K�U�H�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

(In thousands)  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������

�6�W�R�F�N���E�D�V�H�G���F�R�P�S�H�Q�V�D�W�L�R�Q         
Cost of sales  $ 887  $ 816  $ 3,475  $ 3,231
Sales and marketing  4,868  3,810  19,612  14,218
Research and development  4,236  3,489  16,265  12,580
General and administrative  3,393  2,010  12,086  7,587
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes  (1,433)  (1,707)  (9,337)  (7,822)
Total  $ 11,951  $ 8,418  $ 42,101  $ 29,794

 �7�K�U�H�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

(In thousands)  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������

�$�P�R�U�W�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D�F�T�X�L�V�L�W�L�R�Q���L�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H�V         
Cost of sales  $ 823  $ 810  $ 3,348  $ 3,258
Sales and marketing  485  505  1,970  2,085
Research and development  28  28  112  113
Other loss, net  124  —  409  —
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes  (127)  (163)  (703)  (681)
Total  $ 1,333  $ 1,180  $ 5,136  $ 4,775

 �7�K�U�H�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

(In thousands)  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������

�$�F�T�X�L�V�L�W�L�R�Q���W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�L�R�Q���F�R�V�W�V�����U�H�V�W�U�X�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J
�F�K�D�U�J�H�V�����D�Q�G���R�W�K�H�U  

 
   

 
  

Cost of sales  $ —  $ 244  $ —  $ 2,057
Sales and marketing  5,356  2,300  13,646  10,654
Research and development  3,266  297  4,166  2,092
General and administrative (1)  2,002  341  11,527  1,879
Gain on sale of asset (1)  —  —  (26,842)  —
Other loss, net  —  —  —  709
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes (2)  (13,477)  237  (12,237)  (3,749)
Total  $ (2,853)  $ 3,419  $ (9,740)  $ 13,642
(1): During the third quarter of 2019, we recognized a gain of $27 million related to the sale of an office building, presented within "Gain on sale of assets". During the third quarter of 2019, we
also recognized a charitable contribution expense of $7 million related to a donation using a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the property, presented within "General and Administrative".
(2): During the fourth quarter of 2019, we recognized an income tax benefit of $11 million related to the recognition of deferred taxes on the outside basis difference of our AWR business, which
was held-for-sale as of December 31, 2019.
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 �7�K�U�H�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

(In thousands)  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������

���&�D�S�L�W�D�O�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q�����D�Q�G���D�P�R�U�W�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O�O�\
�G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�H�G���V�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H���F�R�V�W�V  

 
   

 
  

Cost of sales  $ 7,012  $ 6,557  $ 27,085  $ 25,293
Research and development  (1,887)  (1,056)  (9,066)  (14,208)
(Benefit) Provision for income taxes  (1,076)  (1,155)  (3,784)  (2,328)
Total  $ 4,049  $ 4,346  $ 14,235  $ 8,757
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�/ �L�T�X�L�G�L�W�\���D�Q�G���&�D�S�L�W�D�O���5�H�V�R�X�U�F�H�V����

�2�Y�H�U�Y�L�H�Z

At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Our cash and cash equivalent balances are held in
numerous financial institutions throughout the world, including substantial amounts held outside of the U.S., however, all of our short-term investments that
are located outside of the U.S. are denominated in the U.S. dollar with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that are
denominated in Euro. Our short-term investments do not include any foreign sovereign debt. The following table presents the geographic distribution of our
cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments as of December 31, 2019 (in millions):

 �' �R�P�H�V�W�L�F �,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O �7�R�W�D�O

Cash and Cash Equivalents $55.9 $138.7 $194.6
 ������ ������  
Short-term Investments $164.3 $73.7 $238.0
 ������ ������  
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-
term Investments $220.2 $212.4 $432.6
 ������ ������  

We utilize a variety of tax planning and financing strategies with the objective of having our worldwide cash available in the locations in which it is
needed. The following table presents our working capital, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments:    

��

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  
�,�Q�F�U�H�D�V�H��

���' �H�F�U�H�D�V�H��

      
Working capital  $ 641,235  $ 739,236  $ (98,001)
Cash and cash equivalents (1)  194,616  259,386  (64,770)
Short-term investments (1)  237,983  271,396  (33,413)

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments  $ 432,599  $ 530,782  $ (98,183)

(1)  Included in working capital
    
Our principal sources of liquidity include cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, as well as the cash flows generated from our operations.

The primary drivers of the net decrease in working capital between December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019 were:

• Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments decreased by $98 million. Additional analysis of the changes in our cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 are discussed below.

• "Accounts receivable, net" increased by $6 million. Days sales outstanding remained flat at 65 days at December 31, 2019, compared to December
31, 2018 related to increased sales during the fourth quarter of 2019.

• Inventory increased by $6 million to $200 million at December 31, 2019, from $194 million at December 31, 2018. Inventory turns decreased to 1.7
at December 31, 2019, compared to 1.8 at December 31, 2018. The increase in inventory is primarily attributable to increases in raw materials to
support production of newly released product offerings.

• Prepaid expenses and other current assets increased by $11 million, primarily related to the timing of prepaid insurance and maintenance contracts.
• Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased by $4 million, primarily related to timing of invoice payments to vendors.
• Accrued compensation increased by $2 million primarily related to a $6 million increase in accruals related to severance as part of our restructuring

initiative, partially offset by a decrease in accruals for variable pay.
• The current portion of deferred revenue increased by $4 million, primarily related to extended hardware warranties.
• Other current liabilities decreased by $5 million, primarily related to changes in the fair value of our foreign currency forward exchange contracts

offset by increases in the amount of current income taxes payable.
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• Operating lease liabilities, current increased by $13 million, related to the adoption of the new leasing standard on January 1, 2019, as discussed in
Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies and Note 9 - Leases of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• Other taxes payable increased by $5 million, primarily related to the timing of payments for VAT and other indirect taxes.

�$�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���R�I���&�D�V�K���)�O�R�Z

The following table summarizes the proceeds and (uses) of cash:  

��

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Cash provided by operating activities  $ 224,405  $ 274,580  $ 224,442
Cash used by investing activities  (17,948)  (209,996)  (122,410)
Cash used by financing activities  (270,817)  (90,843)  (106,299)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (410)  (4,519)  9,148
Net change in cash equivalents  (64,770)  (30,778)  4,881
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  259,386  290,164  285,283
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 194,616  $ 259,386  $ 290,164

�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by $50 million compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018. This decrease was primarily due to a $46 million decrease in cash provided by operating assets and liabilities during the year and a
$4 million decrease in net income excluding the effect of non-cash items including stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, disposal gains,
and deferred tax benefits.

�,�Q�Y�H�V�W�L�Q�J���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V��Cash used for investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by $192 million compared to the same period
in 2018. This was primarily attributable to a net sale of short-term investments of $34 million compared to a net purchase of short-term investments of $150
million during the same period in 2018. The net sale of short-term investments was primarily driven by funding needs to support our common stock
repurchase activities. During 2019, we received $32 million in proceeds from the sale of an office building. Cash outflows related to capitalized software
development also decreased by $5 million which was offset by an increase in capital expenditures and investments in other intangible assets of $22 million
compared to the same period in 2018. The increase in capital expenditures was primarily driven by expansions at our manufacturing sites and improvements
to our existing corporate headquarters. Additionally, during 2019 we deployed an additional $8 million on strategic investments in equity-method investments
and acquired businesses when compared to 2018.

�)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�Q�J���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V��Cash used by financing activities increased by $180 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the same period
in 2018. This was primarily due to a $171 million increase in cash outflows related to repurchases of our common stock, and a $10 million increase in cash
outflows related to the increase in our quarterly dividend. From time to time, our Board of Directors has authorized various programs for our repurchase of
shares of our common stock depending on market conditions and other factors. Under the current program, we repurchased 4 million shares during the year
ended December 31, 2019. (See Note 12 – Authorized shares of common and preferred stock and stock-based compensation plans of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional discussion about our share repurchase program).

��������
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�&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�X�D�O���&�D�V�K���2�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V��  The following summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2019:

 �3�D�\�P�H�Q�W�V���G�X�H���E�\���S�H�U�L�R�G

(In thousands)  �7�R�W�D�O  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������  �%�H�\�R�Q�G

Tax payable (1)  75,120  5,969  7,279  7,279  13,648  18,198  22,747
Capital lease obligations  —  —  —  —  —  —  —
Operating leases  66,252  16,104  12,752  8,984  7,415  6,844  14,153
Total contractual
obligations  $ 141,372  $ 22,073  $ 20,031  $ 16,263  $ 21,063  $ 25,042  $ 36,900
(1) Represents one-time transition tax payable related to known amounts of cash taxes payable in future years as a result of the Tax Act. For further
information, refer to Note 10 - Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

We have commitments under non-cancelable operating leases primarily for office facilities throughout the world. Certain leases require us to pay
property taxes, insurance and routine maintenance, and include escalation clauses. As of December 31, 2019, we had non-cancelable operating lease
obligations of approximately $66 million compared to $61 million at December 31, 2018. Rent expense under operating leases was $23 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019, $21 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 and $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The following summarizes our other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2019:

(In thousands)  �7�R�W�D�O  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������  ��������  �%�H�\�R�Q�G

Purchase obligations  6,483  6,483  —  —  —  —  —
Total commercial
commitments  $ 6,483  $ 6,483  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —

Purchase obligations primarily represent purchase commitments for customized inventory and inventory components. As of December 31, 2019, we
had non-cancelable purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory and inventory components totaling approximately $6.5 million
over the next twelve months. At December 31, 2018, we had non-cancelable purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory and
inventory components totaling approximately $7.6 million.

At December 31, 2019, we did not have any material outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants. At December 31, 2018, we
had no outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants.

�/ �R�D�Q���$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W��  As amended on April 27, 2018, our Loan Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank ("Loan Agreement") provides for (i) a revolving line
of credit of $5.0 million, (ii) a letter of credit sublimit under the line of credit of $5.0 million, and (iii) requires us and our subsidiaries to comply with certain
of the affirmative and negative covenants under the Loan Agreement only if loans are outstanding under the Loan Agreement or if we have not reimbursed
any drawing under a letter of credit issued under the Loan Agreement within five business days following the request of the lender. Proceeds of loans made
under the Loan Agreement may be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes. We may prepay the loans under the Loan Agreement in
whole or in part at any time without premium or penalty. Certain of our existing and future material domestic subsidiaries are required to guaranty our
obligations under the Loan Agreement. (See Note 15 – Debt of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details on our revolving line of
credit.)

�2�I�I���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W���$�U�U�D�Q�J�H�P�H�Q�W�V�� ������We do not have any off-balance sheet debt. At December 31, 2019, we did not have any relationships with any
unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance entities, which would have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements. As such, we are not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we
were engaged in such relationships.

�3�U�R�V�S�H�F�W�L�Y�H���&�D�S�L�W�D�O���1�H�H�G�V��    We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with cash generated from
operations as well as from the purchase of common stock through our employee stock purchase plan will be sufficient to cover our working capital needs,
capital expenditures, investment requirements, commitments, payment of dividends to our stockholders and repurchases of our common stock for at least the
next 12 months. We may also seek to pursue additional financing or to raise additional funds by seeking an increase in our unsecured revolving line of credit
under our Loan Agreement or selling equity or debt to the public or in private transactions from time to time. If we elect to raise additional funds, we may not
be able to obtain such funds on a timely basis or on acceptable terms, if at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing additional equity or convertible debt
securities, the ownership percentages of our existing stockholders would be reduced. In addition, the equity or debt securities that we issue may have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock.
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Although we believe that we have sufficient capital to fund our operating activities for at least the next 12 months, our future capital requirements

may vary materially from those now planned. We anticipate that the amount of capital we will need in the future will depend on many factors, including:  

• repurchase of our common stock;

• payment of dividends to our stockholders;

• required levels of research and development and other operating costs;

• our business, product, capital expenditure and research and development plans, and product and technology roadmaps; 

• acquisitions of other businesses, assets, products or technologies; 

• the overall levels of sales of our products and gross profit margins;

• the levels of inventory and accounts receivable that we maintain;

• general economic and political uncertainty and specific conditions in the markets we address, including any volatility in the industrial economy in
the various geographic regions in which we do business;

• the inability of certain of our customers who depend on credit to have access to their traditional sources of credit to finance the purchase of
products from us, which may lead them to reduce their level of purchases or to seek credit or other accommodations from us;

• capital improvements for facilities; 

• our relationships with suppliers and customers; and 

• the level of stock purchases under our employee stock purchase plan.  

On January 15, 2020, we closed on the sale of our wholly-owned subsidiary AWR Corporation to Cadence Design Systems Inc. for a total of $160
million and we expect to recognize a gain on the divestment of approximately $123 million, net of taxes, during the first quarter of 2020.

�5�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���,�V�V�X�H�G���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�Q�R�X�Q�F�H�P�H�Q�W�V����

See Note 1 – Operations and summary of significant accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion regarding
recently issued accounting pronouncements.
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�&�U�L�W�L�F�D�O���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�R�O�L�F�L�H�V���D�Q�G���(�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�V

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our
estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing
basis. Our critical accounting policies are those that affect our financial statements materially and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by
management. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact the company in the future,
actual results may be materially different from the estimates.

Our critical accounting policies and estimates are as follows:

�� �5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�W�L�R�Q

Our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. Determining whether products
and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant
judgment.

Judgment is required to determine the stand-alone selling price (“SSP") for each distinct performance obligation. We use a range of amounts
to estimate SSP when we sell each of our products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount to be allocated
based on the relative SSP of the various products and services. In instances where SSP is not directly observable, such as when we do not
sell the product or service separately, we determine the SSP using information that may include market conditions, historical pricing
relationships (such as software licenses available under either a perpetual and term license period), and other observable inputs. We
typically have more than one SSP for individual products and services due to the stratification of those products and services by customers
and circumstances. In these instances, we may use information such as the geographic region in determining the SSP.

Due to the various benefits from and the nature of software licenses sold under enterprise-wide licensing program, judgment is required to
identify the distinct performance obligations, determine the SSP for certain performance obligations that is not directly observable, and
assess the pattern of delivery, including the exercise pattern of certain benefits across our portfolio of customers.

Our products are generally sold with a right of return, and occasionally we may provide other credits or incentives, which are accounted for
as variable consideration when determining the amount of revenue to recognize. Returns and credits are estimated at contract inception and
updated at the end of each reporting period if additional information becomes available. We analyze historical returns, current economic
trends, and changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products when evaluating the adequacy of our sales returns allowance.
Significant judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with establishing the sales returns allowance in any accounting
period. Changes to our estimated variable consideration were not material for the periods presented.

�� �( �V�W�L�P�D�W�L�Q�J���D�O�O�R�Z�D�Q�F�H�V�����V�S�H�F�L�I�L�F�D�O�O�\���W�K�H���D�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W���I�R�U���H�[�F�H�V�V���D�Q�G���R�E�V�R�O�H�W�H���L�Q�Y�H�Q�W�R�U�L�H�V

We also make estimates about the net realizable value of our inventory. We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or
unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value based on assumptions of
future demand and market conditions. Our allowance for excess and obsolete inventories was $15.5 million and $15.4 million at December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Significant judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with establishing this allowance.
Material differences may result in the amount and timing of inventory obsolescence if we made different judgments or utilized different
estimates or if actual results varied materially from our estimates.

�� �$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���I�R�U���F�R�V�W�V���R�I���F�R�P�S�X�W�H�U���V�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H

We capitalize costs related to the development and acquisition of certain software products. Capitalization of costs begins when technological
feasibility has been established and ends when the product is available for general release to customers. Technological feasibility for our
products is established when the product is available for beta release. Judgment is required in determining when technological feasibility of a
product is established. Amortization is computed on an individual product basis for those products available for market and has been
recognized based on the product’s estimated economic life, generally three years. At each balance sheet date, the unamortized costs are
reviewed by management and reduced to net realized value when necessary. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, unamortized capitalized
software development costs were $56 million and $75 million, respectively.
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During the second quarter of 2018, we started applying agile development methodologies to certain software development projects, which are
characterized by a more dynamic development process with more frequent and iterative revisions to a product release's features and functions
as the software is being developed. Due to the shorter development cycle and focus on rapid production associated with agile development,
we expect that for a significant majority of our agile development projects the costs incurred subsequent to the achievement of technological
feasibility will be immaterial in future periods and we expect to record significantly less capitalized software development costs than under
our historical software development approaches. Prior capitalized costs will continue to be amortized on the basis of each product's estimated
useful life.

�� �9�D�O�X�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���O�R�Q�J���O�L�Y�H�G���D�Q�G���L�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H���D�V�V�H�W�V

We assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We have one operating segment and one reporting unit. In accordance with FASB
ASC 350, �,�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H�V�������*�R�R�G�Z�L�O�O���D�Q�G���2�W�K�H�U (FASB ASC 350), goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests
if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach based on the market capitalization of the reporting unit. Our
annual impairment test was performed as of November 30, 2019. No impairment of goodwill and long-lived and intangible assets was
identified during 2019 and 2018. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions. Factors considered important which could
trigger an impairment review include the following:

• significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
• significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;
• significant negative industry or economic trends; and
• our market capitalization relative to net book value.

When it is determined that the carrying value of intangibles, long-lived assets and related goodwill may not be recoverable based upon the
existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, the measurement of any impairment is determined and the carrying value is
reduced as appropriate. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had goodwill of approximately $262 million and $265 million, respectively.

�� �$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���I�R�U���L�Q�F�R�P�H���W�D�[�H�V

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected tax
consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts which are more likely than not to be realized. We had a valuation
allowance of $86 million and $80 million at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. A majority of the valuation allowance
is related to the deferred tax assets of National Instruments Hungary Kft. (“NI Hungary”).

Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.
Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact our financial position or our results of operations. In
estimating future tax consequences, all expected future events are considered other than enactments of changes in tax laws or rates. We
account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement
attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. Our continuing policy is to
recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

Our earnings in Hungary are subject to a statutory tax rate of 9%. In addition, our research and development activities in Hungary continue to
benefit from a tax law in Hungary that provides for an enhanced deduction for qualified research and development expenses. The tax position
of our Hungarian operations resulted in income tax benefits of $9.8 million and $12.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. Earnings from our operations in Malaysia are free of tax under a tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. This tax holiday
expires in 2037. If we fail to satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax benefit may be terminated early. The tax holiday resulted in
income tax benefits of $3.4 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respective1y. The impact of the tax
holiday on a per share basis for each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was a benefit of $0.03 per share.

No other taxing jurisdictions had a significant impact on our effective tax rate. We have not entered into any advanced pricing or other
agreements with the Internal Revenue Service with regard to any foreign jurisdictions.
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For additional discussion about our income taxes including, components of income before income taxes, our provision for income taxes
charged to operations, components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, a reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory rate
to our effective tax rate and other tax matters, see Note 10 – Income taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

�� �/ �R�V�V���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�J�H�Q�F�L�H�V

We accrue for probable losses from contingencies including legal defense costs, on an undiscounted basis, when such costs are considered
probable of being incurred and are reasonably estimable. We periodically evaluate available information, both internal and external, relative to
such contingencies and adjust this accrual as necessary. Disclosure of a contingency is required if there is at least a reasonable possibility that
a loss has been incurred. In determining whether a loss should be accrued we evaluate, among other factors, the degree of probability of an
unfavorable outcome and our ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. Changes in these factors could materially impact our
financial position or our results of operation.

�� �$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���I�R�U���F�R�V�W�V���U�H�O�D�W�H�G���W�R���H�[�L�W���R�U���G�L�V�S�R�V�D�O���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V

Costs related to exit or disposal activities incurred as part of our recent restructuring activities may consist of voluntary or involuntary
severance-related charges, asset-related charges and other costs related to exit activities. We recognize voluntary termination benefits when
the employee accepts the offered benefit arrangement. We recognize involuntary severance-related charges depending on whether the
termination benefits are provided under an ongoing benefit arrangement or under a one-time benefit arrangement. If the former, we recognize
the charges once they are probable and the amounts are estimable. If the latter, we recognize the charges once the benefits have been
communicated to employees. 

Restructuring activities associated with assets would be recorded as an adjustment to the basis of the asset, not as a liability. When we commit
to a plan to abandon a long-lived asset before the end of its previously estimated useful life, we accelerate the recognition of depreciation to
reflect the use of the asset over its shortened useful life.
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�,�7�(�0 �����$�����������������4�8�$�1�7�,�7�$�7�,�9�(���$�1�' ���4�8�$�/ �,�7�$�7�,�9�(���' �,�6�&�/ �2�6�8�5�(�6���$�%�2�8�7���0 �$�5�. �( �7���5�,�6�.

�)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�L�V�N���0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W����

Our international sales are subject to inherent risks, including fluctuations in local economies; fluctuations in foreign currencies relative to the U.S.
dollar; difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection; costs and risks of localizing products for
foreign countries; unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers; and burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign
laws.   

The vast majority of our sales outside of the U.S. are denominated in local currencies, and accordingly, the U.S. dollar equivalent of these sales is
affected by changes in the foreign currency exchange rates. The change in exchange rates had the effect of decreasing our consolidated sales by $18.9 million
in the year ended December 31, 2019 and increasing our consolidated sales by $22.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2018. Because most of our
international operating expenses are also incurred in local currencies, the change in exchange rates had the effect of decreasing our consolidated operating
expenses by $13 million in the year ended December 31, 2019, and increasing our consolidated operating expenses by $8 million in the year ended December
31, 2018.  

During 2019, there was a stronger U.S. dollar, approximately 4% stronger when compared to 2018 as measured by the  St.Louis Federal Reserve
U.S. dollar index, resulting in a net unfavorable impact to net sales of approximately 1%. In the past, we have noted that significant volatility in foreign
currency exchange rates in the markets in which we do business has had a significant impact on the revaluation of our foreign currency denominated firm
commitments, on our ability to forecast our U.S. dollar equivalent revenues and expenses and on the effectiveness of our hedging programs. In recent periods,
these dynamics have also adversely affected our revenue growth in international markets and will likely pose similar challenges in the near future. We
recognize the local currency as the functional currency in virtually all of our international subsidiaries.

If the local currencies in which we sell our products strengthen against the U.S. dollar, we may need to lower our prices in the local currency to
remain competitive in our international markets which could have a material adverse effect on our gross and net profit margins. If the local currencies in
which we sell our products weaken against the U.S. dollar and if the local sales prices cannot be raised due to competitive pressures, we will experience a
deterioration of our gross and net profit margins. To help protect against the change in the value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates of
forecasted foreign currency cash flows resulting from international sales and expenses over the next one to two years, we have a foreign currency cash flow
hedging program. We hedge portions of our forecasted revenue, cost of sales and operating expenses denominated in foreign currencies with foreign currency
forward contracts. For forward contracts, when the dollar strengthens significantly against the foreign currencies, the change in the present value of future
foreign currency cash flows may be offset by the change in the fair value of the forward contracts designated as hedges. We purchase foreign currency
forward contracts for up to 100% of our forecasted exposures in selected currencies (primarily in Euro, Japanese yen, Chinese yuan, British pound, Malaysian
ringgit, Korean won and Hungarian forint) and limit the duration of these contracts to 40 months or less. As a result, our hedging activities only partially
address our risks from foreign currency transactions, and there can be no assurance that this strategy will be successful. We do not enter into derivative
contracts for speculative purposes.      

During the year ended December 31, 2019, our hedges had the effect of increasing our consolidated sales by $11.7 million, increasing our cost of
sales by $0.5 million, and increasing our operating expenses by $0.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2018, our hedges had the effect of
decreasing our consolidated sales by $0.2 million, decreasing our cost of sales by $0.7 million, and decreasing our operating expenses by $0.9 million. (See
Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our cash flow hedging
program and its related impacted on our consolidated sales, cost of sales and operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018).  

��������
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�,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�R�U�\���0�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W����

The markets for our products dictate that many of our products be shipped very quickly after an order is received. As a result, we are required to
maintain significant inventories. Therefore, inventory obsolescence is a risk for us due to frequent engineering changes, shifting customer demand, the
emergence of new industry standards and rapid technological advances including the introduction by us or our competitors of products embodying new
technology. However, our risk of obsolescence may be mitigated as many of our products have interchangeable parts and many have long lives. While we
adjust for excess and obsolete inventories and we monitor the valuation of our inventories, there can be no assurance that our valuation adjustments will be
sufficient. In recent years, we have made a concentrated effort to increase our revenue through the pursuit of orders with a value greater than $1.0 million.
Fulfillment of these contracts can severely challenge our supply chain capabilities at the component acquisition, assembly and delivery stages. These
contracts can also require us to develop specific product mitigation plans for product delivery constraints caused by unexpected or catastrophic situations to
help assure timely production recovery and to comply with critical delivery commitments where severe contractual liabilities can be imposed on us if we fail
to provide the quantity of products at the required delivery times. In order to help mitigate the risks associated with these contractual requirements, we may
build inventory levels for certain parts or systems. Because our contracts with such customers may allow the customer to cancel or delay orders without
liability, such actions expose our business to increased risk of inventory obsolescence. 

�0�D�U�N�H�W���5�L�V�N����

We are exposed to a variety of risks, including foreign currency fluctuations and changes in the market value of our investments. In the normal
course of business, we employ established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency values and changes in the
market value of our investments.    

�&�D�V�K�����&�D�V�K���(�T�X�L�Y�D�O�H�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���6�K�R�U�W���7�H�U�P���,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V����

At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. See �/�L�T�X�L�G�L�W�\���D�Q�G���&�D�S�L�W�D�O���5�H�V�R�X�U�F�H�V above for
further discussion regarding our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

We report our available-for-sale short-term investments at fair value. (See Note 4 – Fair value measurements of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further description of the fair value measurement of our short-term investments).

The goal of our investment policy is to manage our investment portfolio to preserve principal and liquidity while maximizing the return on our
investment portfolio through the full investment of available funds. We place our cash investments in instruments that meet credit quality standards, as
specified in our corporate investment policy guidelines. These guidelines also limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer or type of
instrument. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments carried ratings from the major credit rating agencies that were in accordance with our corporate
investment policy. Our investment policy allows investments in the following: government and federal agency obligations, repurchase agreements, certificates
of deposit and time deposits, corporate obligations, medium term notes and deposit notes, commercial paper including asset-backed commercial paper,
puttable bonds, general obligation and revenue bonds, money market funds, taxable commercial paper, corporate notes/bonds, municipal notes, municipal
obligations and tax exempt commercial paper. All such instruments must carry minimum ratings of A1/P1/F1, MIG1/VMIG1/SP1 and A2/A/A, as applicable,
all of which are considered “investment grade.” Our investment policy for marketable securities requires that all securities mature in five years or less, with a
weighted average maturity of no longer than 24 months with at least 10% maturing in 90 days or less.

We account for our investments in debt and equity instruments under FASB ASC 320 Investments – �' �H�E�W���D�Q�G���(�T�X�L�W�\���6�H�F�X�U�L�W�L�H�V (FASB ASC 320).
Our investments are classified as available-for-sale and accordingly are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported as other
comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses are charged against income when a decline in fair value is determined to be
other-than-temporary. Investments with maturities beyond one year are classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such
marketable securities represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations. The fair value of our short-term investments at December 31,
2019 and 2018 was $238 million and $271 million, respectively. This decrease was due to our net sale of $34 million of short-term investments.     

We follow the guidance provided by FASB ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions are other than temporarily
impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary are determined based on the specific identification method and
are reported in other income (expense), net, in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

�,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���(�[�S�H�Q�V�H���5�L�V�N

We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations in the normal course of our business, including through our Loan Agreement. If we borrow under our
loan agreement, such borrowing would be subject to a variable interest rate.
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�,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���,�Q�F�R�P�H���5�L�V�N

Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their market value
adversely impacted due to an increase in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall. Due to these
factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or if the decline in the fair value of our publicly traded
debt investments is judged to be other-than-temporary. We may suffer losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. However, because any debt securities we hold are classified as available-for-sale, no gains or losses are realized in our income
statement due to changes in interest rates unless such securities are sold prior to maturity or unless declines in value are determined to be other-than-
temporary. These securities are reported at fair value with the related unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),
a component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax. 

In a declining interest rate environment, as short-term investments mature, reinvestment occurs at less favorable market rates. Given the short-term
nature of certain of our investments, the current interest rate environment of declining rates may unfavorably impact our investment income.

In order to assess the interest rate risk associated with our investment portfolio, we performed a sensitivity analysis to determine the impact a change
in interest rates would have on the value of our investment portfolio assuming a 100 basis point parallel shift in the yield curve. Based on our investment
positions as of December 31, 2019, a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates across all maturities would have resulted in approximately a $2.3
million increase or decrease in the fair market value of our portfolio. As of December 31, 2018, a similar 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates
across all maturities would result in approximately a $3.1 million increase or decrease in the fair market value of our portfolio. Such losses would only be
realized if we sold the investments prior to maturity or if there is an other-than-temporary impairment. Actual future gains and losses associated with our
investments may differ from the sensitivity analysis performed as of December 31, 2019, due to the inherent limitations associated with predicting the
changes in the timing and level of interest rates and our actual exposures and positions.  

We continue to monitor the stability of the financial markets, particularly those in the developing economies and have taken steps to limit our direct
and indirect exposure to these markets; however, we can give no assurance that we will not be negatively impacted by any adverse outcomes in those markets.
We also continue to weigh the benefit of the higher yields associated with longer maturities against the interest rate risk and credit rating risk, also associated
with these longer maturities when making these decisions. We cannot predict when or to what degree interest rates and investment yields will change.

�(�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���5�D�W�H���5�L�V�N����

Our objective in managing our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations is to reduce the impact of adverse fluctuations in such
exchange rates on our earnings and cash flow. Accordingly, we utilize purchased foreign currency option and forward contracts to hedge our exposure on
anticipated transactions and firm commitments. There can be no assurance that our foreign currency hedging activities will substantially offset the impact of
fluctuations in currency exchanges rates on our results of operations and financial position. Based on the foreign exchange instruments outstanding at
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, an adverse change (defined as 20% in the Asian currencies and 10% in all other currencies) in exchange rates
would result in a decline in the aggregate settlement value of all of our instruments outstanding of approximately $28 million and $23 million, respectively.
However, as we utilize foreign currency instruments for hedging anticipated and firmly committed transactions, we believe that a loss in settlement value for
those instruments will be substantially offset by increases in the value of the underlying exposure. (See Note 5 - Derivative instruments and hedging activities
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of our derivative instruments and hedging activities).  

�,�7�(�0 ���������������)�,�1�$�1�&�,�$�/ ���6�7�$�7�(�0 �(�1�7�6���$�1�' ���6�8�3�3�/ �( �0 �(�1�7�$�5�<���' �$�7�$

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements beginning on page F-1 hereof. Also see “Quarterly results of operations” in Item 7.

�,�7�(�0 ���������������&�+�$�1�* �(�6���,�1���$�1�' ���' �,�6�$�* �5�(�(�0 �(�1�7�6���: �,�7�+���$�&�&�2�8�1�7�$�1�7�6���2�1���$�&�&�2�8�1�7�,�1�* ���$�1�' ���)�,�1�$�1�&�,�$�/ ���' �,�6�&�/ �2�6�8�5�(

None.

45



Table of Contents

�,�7�(�0 �����$�����������&�2�1�7�5�2�/ �6���$�1�' ���3�5�2�&�(�' �8�5�(�6

�(�Y�D�O�X�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���' �L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O�V���D�Q�G���3�U�R�F�H�G�X�U�H�V����

Based on an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, our Chief Executive Officer, Eric Starkloff, and our
Chief Financial Officer, Karen Rapp, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act were effective as of December 31, 2019 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file
or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our disclosure controls and procedures include components of our internal control over
financial reporting.

�,�Q�K�H�U�H�Q�W���/ �L�P�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V���2�Y�H�U���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O�V����

Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and

that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our internal controls will prevent or detect all
errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of internal controls can provide absolute assurance
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls in future periods are subject to
the risk that those internal controls may become inadequate because of changes in business conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

�0 �D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���5�H�S�R�U�W���R�Q���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O���R�Y�H�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). We conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on
our assessment, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Our independent registered public
accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting, which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Form
10-K.

�&�K�D�Q�J�H�V���L�Q���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O���R�Y�H�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2019, which were identified in
connection with our evaluation required by paragraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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None.
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Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Report in that we intend to file a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Proxy Statement”) relating to our annual meeting of stockholders not later than 120 days after the end of
the fiscal year covered by this Report, and such information is incorporated by reference herein as described below.
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The information concerning our directors required by this Item pursuant to Item 401 of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement under the
section “Election of Directors” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information concerning our executive officers required by this Item pursuant to Item 401 of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement
under the section “Executive Officers” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will
appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information concerning our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, our controller or person
performing similar functions required by this Item pursuant to Item 406 of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Code of
Ethics” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(c)(3) of Regulation S-K regarding material changes, if any, to procedures by which
security holders may recommend nominees to our board of directors will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Deadline for Receipt of
Stockholder Proposals” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(d)(4) and Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K regarding our Audit Committee and our
audit committee financial expert(s), respectively, will appear in our Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate Governance” and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K regarding director compensation will appear in our Proxy Statement
under the section “Board Compensation” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K regarding executive officer compensation, including our
Compensation Discussion and Analysis, will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Executive Compensation” and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(e)(4) of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(e)(5) will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Compensation Committee
Report” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 403 of Regulation S-K concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Security Ownership” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K concerning securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Equity Compensation Plans Information” and such information is incorporated
herein by reference.
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The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K will appear in our Proxy Statement under the section “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item pursuant to Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K regarding the independence of our directors will appear in our
Proxy Statement under the section “Corporate Governance” and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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The information concerning principal accountant fees and services and pre-approval policies and procedures required by this Item is incorporated by
reference to our Proxy Statement under the heading “Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval of
Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors,” respectively.
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(a) Documents Filed with Report

���� �)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V.

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting F-5
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-6
Consolidated Statements of Income F-7
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income F-8
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-9
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity F-10
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-11

���� �)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W���6�F�K�H�G�X�O�H�V��

All schedules are omitted because the required information is already included in our notes to our consolidated financial statements or because they
are not applicable.
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3.1(1) Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the Company.
3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company
3.3(3) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of the Company.
4.1(4) Specimen of Common Stock certificate of the Company.
4.2 Description of Registered Securities
10.1(4) Form of Indemnification Agreement.
10.2 (5) 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended.*
10.3(6) National Instruments Corporation Annual Incentive Program, as amended.*
10.4(7) 2005 Incentive Plan.*
10.5(8) 2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
10.6(9) 2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
10.7(10) 2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
10.8(11) 2005 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
10.9(12) 2010 Incentive Plan.*
10.10(13) 2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
10.11(14) 2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
10.12(15) 2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
10.13(16) 2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
10.14(17) 2010 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
10.15(18) RSU Vesting Acceleration Agreement between the Company and Alexander M. Davern, effective as of October 28, 2014.*
10.16(19) Loan Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2013, by and among National Instruments Corporation, the guarantors from time to time party

thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender.
10.17(20) 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.*
10.18(21) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director).*
10.19(22) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting).*
10.20 (23) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Current Employee).*
10.21(24) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Newly Hired Employee).*
10.22(25) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Vesting – Threshold Performance Goal).*
10.23(26) 2015 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employee-Time Based Vesting).*
10.24(27) Performance Cash Incentive Plan.*
10.25(28) First Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2015, by and among National Instruments Corporation, the guarantors

party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender
10.27(29) RSU Vesting Acceleration Agreement between the Company and Scott A. Rust, effective as of February 26, 2016.*
10.27(30) Offer Letter between the Company and Karen Rapp dated March 22, 2017.*

10.28(31) Second Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of April 27, 2018, by and among National Instruments Corporation, the guarantors
party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as lender.

10.29(32) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Time Based and Performance Based).*
10.30(33) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Non-Employee Director - One-Year Vesting).*
10.31(34) Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Property between the Company and Bridgepoint Parkway Investors, LLC, dated June 25,

2019, and the Reinstatement and First Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Property between the Company and
Bridgepoint Parkway Investors, LLC, dated July 11, 2019.
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10.32(35) Executive Incentive Program*
10.33 Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Eric H. Starkloff dated October 28, 2019, effective February 1, 2020,

and amendment thereto made as of February 3, 2020.*†
10.34 Transition Agreement between the Company and Alexander M. Davern, dated October 28, 2019.*
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Company.
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Form 10-K).
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
(1) Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2013.
(2) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2019 (File No. 000-25426).
(3) Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-A filed on April 27, 2004 (File No. 000-25426).
(4) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33-88386) declared effective March 13, 1995.
(5) Incorporated by reference to exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 01, 2019.
(6) Incorporated by reference to the same-numbered exhibit filed with the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2016.
(7) Incorporated by reference to exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 4, 2005 (File No. 000-25426).
(8) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No. 000-25426).
(9) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No. 000-25426).
(10) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No. 000-25426).
(11) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2006 (File No. 000-25426).
(12) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 17, 2010 (File No. 000-25426).
(13) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 000-25426).
(14) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 000-25426).
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(15) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 000-25426).
(16) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2010 (File No. 000-25426).
(17) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 25, 2014.
(18) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.
(19) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on May 13, 2013.
(20) Incorporated by reference to exhibit B to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 1, 2015.
(21) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
(22) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
(23) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
(24) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
(25) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2015.
(26) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 16, 2016.
(27) Incorporated by reference to exhibit C to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 1, 2015.
(28) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 30, 2015.
(29) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 2, 2016.
(30) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2017.
(31) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.30 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2018.
(32) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2019.
(33) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.32 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on May 1, 2019.
(34) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.33 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 2019.
(35) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2020.
* Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement
† Certain confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b) of Regulation S-K
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53



Table of Contents

�6�,�* �1�$�7�8�5�(�6

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

  �5�H�J�L�V�W�U�D�Q�W

  �1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

February 20, 2020 BY: /s/ Eric Starkloff
  Eric Starkloff
  Chief Executive Officer

�3�2�: �( �5���2�)���$�7�7�2�5�1�(�<

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Eric Starkloff and Karen
Rapp, jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments
to this Report on Form 10‑K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Capacity in Which Signed  Date

     

/s/ Eric Starkloff
 Director and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

February 20, 2020
Eric Starkloff     

/s/ Karen Rapp
 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
 

February 20, 2020
Karen Rapp     
     
/s/ Michael E. McGrath  Chairman of the Board  February 20, 2020
Michael E. McGrath     

/s/ Jim Cashman III  Director  February 20, 2020
Jim Cashman III     
     
/s/ Alex M. Davern  Director  February 20, 2020
Alex M. Davern     
     
/s/ Gerhard Fettweis  Director  February 20, 2020
Dr. Gerhard P. Fettweis     
     
/s/ Liam Griffin  Director  February 20, 2020
Liam Griffin     
     
/s/ Jeffrey L. Kodosky  Director  February 20, 2020
Jeffrey L. Kodosky     

/s/ Duy-Loan T. Le  Director  February 20, 2020
Duy-Loan T. Le     

/s/ Charles J. Roesslein  Director  February 20, 2020
Charles J. Roesslein     
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�)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V��  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting F-5
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 F-6
Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years in the period Ended December 31, 2019 F-7
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for each of the three years in the period Ended December 31, 2019 F-8
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period Ended December 31, 2019 F-9
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for each of the three years in the period Ended December 31, 2019 F-10
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-11

All schedules are omitted because the required information is already included in our notes to our consolidated financial statements or because they are not
applicable.
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�5�H�S�R�U�W���R�I���,�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���5�H�J�L�V�W�H�U�H�G���3�X�E�O�L�F���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���)�L�U�P

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of National Instruments Corporation

�2�S�L�Q�L�R�Q���R�Q���W�K�H���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National Instruments Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 20, 2020 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

�$�G�R�S�W�L�R�Q���R�I���$�6�8�������������������D�Q�G���$�6�8����������������

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition in 2018 due to the
adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The Company changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due
to the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).

�%�D�V�L�V���I�R�U���2�S�L�Q�L�R�Q

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion
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�&�U�L�W�L�F�D�O���$�X�G�L�W���0 �D�W�W�H�U�V

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved
our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

  �' �H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�L�Q�J���W�K�H���$�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W���I�R�U���(�[�F�H�V�V���D�Q�G���2�E�V�R�O�H�W�H���,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�R�U�L�H�V

�' �H�V�F�U�L�S�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H
�0�D�W�W�H�U

 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, inventory is presented net of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories
which is the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value based on assumptions of future demand
and market conditions. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s net inventory balance was $200.4 million, net of the adjustment
for excess and obsolete inventories of $15.5 million.

Auditing management’s estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories was complex and judgmental due to the
high degree of subjectivity of certain assumptions and inputs. In particular, the estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete
inventories was sensitive to significant assumptions such as the customer forecasted demand of each inventory part and the
adjustment percentage for those parts. The adjustment percentage by part is estimated through historical and forecasted usage and
scrap rates. These assumptions, among other observable inputs, are utilized to calculate the estimate of the adjustment for excess
and obsolete inventories.

�+�R�Z���: �H���$�G�G�U�H�V�V�H�G
�W�K�H���0�D�W�W�H�U���L�Q���2�X�U
�$�X�G�L�W

 

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
process used in determining the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories. This included controls over the Company’s
calculation and review of the significant assumptions underlying the estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete
inventories including the customer forecasted demand and the adjustment percentage.

To test the estimate of the adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories, we performed audit procedures that included, among
others, evaluating the methodology utilized to calculate the adjustment, evaluating the significant assumptions stated above and
testing the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data used in management’s calculation of the estimate. We tested
management’s assumptions relating to forecasted product demand, which included inspecting a one-year look-back analysis on
forecasted demand compared to actual usage as well as conducting inquiries with, and obtaining forecast support from, individuals
outside of the accounting department who are involved in manufacturing and part-level planning.
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 �' �H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�L�Q�J���5�H�V�H�U�Y�H���I�R�U���8�Q�F�H�U�W�D�L�Q���7�D�[���3�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q�V

�' �H�V�F�U�L�S�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H
�0�D�W�W�H�U

 

As discussed in Note 10 to the financial statements, the Company operates in a complex multinational tax environment and is
subject to international tax law and transfer pricing guidelines for intercompany transactions. Uncertainty in a tax position may
arise as tax laws are subject to interpretation. The Company uses significant judgment in (1) determining whether a tax position’s
technical merits are more-likely-than-not to be sustained and (2) measuring the amount of tax benefit that qualifies for recognition.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company accrued liabilities of $6.7 million with respect to uncertain tax positions including transfer
pricing.

Auditing the recognition and measurement of tax positions related to transfer pricing was especially challenging due to first
establishing the technical merits of the income tax position for purposes of recognition and second due to the measurement of the
tax position. The key assumptions used in determining the reserve for the uncertain tax positions related to transfer pricing are how
the taxing authority would classify the relevant related parties and the royalty rates and operating margins by jurisdiction that are
utilized in transfer pricing as well as the probabilities applied to the scenarios utilized to calculate the amount of benefit to
recognize.

�+�R�Z���: �H���$�G�G�U�H�V�V�H�G
�W�K�H���0�D�W�W�H�U���L�Q���2�X�U
�$�X�G�L�W

 

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
accounting process to assess the technical merits of tax positions related to transfer pricing including evaluating certain
intercompany transactions and to measure the potential exposure to reserve for those tax positions. This included controls over the
completeness of the tax positions evaluated for recognition and measurement and the probabilities applied to each scenario.

To test the reserve for uncertain tax positions related to transfer pricing, our audit procedures included, among others, involving our
tax and transfer price professionals to assist us in assessing the technical merits and measurement of certain of the Company’s tax
positions. This included assessing the Company’s correspondence with the relevant tax authorities and evaluating income tax
opinions and other third-party advice obtained by the Company. To support our evaluation, we used our knowledge of and
experience with the application of international, transfer pricing and local income tax laws by the relevant income tax authorities to
evaluate the Company’s accounting for those uncertain tax positions. We analyzed the Company’s assumptions and data used to
determine the amount of tax position to recognize and tested the accuracy of the calculations. We have also evaluated the
Company’s income tax disclosures included in Note 10 of the financial statements in relation to these matters.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2005.

Austin, Texas

February 20, 2020
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�5�H�S�R�U�W���R�I���,�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���5�H�J�L�V�W�H�U�H�G���3�X�E�O�L�F���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���)�L�U�P

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of National Instruments Corporation

�2�S�L�Q�L�R�Q���R�Q���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O���R�Y�H�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J

We have audited National Instruments Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, National Instruments Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and our report dated February 20, 2020
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

�%�D�V�L�V���I�R�U���2�S�L�Q�L�R�Q

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

�' �H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���/ �L�P�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���,�Q�W�H�U�Q�D�O���&�R�Q�W�U�R�O���2�Y�H�U���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Austin, Texas

February 20, 2020
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�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1����
�&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�' ���%�$�/ �$�1�&�(���6�+�(�(�7�6  

(in thousands, except share and per share data)  
  

��

 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

�$�V�V�H�W�V     
Current assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 194,616  $ 259,386
Short-term investments  237,983  271,396
Accounts receivable, net  248,872  242,955
Inventories, net  200,410  194,146
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  65,477  54,337

Total current assets  947,358  1,022,220
Property and equipment, net  243,717  245,201
Goodwill  262,242  264,530
Intangible assets, net  84,083  110,783
Operating lease right-of-use assets  70,407  —
Other long-term assets  44,082  28,501

Total assets  $ 1,651,889  $ 1,671,235
�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���V�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�
���H�T�X�L�W�\     

Current liabilities:     
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 52,192  $ 48,388
Accrued compensation  47,732  45,821
Deferred revenue - current  131,445  127,288
Other lease liabilities - current  13,431  —
Other taxes payable  40,607  35,574
Other current liabilities  20,716  25,913

Total current liabilities  306,123  282,984
Deferred income taxes  14,065  25,457
Income tax payable - non-current  69,151  74,546
Liability for uncertain tax positions  6,652  9,775
Deferred revenue - non-current  33,480  32,636
Operating lease liabilities - non-current  40,650  —
Other long-term liabilities  5,418  7,479

Total liabilities  475,539  432,877
Commitments and contingencies   
Stockholders' equity:     

Preferred stock:  par value $0.01; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding  —  —
Common stock:  par value $0.01; 360,000,000 shares authorized; 130,504,535 and 132,655,941 shares

issued and outstanding, respectively  1,305  1,327
Additional paid-in capital  953,578  897,544
Retained earnings  242,537  356,418
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (21,070)  (16,931)

Total stockholders’ equity  1,176,350  1,238,358
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,651,889  $ 1,671,235

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1����
�&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�' ���6�7�$�7�(�0 �(�1�7�6���2�)���,�1�&�2�0 �(   

(in thousands, except per share data)  
��

 �)�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Net sales:       
Product  $ 1,215,014  $ 1,220,027  $ 1,173,476
Software maintenance  138,201  139,105  115,910

Total net sales  1,353,215  1,359,132  1,289,386

      
Cost of sales:       

Product  329,364  325,208  318,863
Software maintenance  7,527  8,519  9,461

Total cost of sales  336,891  333,727  328,324

      
Gross profit  1,016,324  1,025,405  961,062

      
Operating expenses:       

Sales and marketing  473,392  482,576  477,921
Research and development  272,452  261,072  231,761
General and administrative  122,768  108,878  105,602
Gain on sale of assets  (26,842)  —  —

Total operating expenses  841,770  852,526  815,284

      
Operating income  174,554  172,879  145,778

      
Other income (expense):       

Interest income  8,129  5,896  2,276
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain  (1,846)  (3,423)  892
Other (expense) income, net  (293)  1,101  (1,566)

Income before income taxes  180,544  176,453  147,380
Provision for income taxes  18,393  21,396  94,969

      
Net income  $ 162,151  $ 155,057  $ 52,411

      
Basic earnings per share  $ 1.23  $ 1.17  $ 0.40

      
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic  131,722  131,987  130,300

      
Diluted earnings per share  $ 1.22  $ 1.16  $ 0.40

      
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted  132,734  133,274  131,387

      
Dividends declared per share  $ 1.00  $ 0.92  $ 0.84

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1����
���&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�'  �6�7�$�7�(�0 �(�1�7�6���2�)���&�2�0 �3�5�(�+�(�1�6�,�9�(���,�1�&�2�0 �(   

(in thousands)  
  

��

 �)�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

      
Net income  $ 162,151  $ 155,057  $ 52,411
Other comprehensive income, before tax and net of reclassification adjustments:       

Foreign currency translation adjustment  (3,346)  (9,768)  24,470
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available-for-sale  1,141  (378)  (120)
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments  (2,629)  12,525  (9,488)

Other comprehensive income, before tax  (4,834)  2,379  14,862
Tax (benefit) provision related to items of other comprehensive income  (695)  2,801  (3,250)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax  (4,139)  (422)  18,112
Comprehensive income  $ 158,012  $ 154,635  $ 70,523

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1����
�&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�' ���6�7�$�7�(�0 �(�1�7�6���2�)���&�$�6�+���)�/ �2�: �6  

(in thousands)

 �)�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

�&�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���I�U�R�P���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V��       
Net income  $ 162,151  $ 155,057  $ 52,411

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:       
Depreciation and amortization  73,541  70,667  72,695
Stock-based compensation  51,438  37,616  29,145
Disposal gain on sale of assets  (26,842)  —  —
Tax benefit from deferred income taxes  (12,680)  (11,738)  (5,774)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of effects of acquisitions):       
Accounts receivable  (7,193)  8,446  (15,269)
Inventories  (6,773)  (10,642)  10,154
Prepaid expenses and other assets  (7,926)  12,628  1,971
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  4,034  (3,976)  1,584
Deferred revenue  5,579  19,061  1,791
Taxes, accrued compensation, and other current liabilities  (10,924)  (2,539)  75,734

Net cash provided by operating activities  224,405  274,580  224,442

      
�&�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���I�U�R�P���L�Q�Y�H�V�W�L�Q�J���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V��       
Capital expenditures  (60,857)  (34,659)  (30,256)
Proceeds from sale of assets  32,492  —  —
Capitalization of internally developed software  (9,065)  (14,208)  (41,662)
Additions to other intangibles  (1,209)  (5,399)  (2,384)
Acquisitions of equity-method investments  (13,670)  —  —
Acquisitions, net of cash received  —  (5,534)  —
Purchases of short-term investments  (185,267)  (313,726)  (87,735)
Sales and maturities of short-term investments  219,628  163,530  39,627

Net cash used in investing activities  (17,948)  (209,996)  (122,410)

      
�&�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���I�U�R�P���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�Q�J���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V��       
Principal payments on revolving line of credit  —  —  (25,000)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  33,191  31,601  29,094
Repurchase of common stock  (171,316)  —  —
Dividends paid  (131,855)  (121,537)  (109,551)
Other  (837)  (907)  (842)

Net cash used in financing activities  (270,817)  (90,843)  (106,299)

      
�( �I�I�H�F�W���R�I���H�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H���U�D�W�H���F�K�D�Q�J�H�V���R�Q���F�D�V�K  (410)  (4,519)  9,148
       
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (64,770)  (30,778)  4,881
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  259,386  290,164  285,283

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 194,616  $ 259,386  $ 290,164

Supplemental disclosures:       
Interest paid  $ —  $ 78  $ 478
Income taxes paid  $ 46,096  $ 32,786  $ 38,033

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1����
�&�2�1�6�2�/ �,�' �$�7�(�' ���6�7�$�7�(�0 �(�1�7�6���2�)���6�7�2�&�. �+�2�/ �' �( �5�6�
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�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  129,202,979  1,292  771,346  376,202  (34,621)  1,114,219
Net income  —  —  —  52,411  —  52,411

Other comprehensive income,
net of tax  —    —  —  18,112  18,112

Issuance of common stock under
employee plans, including tax
benefits  1,775,968  18  29,076  —  —  29,094
Stock-based compensation  —  —  29,557  —  —  29,557
Adoption of ASU 2016-16  —  —  —  (5,821)  —  (5,821)
Dividends paid  —  —  —  (109,551)  —  (109,551)

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  130,978,947  1,310  829,979  313,241  (16,509)  1,128,021

Net income  —  —  —  155,057  —  155,057
Other comprehensive income,
net of tax  —    —  —  (422)  (422)

Issuance of common stock under
employee plans, including tax
benefits  1,676,994  17  30,677  —  —  30,694
Stock-based compensation  —  —  36,888  —  —  36,888
Adoption of ASU 2014-09  —  —  —  9,657    9,657
Dividends paid  —  —  —  (121,537)  —  (121,537)

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  132,655,941  $ 1,327  $ 897,544  $ 356,418  $ (16,931)  $ 1,238,358

Net income  —  —  —  162,151  —  162,151
Other comprehensive income,
net of tax  —    —  —  (4,139)  (4,139)

Issuance of common stock under
employee plans, including tax
benefits  1,848,594  18  32,336  —  —  32,354
Stock-based compensation  —  —  50,797  —  —  50,797
Repurchase of common stock  (4,000,000)  (40)  (27,099)  (144,177)  —  (171,316)
Dividends paid  —  —  —  (131,855)  —  (131,855)

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  130,504,535  $ 1,305  $ 953,578  $ 242,537  $ (21,070)  $ 1,176,350
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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�1�R�W�H�����������2�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���V�X�P�P�D�U�\���R�I���V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���S�R�O�L�F�L�H�V

National Instruments Corporation (the "Company," "NI," "we," "us" or "our") is a Delaware corporation. We provide flexible application software
and modular, multifunction hardware that users combine with industry-standard computers, networks and third-party devices to create automated test and
automated measurement systems. Our software-centric approach helps our customers quickly and cost-effectively design, prototype and deploy custom-
defined solutions for their design, control and test application needs. We offer hundreds of products used to create virtual instrumentation systems for general,
commercial, industrial and scientific applications. Our products may be used in different environments, and consequently, specific application of our products
is determined by the customer and often is not known to us.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

�3�U�L�Q�F�L�S�O�H�V���R�I���F�R�Q�V�R�O�L�G�D�W�L�R�Q

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of National Instruments Corporation and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

�8�V�H���R�I���H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�V

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our
estimates on past experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing
basis. Our critical accounting policies are those that affect our financial statements materially and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by
management. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact the company in the future,
actual results may be materially different from the estimates.

�*�D�L�Q���R�Q���6�D�O�H���R�I���$�V�V�H�W�V

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, we recognized a gain of $26.8 million from the sale of our 136,000 square foot office building
and property located at 6504 Bridgepoint Parkway, Austin, Texas. At the time of sale, we did not occupy the building and had been leasing the building to
third parties for several years. The disposal gain is presented as "Gain on sale of assets" in the Consolidated Statements of Income, in accordance with ASC
360 - �3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\�����3�O�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W.

�$�V�V�H�W�V���K�H�O�G���I�R�U���V�D�O�H

On December 2, 2019, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with Cadence Design Systems, Inc. ("Cadence") for Cadence to acquire AWR
Corporation, our wholly owned subsidiary (the "Transaction"). The transaction closed on January 15, 2020. The purchase price for the Transaction was
approximately $160 million in cash and we expect to recognize a gain on the divestment of approximately $123 million, net of taxes, during the first quarter
of 2020. Approximately 110 AWR employees joined Cadence, effective as of the date of closing.

AWR provides software products used by microwave and RF engineers to design wireless products for complex, high-frequency RF applications.
The technology helps customers accelerate the design and product development cycle of systems used in communications, aerospace and defense,
semiconductor, computer, and consumer electronics, by helping reduce the time it takes to go from concept to manufacturing.
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Assets held-for-sale as of December 31, 2019 were included within the following line items on our Consolidated Balance Sheets:

  Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands)  ��������

�$�V�V�H�W�V   
   Cash  $ 6,015
   Accounts receivable, net  9,544
   Prepaids and other current assets  291
   Property, plant and equipment, net  268
   Goodwill  7,593
   Intangibles, net  141
   Operating lease right-of-use assets  461
   Other long-term assets  119

Total Assets  $ 24,432

   

�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V   
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 1,030

Accrued compensation  1,474
   Deferred revenue  17,851
   Other current liabilities  503
   Operating lease liabilities - non-current  290
Total Liabilities  21,148

Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale  $ 3,284

�5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���5�H�F�R�J�Q�L�W�L�R�Q

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of the promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we
expect to receive in exchange for those products or services. We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of our products or services, which
are generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Revenue is recognized net of allowances for returns and any
taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

�,�P�S�D�F�W���R�I���D�G�R�S�W�L�Q�J���7�R�S�L�F��������
    

On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective transition method. Under the modified retrospective transition
approach, periods prior to the adoption date were not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with historical GAAP. A cumulative catch-up
adjustment was recorded to beginning retained earnings to reflect the impact of all existing arrangements under the new revenue standard. The impact of
adopting the new revenue standard for the year ended December 31, 2018 is further discussed under ���5�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���$�G�R�S�W�H�G���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�Q�R�X�Q�F�H�P�H�Q�W�V����

�1�D�W�X�U�H���R�I���*�R�R�G�V���D�Q�G���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V

We derive revenues from two primary sources: products and software maintenance.

�3�U�R�G�X�F�W���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V��are primarily generated from the sale of off-the-shelf modular test and measurement hardware components and related drivers, and
application software licenses. Sales of most hardware components may also include optional extended hardware warranties, which typically provide
additional service-type coverage for three years from the purchase date. Our software licenses typically provide for a perpetual right to use our software. We
also offer some term-based software licenses that expire, which are referred to as subscription arrangements. We do not customize software for customers and
installation services are not required. The software is delivered before related services are provided and is functional without professional services, updates
and technical support. We sell our customer support contracts as a percentage of net software purchases to which the support is related. Revenues from
offerings related to our hardware and software products such
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as extended hardware warranties, training, consulting and installation services are not significant and are presented within product revenues, as further
discussed below.

�6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H���P�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H revenues consists of post-contract customer support that provides the customer with unspecified upgrades and technical support.
For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate
performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. Standalone selling prices of software licenses are estimated based on our established
pricing practices and maximize the use of observable inputs. Standalone selling prices of hardware products are typically estimated based on observable
transactions when these services are sold on a standalone basis. Our typical performance obligations include the following:

�3�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���2�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q
�: �K�H�Q���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H
�R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���W�\�S�L�F�D�O�O�\
�V�D�W�L�V�I�L�H�G

�: �K�H�Q
�S�D�\�P�H�Q�W
�L�V
�W�\�S�L�F�D�O�O�\
�G�X�H

�+�R�Z���V�W�D�Q�G�D�O�R�Q�H���V�H�O�O�L�Q�J���S�U�L�F�H���L�V���W�\�S�L�F�D�O�O�\
�H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�G

�3�U�R�G�X�F�W���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H

Modular hardware
When customer obtains
control of the product
(point-in-time)

Within
30-90
days of
shipment

Observable in transactions without multiple
performance obligations

Software licenses

When software media is
delivered to customer or
made available for
download electronically,
and the applicable license
period has begun (point-
in-time)

Within
30-90
days of
the
beginning
of license
period

Perpetual/Subscription licenses: Value
relationships based on (i) the directly
observable pricing of the license bundled with
software maintenance and (ii) the directly
observable pricing of software maintenance
renewals, when they are sold on a standalone
basis.

Enterprise-wide term licenses: Residual
method

Extended hardware warranty
Ratably over the course of
the support contract (over
time)

Within
30-90
days of
the
beginning
of the
contract
period

Observable in renewal transactions

Other related support offerings
As work is performed
(over time) or course is
delivered (point-in-time)

Within
30-90
days of
delivery

Observable in transactions without multiple
performance obligations

�6�R�I�W�Z�D�U�H���P�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H

Software maintenance
Ratably over the course of
the support contract (over
time)

Within
30-90
days of
the
beginning
of the
contract
period

Observable in renewal transactions

�6�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���-�X�G�J�P�H�Q�W�V

Judgment is required to determine the standalone selling price ("SSP") for each distinct performance obligation. We use a single amount to estimate
SSP for items that are not sold separately, including perpetual and term licenses sold with software maintenance. We use a range of amounts to estimate SSP
when we sell each of the products and services separately and need to determine whether there is a discount that needs to be allocated based on the relative
SSP of the various products and services.

Due to the various benefits from and the nature of our enterprise agreement program, judgment is required to assess the pattern of delivery, including
the exercise pattern of certain benefits across our portfolio of customers. Additionally, whether a renewal option represents a distinct performance obligation
could significantly impact the timing of revenue recognized.

Our products are generally sold with a right of return which is accounted for as variable consideration when estimating the amount of revenue to
recognize. Returns and credits are estimated at contract inception and updated at the end of each reporting period as additional information becomes available
and only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of any incremental revenue will not occur. During the first quarter of 2018, we began to
reclassify our allowance for sales returns to
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"other current liabilities" from "accounts receivable, net" due to the adoption of ASU 2014-09. Changes to our estimated variable consideration were not
material for the periods presented.

�&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H�V

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment from customers. We record a receivable when revenue is recognized prior to
invoicing, or deferred revenue when revenue is recognized subsequent to invoicing. Based on the nature of our contracts with customers, we do not typically
recognize unbilled receivables related to revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. For the year ended December 31, 2019, amounts recognized related
to unbilled receivables were not material.

    
In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we have determined our contracts generally do not include

a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with efficient and predictable ways of purchasing our
products and services, not to receive financing from our customers or to provide customers with financing. Examples include invoicing at the beginning of a
maintenance service term with revenue recognized ratably over the contract period.

�$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���5�H�F�H�L�Y�D�E�O�H

Accounts receivable are recorded net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $3.5 million at each of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Our allowance for
doubtful accounts is based on historical experience. We analyze historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness and current
economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts.

(In thousands)       

Year  �' �H�V�F�U�L�S�W�L�R�Q  

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W
�%�H�J�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�I

�3�H�U�L�R�G  �3�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q�V  �: �U�L�W�H���2�I�I�V  
�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���(�Q�G

�R�I���3�H�U�L�R�G

2017  Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 1,867  $ 1,383  358  $ 2,892
2018  Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 2,892  $ 1,135  537  $ 3,490
2019  Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 3,490  $ 396  343  $ 3,543

�&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���/�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V

We recognize contract liabilities, presented in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as "Deferred revenue" when we have an obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which we have received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. Refer to Note 2 - Revenue of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information, including changes in our contract liability during the year ended December 31, 2019.

�5�H�I�X�Q�G���/�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\

A refund liability for estimated sales returns is made by reducing recorded revenue based on historical experience. We analyze historical returns,
current economic trends and changes in customer demand of our products when evaluating the adequacy of our sales returns refund liability. Our sales return
refund liability was $2.6 million and $2.3 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As further discussed in Note 2 - Revenue, we adopted the
new revenue standard on January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method. Under the modified retrospective method of adoption, we did not adjust
our comparative periods to reflect the adoption of the new revenue standard. In accordance with the new revenue standard, our sales return refund liability as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was presented in "Other Current Liabilities" on our balance sheet.

�$�V�V�H�W�V���5�H�F�R�J�Q�L�]�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���&�R�V�W�V���W�R���2�E�W�D�L�Q���D���&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���Z�L�W�K���D���&�X�V�W�R�P�H�U

We recognize an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if we expect the benefit of those costs to be longer than one
year. We have determined that certain sales incentive programs meet the requirements to be capitalized. Capitalized incremental costs related to initial
contracts and renewals are amortized over the same period because the commissions paid on both the initial contract and renewals are commensurate with one
another. Total capitalized costs to obtain a contract were not material during the periods presented and are included in other long-term assets on our
consolidated balance sheets. The net effect of capitalization and amortization of these costs was not material to our results of operating during the periods
presented.
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�6�K�L�S�S�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���K�D�Q�G�O�L�Q�J���F�R�V�W�V

Our shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales, and the associated expense is recorded in cost of sales.

�&�D�V�K���D�Q�G���F�D�V�K���H�T�X�L�Y�D�O�H�Q�W�V

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

�,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V

We value our available-for-sale debt instruments based on pricing from third-party pricing vendors, who may use quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets (Level 1 inputs) or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs) in determining fair value.
We classify all of our fixed income available-for-sale securities as having Level 2 inputs. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of our
financial instruments having Level 2 inputs were derived from non-binding market consensus prices that are corroborated by observable market data, quoted
market prices for similar instruments, or pricing models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. We believe all of these sources reflect the credit risk
associated with each of our available-for-sale debt investments. Short-term investments consist of available-for-sale debt securities issued by states of the U.S.
and political subdivisions of the U.S., corporate debt securities and debt securities issued by U.S. government organizations and agencies. All short-term
investments have contractual maturities of less than 60 months.

Our investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and accordingly are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses
reported as other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses are charged against income when a decline in fair value is
determined to be other than temporary. Investments with maturities beyond one year are classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and
because such marketable securities represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations.

The fair value of our short-term investments in debt securities at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $238 million and $271 million,
respectively. The decrease was due to the net sale of $34 million of short-term investments. We had $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that
were denominated in Euro at December 31, 2019. 

We follow the guidance provided by FASB ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions are other than temporarily
impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary are determined based on the specific identification method and
are reported in other income (expense), net, in our Consolidated Statements of Income. In addition, we from time to time make equity investments in non-
publicly traded companies. Equity investments in which we do not have control but have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies, are accounted for using the equity method. Our proportionate share of income or loss is recorded in "Other income (expense), net "in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. All other non-marketable equity investments do not have readily determinable fair values and are recorded at cost minus
impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from qualifying observable price changes. We periodically review our non-marketable equity investments
for other-than-temporary declines in fair value and write-down specific investments to their fair values when we determine that an other-than-temporary
decline has occurred. Our non-marketable equity investments were not material at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

We did not identify or record any other-than-temporary impairments on our investment securities during 2019, 2018, and 2017.  
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�,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�R�U�L�H�V�����Q�H�W

Inventories are stated at the lower-of-cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using standard costs, which approximate the first-in first-out
(“FIFO”) method. Cost includes the acquisition cost of purchased components, parts and subassemblies, in-bound freight costs, labor and overhead.

Inventory is shown net of adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories of $15.5 million, $15.4 million and $16.4 million at December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively.

(In thousands)           

Year  �' �H�V�F�U�L�S�W�L�R�Q  

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W
�%�H�J�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�I

�3�H�U�L�R�G  �3�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q�V  �: �U�L�W�H���2�I�I�V  
�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���(�Q�G

�R�I���3�H�U�L�R�G

2017  Adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories  $ 12,639  $ 7,130  3,322  $ 16,447
2018  Adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories  $ 16,447  $ 7,870  8,932  $ 15,385
2019  Adjustment for excess and obsolete inventories  $ 15,385  $ 6,046  5,942  $ 15,489

�3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���D�Q�G���H�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W�����Q�H�W

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from twenty to forty years for buildings, and three to seven years for purchased internal use software and for equipment which are each included
in furniture and equipment.

�,�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H���D�V�V�H�W�V�����Q�H�W

We capitalize costs related to the development and acquisition of certain software products. Capitalization of costs begins when technological
feasibility has been established and ends when the product is available for general release to customers. Technological feasibility for our products is
established when the product is available for beta release. Amortization is computed on an individual product basis for those products available for market
and is recognized based on the product’s estimated economic life, generally three to six years.

We use the services of outside counsel to search for, document, and apply for patents. Those costs, along with any filing or application fees, are
capitalized. Costs related to patents which are abandoned are written off. Once a patent is granted, the patent costs are amortized ratably over the legal life of
the patent, generally ten to seventeen years.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or the asset.

At each balance sheet date, the unamortized costs for all intangible assets are reviewed by management and reduced to net realizable value when
necessary.

�*�R�R�G�Z�L�O�O

The excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We have one operating segment and one reporting unit.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, in the fourth quarter of each year, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist,
using a fair-value-based approach based on the market capitalization of the reporting unit. No impairment of goodwill was identified during our annual testing
of goodwill performed as of November 30, 2019 and 2018. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions.
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�&�R�Q�F�H�Q�W�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���F�U�H�G�L�W���U�L�V�N

At December 31, 2019, we had $433 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Our cash and cash equivalent balances are held in
numerous financial institutions throughout the world, including substantial amounts held outside of the U.S., however, the majority of our short-term
investments that are located outside of the U.S. are denominated in the U.S. dollar with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds
that are denominated in Euro. The most significant of our operating accounts was our Malaysian Citibank operating account which held approximately $13
million or 7% of our total cash and cash equivalents at a bank that carried Baa1/BBB+/A ratings at December 31, 2019.

The following table presents the geographic distribution of our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments as of December 31, 2019 (in
millions):

 Domestic International Total
Cash and Cash Equivalents $55.9 $138.7 $194.6
 ������ ������  
Short-term Investments $164.3 $73.7 $238.0
 ������ ������  
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments $220.2 $212.4 $432.6
 ������ ������  

The goal of our investment policy is to manage our investment portfolio to preserve principal and liquidity while maximizing the return on our
investment portfolio through the full investment of available funds. We place our cash investments in instruments that meet credit quality standards, as
specified in our corporate investment policy guidelines. These guidelines also limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issue, issuer or type of
instrument. Our cash equivalents and short-term investments carried ratings from the major credit rating agencies that were in accordance with our corporate
investment policy. Our investment policy allows investments in the following: government and federal agency obligations, repurchase agreements (“Repos”),
certificates of deposit and time deposits, corporate obligations, medium term notes and deposit notes, commercial paper including asset-backed commercial
paper (“ABCP”), puttable bonds, general obligation and revenue bonds, money market funds, taxable commercial paper, corporate notes/bonds, municipal
notes, municipal obligations and tax exempt commercial paper. All such instruments must carry minimum ratings of A1/P1/F1, MIG1/VMIG1/SP1 and
A2/A/A, as applicable, all of which are considered “investment grade”. Our investment policy for marketable securities requires that all securities mature
in five years or less, with a weighted average maturity of no longer than 24 months with at least 10% maturing in 90 days or less. (See Note 3 – Short-term
investments of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion and analysis of our investments).

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is limited due to our large number of customers and their dispersion across
many countries and industries. No single customer accounted for more than 3% of our sales for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. The largest trade account receivable from any individual customer at December 31, 2019 was approximately $4.6 million.

�. �H�\���V�X�S�S�O�L�H�U���U�L�V�N

Our manufacturing processes use large volumes of high-quality components and subassemblies supplied by outside sources. Several of these items
are available through sole or limited sources. Supply shortages or quality problems in connection with these key items could require us to procure items from
replacement suppliers, which would cause significant delays in fulfillment of orders and likely result in additional costs. In order to manage this risk, we
maintain safety stock of some of these single sourced components and subassemblies and perform regular assessments of a suppliers' performance, grading
key suppliers in critical areas such as quality and “on-time” delivery.
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�: �D�U�U�D�Q�W�\���U�H�V�H�U�Y�H

We offer a one-year limited warranty on most hardware products which is included in the terms of sale of such products. We also offer optional
extended warranties on our hardware products for which the related revenue is recognized ratably over the warranty period. Provision is made for estimated
future warranty costs at the time of the sale for the estimated costs that may be incurred under the limited warranty. Our estimate is based on historical
experience and product sales during the period.

The warranty reserve for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was as follows:

(In thousands)     
 ��������  ��������  ��������

Balance at the beginning of the year  $ 3,173  $ 2,846  $ 2,686
Accruals for warranties issued during the year  2,356  3,026  2,644
Accruals related to pre-existing warranties  (376)  389  274
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the year  (2,592)  (3,088)  (2,758)
Balance at the end of the year  $ 2,561  $ 3,173  $ 2,846

�/ �R�V�V���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�J�H�Q�F�L�H�V

We accrue for probable losses from contingencies including legal defense costs, on an undiscounted basis����when such costs are considered probable
of being incurred and are reasonably estimable. We periodically evaluate available information, both internal and external, relative to such contingencies and
adjust this accrual as necessary.��

�$�G�Y�H�U�W�L�V�L�Q�J���H�[�S�H�Q�V�H

We expense costs of advertising as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $7 million, $8
million, and $11 million, respectively.

�) �R�U�H�L�J�Q���F�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\���W�U�D�Q�V�O�D�W�L�R�Q

The functional currency for our international sales operations is the applicable local currency. The assets and liabilities of these operations are
translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance sheet date and sales and expenses are translated at average rates. The resulting gains or losses from
translation are included in a separate component of other comprehensive income. Gains and losses resulting from re-measuring monetary asset and liability
accounts that are denominated in a currency other than a subsidiary’s functional currency are included in net foreign exchange gain (loss) and are included in
net income.

�) �R�U�H�L�J�Q���F�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J���L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V

All of our derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair value. We currently use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
our exposure to material foreign currency denominated receivables and forecasted foreign currency cash flows.

On the date the derivative contract is entered into, we designate the derivative as a hedge of the variability of foreign currency cash flows to be
received or paid (“cash flow” hedge) or as a hedge of our foreign denominated net receivable positions (“other derivatives”). Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges and that are deemed to be highly effective are recorded in other comprehensive income. These
amounts are subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is realized. The gain or loss on the other derivatives as
well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings under the line item “Net foreign
exchange gain (loss)”. We do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk-management objective and strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions at the inception of the hedge. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges to
specific forecasted transactions. We also formally assess, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.

We prospectively discontinue hedge accounting if (1) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of a hedged item (forecasted transactions); or (2) the derivative is de-designated as a hedge instrument, because it is unlikely that a forecasted
transaction will occur. When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative is sold, and the resulting gains and losses are recognized immediately in
earnings.
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�,�Q�F�R�P�H���W�D�[�H�V

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected tax
consequences of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts. We account for GILTI in deferred taxes.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts which are more likely than not to be realized. Judgment is
required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual
outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact our financial position or our results of operations. In estimating future tax consequences, all
expected future events are considered other than enactments of changes in tax laws or rates. We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our
financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected
to be taken on our tax returns. Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

�( �D�U�Q�L�Q�J�V���S�H�U���V�K�D�U�H

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each
period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding (if
dilutive) during each period. The number of common share equivalents, which include stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”), is computed using
the treasury stock method.

The reconciliation of the denominators used to calculate basic EPS and diluted EPS for years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 are as
follows:

 �<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

(In thousands)  ��������  ��������  ��������

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic  131,722  131,987  130,300
Plus: Common share equivalents       

RSUs  1,012  1,287  1,087
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted  132,734  133,274  131,387

Stock awards to acquire 94,206 shares, 11,352 shares, and 32,400 shares for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, were
excluded in the computations of diluted EPS because the effect of including the stock awards would have been anti-dilutive.

�6�W�R�F�N���E�D�V�H�G���F�R�P�S�H�Q�V�D�W�L�R�Q

Stock-based compensation costs are based on the fair value on the date of grant for all restricted stock units ("RSUs") and on the date of enrollment
for the employee stock purchase plan. We recognize compensation expense ratably over the requisite service period of the awards. PRSUs are RSU awards
that vest based on a market condition. The market condition currently used is our stockholder return relative to the total stockholder return of the companies
included in the Russell 2000 Index at the end of the three-year performance period.

The fair values of RSUs, with service-based vesting conditions, are estimated using their market price on the date of grant. The fair values of rights
under employee stock purchase plans are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair values of PRSUs are estimated using a Monte
Carlo simulation. The determination of fair value of the PRSUs is affected by our stock price and a number of assumptions including the expected volatility,
expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate. Our expected volatility at the date of grant was based on the historical volatilities of our stock and the
companies included in the Russell 2000 Index over the performance period. Refer to Note 12 – Authorized shares of common and preferred stock and stock-
based compensation plans for additional information on our equity-based compensation programs.

�&�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�Y�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H

Our comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation and unrealized gains and losses on forward contracts and
securities available-for-sale. Comprehensive income in 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $158 million, $155 million and $71 million, respectively.
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�5�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���$�G�R�S�W�H�G���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�Q�R�X�Q�F�H�P�H�Q�W�V

�/�H�D�V�H�V

In 2016, the FASB established Topic 842, Leases, by issuing new lease accounting guidance which supersedes ASC 840, Leases, and requires lessees
to recognize leases on-balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Topic 842, as amended (the "new lease standard"), establishes
a right-of-use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12
months. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the income
statement.

We adopted the new lease standard on January 1, 2019 and used the effective date as our date of initial adoption. Consequently, financial information
will not be updated, and the disclosures required under the new lease standard will not be provided for earlier periods.

We have completed a qualitative and quantitative assessment of our lease portfolio, in which the new lease standard had a material impact on our
consolidated balance sheet but did not have an impact on our consolidated income statement. Upon adoption, we recognized lease liabilities of approximately
$52 million, with corresponding ROU assets of the same amount, based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments under current leasing
standards for our existing operating leases. We reclassified approximately $19 million from "Property, plant and equipment, net" to "Operating lease right-of-
use assets" related to prepaid leasehold land.

The new lease standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. We elected the "package of practical expedients", which
permits us not to reassess under the new lease standard our prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs. The new
lease standard also provides practical expedients for an entity's ongoing accounting. We elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that
qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, we will not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing ROU assets or lease
liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition. We also elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for
our office leases.

The cumulative effects of the changes made to our consolidated January 1, 2019 balance sheet for the adoption of the new lease standard were as
follows (in thousands):

 
�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W

�' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������
�$�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V���' �X�H���W�R
�1�H�Z���/ �H�D�V�H���6�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���-�D�Q�X�D�U�\
��������������

    

�$�V�V�H�W�V    
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 245,201 $ (18,606) $ 226,595
Operating lease right-of-use assets — $ 68,938 $ 68,938

Total Assets 245,201 50,332 295,533
    

�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�
���( �T�X�L�W�\    
Operating lease liabilities, current — $ 18,597 $ 18,597
Operating lease liabilities, non-current — $ 33,853 $ 33,853
Other current liabilities $ 25,913 $ (2,118) $ 23,795

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 25,913 $ 50,332 $ 76,245

Total Assets less Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 219,288 $ — $ 219,288
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�5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���I�U�R�P���&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�V���Z�L�W�K���&�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V

On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective transition method. Under this method, we evaluated all
contracts that were not completed at the beginning of 2018 as if those contracts had been accounted for under the new revenue standard. We did not evaluate
individual modifications for those periods prior to the adoption date, but the aggregate effect of all modifications as of the adoption date and such effects are
provided below. Under the modified retrospective transition approach, periods prior to the adoption date were not adjusted and continue to be reported in
accordance with historical GAAP. A cumulative catch-up adjustment was recorded to beginning retained earnings to reflect the impact of all existing
arrangements under the new revenue standard.

We do not expect the impact of the adoption of the new revenue standard to be material to our operating results on an ongoing basis. A majority of
our sales revenue continues to be recognized when products are shipped from our manufacturing facilities. Historically, we have had to defer revenue for
certain types of licenses arrangements and recognize revenue for such licenses ratably over the license term. Under the new revenue standard, we are no
longer required to establish vendor-specific objective evidence ("VSOE") to recognize software license revenue separately from the other elements, and we
are able to recognize all software license revenue once the customer obtains control of the license, which will generally occur at the start of each license term.

Under the modified retrospective method of adoption, we evaluated all contracts that were not completed at the beginning of 2018 as if those
contracts had been accounted for under the new revenue standard. We did not evaluate individual modifications for those periods prior to the adoption date,
but the aggregate effect of all modifications as of the adoption date and such effects are provided below.

The following tables present the amounts by which financial statement line items were affected during 2018 due to the adoption of the new revenue
standard. Our historical net cash flows were not impacted by this accounting change.

(In thousands) �%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������
��������

�$�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V���' �X�H���W�R���1�H�Z
�5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H���6�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G �%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�W���-�D�Q�X�D�U�\����������������

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W    
�$�V�V�H�W�V    
Accounts receivable, net 248,825 $ 2,399 251,224
Other long-term assets 32,553 1,065 33,618
    
�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�
���( �T�X�L�W�\    
Deferred revenue - current 120,638 (9,067) 111,571
Deferred revenue - long-term 33,742 (997) 32,745
Other current liabilities 23,782 2,100 25,882
Deferred income taxes 33,609 1,771 35,380
Retained earnings 313,241 $ 9,657 322,898
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The following tables present the amounts by which financial statement line items were affected in the year ended December 31, 2018 due to the adoption of
the new revenue standard. Our historical net cash flows are not impacted by this accounting change.

(In thousands)
�)�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U���H�Q�G�H�G
�' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 �,�Q�F�U�H�D�V�H���������' �H�F�U�H�D�V�H��

�&�R�Q�V�R�O�L�G�D�W�H�G���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���R�I���,�Q�F�R�P�H�
  
Products 7,911
�7�R�W�D�O���Q�H�W���V�D�O�H�V 7,911
�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���( �[�S�H�Q�V�H�V (153)
�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���,�Q�F�R�P�H 8,064
�3�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q���I�R�U���L�Q�F�R�P�H���W�D�[�H�V 1,299
�1�H�W���L�Q�F�R�P�H 6,765
*   Excludes line items that were not materially affected by our adoption of the new revenue standard  

(In thousands) �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 �,�Q�F�U�H�D�V�H���������' �H�F�U�H�D�V�H��

�&�R�Q�V�R�O�L�G�D�W�H�G���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W  
�$�V�V�H�W�V  
Accounts receivable, net 2,093
Other long-term assets 1,220
  

�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�
���( �T�X�L�W�\  
Deferred revenue - current (13,807)
Deferred revenue - non-current (4,417)
Other current liabilities 3,399
Deferred income taxes 1,771
Retained earnings 16,367
*   Excludes line items that were not materially affected by our adoption of the new revenue standard  

�*�R�R�G�Z�L�O�O

In 2017, the FASB issued new guidance that eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test, which previously measured an impairment loss by
comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with its carrying amount. Instead, an entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The new guidance is effective
for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual
goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We early adopted this guidance for fiscal year 2019 and there was no impact upon
adoption.

�+�H�G�J�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V

In 2017, the FASB issued new guidance that expands strategies that qualify for hedge accounting, changes how many hedging relationships are
presented in the financial statements and simplifies the application of hedge accounting in certain situations. On January 1, 2019, we adopted the new
guidance which did not have a material impact on our financial statements. We continue to assess opportunities enabled by the new standard to expand our
risk management strategies.
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�2�W�K�H�U���5�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���$�G�R�S�W�H�G���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�Q�R�X�Q�F�H�P�H�Q�W�V

We also adopted the following accounting pronouncement during 2019, which did not have a material impact on our financial statements:

In January 2018, the FASB issued new guidance which gives entities the option to reclassify to retained earnings tax effects resulting from the Tax
Act related to items that the FASB refers to as having been stranded in accumulated other comprehensive income ("OCI"). We adopted the new guidance
effective January 1, 2019, and we did not elect the option to reclassify to retained earnings the tax effects resulting from the Tax Act that are stranded in
accumulated OCI. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

�5�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���,�V�V�X�H�G���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�Q�R�X�Q�F�H�P�H�Q�W�V

       
In 2016, the FASB issued new guidance that requires credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net

amount expected to be collected, not based on incurred losses. Further, credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities should be recorded through an
allowance for credit losses limited to the amount by which fair value is below amortized cost. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. This standard impacts our accounting for allowances for doubtful accounts, available-
for-sale securities and other assets subject to credit risk. In preparation for the adoption of this standard, we will update our credit loss models as needed. We
have completed our analysis of the impact of this guidance and the adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

    
In 2018, the FASB issued new guidance on a customer's accounting for implementation, set-up, and other upfront costs incurred in a cloud

computing arrangement that is hosted by the vendor (i.e., a service contract). Under the new guidance, customers will apply the same criteria for capitalizing
implementation costs as they would for an arrangement that has a software license. This standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2019, including interim reporting periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In 2019, the FASB issued new guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles and
also simplification of areas such as franchise taxes, step-up in tax basis goodwill, separate entity financial statements and interim recognition of enactment of
tax laws or rate changes. The standard will be effective for our annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim reporting
periods within those fiscal years. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting guidance on our consolidated financial statements.
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�1�R�W�H�����������5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H

�' �L�V�D�J�J�U�H�J�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���5�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�V

We disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers based on the timing of transfer of goods or services to customers (point-in-time or over time) and
geographic region based on the billing location of the customer. The geographic regions that are tracked are the Americas (United States, Canada and Latin
America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) and APAC (Australia, Japan, South Korea, New Zealand, Southeast Asia and China). Total net
sales based on the disaggregation criteria described above are as follows:

   �<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������   

 ��������

(In thousands)       
�1�H�W���V�D�O�H�V��  �3�R�L�Q�W���L�Q���7�L�P�H  �2�Y�H�U���7�L�P�H  �7�R�W�D�O

Americas  $ 446,703  $ 91,976  $ 538,679
EMEIA  324,410  79,014  403,424
APAC  376,631  34,481  411,112
Total net sales (1)  $ 1,147,744  $ 205,471  $ 1,353,215
(1) Net sales contain hedging gains and losses, which do not represent revenues recognized from customers. See Note 5 -Derivative instruments and hedging
activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the impact of our hedging activities on our results of operations

   �<�H�D�U���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������   

 ��������

(In thousands)       
�1�H�W���V�D�O�H�V��  �3�R�L�Q�W���L�Q���7�L�P�H  �2�Y�H�U���7�L�P�H  �7�R�W�D�O

Americas  $ 451,047  $ 87,341  $ 538,388
EMEIA  356,070  76,907  432,977
APAC  355,024  32,743  387,767
Total net sales (1)  $ 1,162,141  $ 196,991  $ 1,359,132
(1) Net sales contain hedging gains and losses, which do not represent revenues recognized from customers. See Note 5 -Derivative instruments and hedging
activities of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the impact of our hedging activities on our results of operations

Total net sales by the major geographic areas in which we operate, are as follows:

(In thousands)  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ����������������

�1�H�W���V�D�O�H�V��       
Americas  $ 538,679  $ 538,388  $ 504,626
EMEIA  403,424  432,977  408,625
APAC  411,112  387,767  376,135

Total  $ 1,353,215  $ 1,359,132  $ 1,289,386
(1) As discussed in Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, prior periods have
not been adjusted for adoption of ASU 2014-09
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�,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���D�E�R�X�W���&�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H�V

Amounts collected in advance of services being provided are accounted for as deferred revenue. Nearly all of our deferred revenue balance is related to
extended hardware and software maintenance contracts. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although payment is typically due within 30 to
90 days of contract inception. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, we have determined our contracts
generally do not include a significant financing component. The primary purpose of our invoicing terms is to provide customers with simplified and
predictable ways of purchasing our products and services, not to receive financing from our customers, such as invoicing at the beginning of a subscription
term with a portion of the revenue recognized ratably over the contract period, or to provide customers with financing, such as multi-year on-premises
licenses that are invoiced annually with revenue recognized upfront.

Changes in deferred revenue, current and long-term, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:

�$�P�R�X�Q�W

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

Deferred Revenue at January 1, 2019 $ 159,924
   Deferral of revenue billed in current period, net of recognition 116,842
   Recognition of revenue deferred in prior periods (111,417)
   Foreign currency translation impact (424)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 164,925

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, revenue recognized from performance obligations related to prior periods (for example, due to
changes in transaction price) was not material. Amounts recognized as revenue in excess of amounts billed are recorded as unbilled receivables. Unbilled
receivables which are anticipated to be invoiced in the next twelve months are included in accounts receivable, net on the consolidated balance sheet. Based
on the nature of our contracts with customers, we do not typically recognize unbilled receivables related to revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed.
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, amounts recognized related to unbilled receivables were not material.

�8�Q�V�D�W�L�V�I�L�H�G���3�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���2�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V

Revenue expected to be recognized in any future period related to remaining performance obligations, excluding revenue pertaining to contracts that
have an original expected duration of one year or less, and excluding contracts where revenue is recognized as invoiced, was approximately $60.7 million as
of December 31, 2019. Since we typically invoice customers at contract inception, this amount is included in our current and non-current deferred revenue
balances. As of December 31, 2019, we expect to recognize approximately 49% of the revenue related to these unsatisfied performance obligations during
2020, 30% during 2021, and 21% thereafter.

�3�U�D�F�W�L�F�D�O���(�[�S�H�G�L�H�Q�W�V

As discussed in Note 1 - Operations and summary of significant accounting policies and elsewhere in Note 2 - Revenue of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, we have elected the following practical expedients in accordance with the new revenue standard:

• We generally expense sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year or less. These costs are recorded
within sales and marketing expenses.

• We do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less and (ii)
contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount to which we have the right to invoice for services performed.

• We do not consider the time value of money for contracts with original durations of one year or less.
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�1�R�W�H �� �����6�K�R�U�W���W�H�U�P���L�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V����

The following tables summarize unrealized gains and losses related to our short-term investments designated as available-for-sale:

(In thousands)  �$�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 Adjusted Cost  
Gross

Unrealized Gain  
Gross

 Unrealized Loss  Fair Value
Corporate bonds  $ 237,423  $ 628  $ (68)  $ 237,983
Short-term investments  $ 237,423  $ 628  $ (68)  $ 237,983

(In thousands)  �$�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 Adjusted Cost  
Gross

Unrealized Gain  
Gross

 Unrealized Loss  Fair Value
Corporate bonds  $ 235,045  $ 726  $ (1,298)  $ 234,473
U.S. treasuries and agencies  36,932  2  (11)  36,923
Short-term investments  $ 271,977  $ 728  $ (1,309)  $ 271,396

The following tables summarize the contractual maturities of our short-term investments designated as available-for-sale:

(In thousands)  �$�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 Adjusted Cost  Fair Value
Due in less than 1 year  $ 102,843  $ 103,239
Due in 1 to 5 years  134,580  134,744
Total available-for-sale debt securities  $ 237,423  $ 237,983

    
Due in less than 1 year  Adjusted Cost  Fair Value

Corporate bonds  $ 102,843  $ 103,239
Total available-for-sale debt securities  $ 102,843  $ 103,239

    
Due in 1 to 5 years  Adjusted Cost  Fair Value

Corporate bonds  134,580  134,744
Total available-for-sale debt securities  $ 134,580  $ 134,744

�( �T�X�L�W�\���0�H�W�K�R�G���,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V

The carrying value of our equity method investments was $15 million as of December 31, 2019. Our proportionate share of the income from equity-
method investments was not material for the periods presented.

�1�R�W�H�����������)�D�L�U���Y�D�O�X�H���P�H�D�V�X�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V��

We define fair value to be the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair
value, we consider the principal or most advantageous market that market participants may use when pricing the asset or liability.   

We follow a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value measurement is determined
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three values of the fair value hierarchy are the following:   

�/�H�Y�H�O�������� Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities   
�/�H�Y�H�O�������� Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly   
�/�H�Y�H�O�������� Inputs that are not based on observable market data   
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:
��

(In thousands)  �)�D�L�U���9�D�O�X�H���0 �H�D�V�X�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�W���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���' �D�W�H���8�V�L�Q�J

Description  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

�$�V�V�H�W�V         
Cash and cash equivalents available for sale:         

Money Market Funds  $ 87,397  $ 87,397  $ —  $ —
   Corporate notes and bonds  9,962  —  9,962  —
Short-term investments available for sale:         

Corporate bonds  237,983  —  237,983  —
Derivatives  8,209  —  8,209  —

�7�R�W�D�O���$�V�V�H�W�V  $ 343,551  $ 87,397  $ 256,154  $ —

        
�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V         
Derivatives  $ (2,872)  —  (2,872)  —

�7�R�W�D�O���/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V  $ (2,872)  $ —  $ (2,872)  $ —

(In thousands)  �)�D�L�U���9�D�O�X�H���0 �H�D�V�X�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V���D�W���5�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���' �D�W�H���8�V�L�Q�J

Description  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)

�$�V�V�H�W�V         
Cash and cash equivalents available for sale:         

Money Market Funds  $ 62,094  $ 62,094  $ —  $ —
   Corporate notes and bonds  9,979  —  9,979  —
Short-term investments available for sale:         

Corporate bonds  234,473  —  234,473  —
U.S. treasuries and agencies  36,923  —  36,923  —
Derivatives  9,369  —  9,369  —

�7�R�W�D�O���$�V�V�H�W�V  $ 352,838  $ 62,094  $ 290,744  $ —

        
�/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V         
Derivatives  $ (1,483)  $ —  $ (1,483)  $ —

�7�R�W�D�O���/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V  $ (1,483)  $ —  $ (1,483)  $ —

We value our available-for-sale short-term investments based on pricing from third party pricing vendors, who may use quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs) or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs) in determining
fair value. We classify all of our fixed income available-for-sale securities as having Level 2 inputs. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value
of our financial instruments having Level 2 inputs were derived from non-binding market consensus prices that are corroborated by observable market data,
quoted market prices for similar instruments, or pricing models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. We believe all of these sources reflect the credit risk
associated with each of our available-for-sale short-term investments. Short-term investments available-for-sale consists of debt securities issued by states of
the U.S. and political subdivisions of the U.S., corporate debt securities and debt securities issued by U.S. government organizations and agencies. All short-
term investments available-for-sale have contractual maturities of less than 60 months.      
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Derivatives include foreign currency forward and option contracts. Our foreign currency forward contracts are valued using an income approach
(Level 2) based on the spot rate less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount. Our foreign currency option contracts are valued using a market
approach based on the quoted market prices which are derived from observable inputs including current and future spot rates, interest rate spreads as well as
quoted market prices of similar instruments. We consider counterparty credit risk in the valuation of our derivatives. However, counterparty credit risk did not
impact the valuation of our derivatives during the year ended December 31, 2019. There were not any transfers in or out of Level 1 or Level 2 during the year
ended December 31, 2019.  

Our short-term investments do not include any foreign sovereign debt. The majority of our short-term investments that are located outside of the U.S.
are denominated in the U.S. dollar with the exception of $5 million U.S. dollar equivalent of corporate bonds that are denominated in Euro.

We did not have any items that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.  The carrying
value of net accounts receivable, accounts payable, and long-term debt contained in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximates fair value.

�1�R�W�H �� �����' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H���L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J���D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V����

We recognize all of our derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in our statement of financial position at fair value. The accounting for
changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging
relationship and further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, we
designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation.    

We have operations in approximately 45 countries. Sales outside of the Americas accounted for approximately 60%, 60%, and 61% of our net sales
during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Our activities expose us to a variety of market risks, including the effects of
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These financial risks are monitored and managed by us as an integral part of our overall risk management
program.  

We maintain a foreign currency risk management strategy that uses derivative instruments (foreign currency forward contracts) to help protect our
earnings and cash flows from fluctuations caused by the volatility in currency exchange rates. Movements in foreign currency exchange rates pose a risk to
our operations and competitive position, since exchange rate changes may affect our profitability and cash flow, and the business or pricing strategies of our
non-U.S. based competitors.

The vast majority of our foreign sales are denominated in the customers’ local currency. We purchase foreign currency forward contracts as hedges
of forecasted sales that are denominated in foreign currencies and as hedges of foreign currency denominated receivables. These contracts are entered into to
help protect against the risk that the eventual dollar-net-cash inflows resulting from such sales or firm commitments will be adversely affected by changes in
exchange rates. We also purchase foreign currency forward contracts as hedges of forecasted expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies. These
contracts are entered into to help protect against the risk that the eventual dollar-net-cash outflows resulting from foreign currency operating and cost of
revenue expenses will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates.

We designate foreign currency forward contracts as cash flow hedges of forecasted revenues or forecasted expenses. In addition, we hedge our
foreign currency denominated balance sheet exposures using foreign currency forward contracts that are not designated as hedging instruments. None of our
derivative instruments contain a credit-risk-related contingent feature.

�&�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���K�H�G�J�H�V����

To help protect against the reduction in value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates of forecasted foreign currency cash flows
resulting from international sales over the next one to three years, we have instituted a foreign currency cash flow hedging program. We hedge portions of our
forecasted revenue and forecasted expenses denominated in foreign currencies with forward contracts. For forward contracts, when the dollar strengthens
significantly against the foreign currencies, the change in the present value of future foreign currency cash flows may be offset by the change in the fair value
of the forward contracts designated as hedges. We purchase foreign currency forward contracts for up to 100% of our forecasted exposures in selected
currencies (primarily in Euro, Japanese yen, Malaysian ringgit, British pound, Chinese yuan, and Hungarian forint) and limit the duration of these contracts to
40 months or less.  
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For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of
accumulated OCI and reclassified into earnings in the same line item (net sales, operating expenses, or cost of sales) associated with the forecasted transaction
and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Hedge effectiveness of foreign currency forwards designated as cash
flow hedges are measured by comparing the hedging instrument’s cumulative change in fair value from inception to maturity to the forecasted transaction’s
terminal value.  

We held forward contracts with the following notional amounts:

(In thousands)  �8���6�����' �R�O�O�D�U���(�T�X�L�Y�D�O�H�Q�W

 �$�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �$�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Chinese yuan  $ 32,970  $ 45,520
Euro  130,122  134,654
Japanese yen  53,527  15,141
Hungarian forint  95,228  35,384
British pound  13,988  9,948
Malaysian ringgit  32,725  27,778
Korean won  $ 24,728  $ 8,331
Total forward contracts notional amount  $ 383,288  $ 276,756

The contracts in the foregoing table had contractual maturities of 36 months or less as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

At December 31, 2019, we expect to reclassify $6.4 million of gains on derivative instruments from accumulated OCI to net sales during the next
twelve months when the hedged international sales occur, $0.8 million of losses on derivative instruments from accumulated OCI to cost of sales when the
cost of sales are incurred and $0.6 million of losses on derivative instruments from accumulated OCI to operating expenses during the next twelve months
when the hedged operating expenses occur. Expected amounts are based on derivative valuations at December 31, 2019. Actual results may vary as a result of
changes in the corresponding exchange rates subsequent to this date.  

The gains and losses recognized in earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness were not material for fiscal years 2019, 2018, and 2017 and are included as
a component of net income.

�2�W�K�H�U���' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V����

Other derivatives not designated as hedging instruments consist primarily of foreign currency forward contracts that we use to hedge our foreign
denominated net receivable or net payable positions to protect against the change in value caused by a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. We
typically attempt to hedge up to 90% of our outstanding foreign denominated net receivables or net payables and typically limit the duration of these foreign
currency forward contracts to approximately 90 days. The gain or loss on the derivatives as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedge item attributable to
the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings under the line item “net foreign exchange gain (loss).” As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
we held foreign currency forward contracts with a notional amount of $41 million and $71 million, respectively.   
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The following tables present the fair value of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and the effect of derivative instruments on
our Consolidated Statements of Income.   

    

 �$�V�V�H�W���' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V

 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

(In thousands)         
 Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value  Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value

�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Foreign exchange contracts - ST forwards  
Prepaid expenses and other current

assets  $ 7,039  
Prepaid expenses and other current

assets  $ 7,594
         

Foreign exchange contracts - LT forwards  Other long-term assets  970  Other long-term assets  1,380
�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 $ 8,009  

 
 $ 8,974

         

�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���Q�R�W���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 

 
 

 
  

        

Foreign exchange contracts - ST forwards  
Prepaid expenses and other current

assets  $ 200  
Prepaid expenses and other current

assets  $ 395
�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���Q�R�W���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V
�K�H�G�J�L�Q�J���L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 $ 200  

 
 $ 395

        
�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V    $ 8,209    $ 9,369

   

 �/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V

 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

(In thousands)         
 Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value  Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value

�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Foreign exchange contracts - ST forwards  Other current liabilities  $ (2,089)  Other current liabilities  $ (662)

        
Foreign exchange contracts - LT forwards  Other long-term liabilities  (351)  Other long-term liabilities  (191)
�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 $ (2,440)  

 
 $ (853)

        
�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���Q�R�W���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V���K�H�G�J�L�Q�J
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
   

 
  

        
Foreign exchange contracts - ST forwards  Other current liabilities  $ (432)  Other current liabilities  $ (630)
�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V���Q�R�W���G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���D�V
�K�H�G�J�L�Q�J���L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

 
 $ (432)  

 
 $ (630)

         

�7�R�W�D�O���G�H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H�V    $ (2,872)    $ (1,483)
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The following tables present the effect of derivative instruments on our Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively:

�' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationship  

Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in OCI

on Derivative  

Location of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated

OCI into Income  

Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI

into Income

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  $ (1,286)  Net sales  $ 11,709
       

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  (707)  Cost of sales  (482)
       

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  (636)  Operating expenses  (383)
Total  $ (2,629)    $ 10,844

�' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationship  

Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in OCI

on Derivative  

Location of Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated

OCI into Income  

Gain or (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated OCI

into Income

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  $ 17,422  Net sales  $ (210)
       

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  (2,591)  Cost of sales  680
       

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  (2,306)  Operating expenses  916
Total  $ 12,525    $ 1,386

(In thousands)       

Derivatives not Designated as Hedging Instruments  
Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in

Income  
Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income  

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income

   �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Foreign exchange contracts - forwards  Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)  $ (348)  $ 343
       

Total    $ (348)  $ 343

Gains or losses recognized in OCI on our derivatives are reported net of gains or losses reclassified from accumulated OCI into income.
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�1�R�W�H �� �����,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�R�U�L�H�V�� 

Inventories, net at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 consist of the following: 

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

    
Raw materials   $ 110,078  $ 98,346
Work-in-process  10,613  9,306
Finished goods  79,719  86,494
Total  $ 200,410  $ 194,146

�1�R�W�H�����������3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���D�Q�G���H�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W

Property and equipment at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consist of the following:

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

    
Land  $ 12,366  $ 32,967
Buildings  219,473  218,289
Furniture and equipment  415,216  388,102

 647,055  639,358
Accumulated depreciation  (403,338)  (394,157)
Total, net  $ 243,717  $ 245,201

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, was $38 million, $37 million and $40 million, respectively.
��

�1�R�W�H�����������,�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H �D�V�V�H�W�V���D�Q�G���* �R�R�G�Z�L�O�O

Intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are as follows:

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

 
�* �U�R�V�V���&�D�U�U�\�L�Q�J

�$�P�R�X�Q�W  
�$�F�F�X�P�X�O�D�W�H�G
�$�P�R�U�W�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q  

�1�H�W���&�D�U�U�\�L�Q�J
�$�P�R�X�Q�W  

�* �U�R�V�V���&�D�U�U�\�L�Q�J
�$�P�R�X�Q�W  

�$�F�F�X�P�X�O�D�W�H�G
�$�P�R�U�W�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q  

�1�H�W���&�D�U�U�\�L�Q�J
�$�P�R�X�Q�W

Capitalized software development
costs  $ 132,789  $ (76,910)  $ 55,879  $ 123,842  $ (49,299)  $ 74,543
Acquired technology  91,900  (87,917)  3,983  92,236  (84,962)  7,274
Patents  35,609  (23,993)  11,616  34,427  (21,725)  12,702
Other  44,490  (31,885)  12,605  46,437  (30,173)  16,264
Total  $ 304,788  $ (220,705)  $ 84,083  $ 296,942  $ (186,159)  $ 110,783

Software development costs capitalized in 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $10 million, $15 million, and $43 million, respectively, and related
amortization expense was $28 million, $27 million, and $22 million, respectively. Capitalized software development costs for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018, and 2017 included costs related to stock-based compensation of $0.5 million, $0.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The related amounts in
the table above are net of fully amortized assets.

Amortization of capitalized software development costs is computed on an individual product basis for those products available for market and is
recognized based on the product’s estimated economic life, generally three to six years. Acquired technology and other intangible assets are amortized over
their useful lives, which range from three to eight years. Patents are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, generally
10 to 17 years. Total intangible assets amortization expenses were $37 million, $35 million, and $34 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018,
and 2017, respectively.
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Capitalized software development costs, acquired technology, patents and other intangible assets had weighted-average useful lives of 2.3 years, 1.5
years, 4.9 years, and 5.1 years, respectively, as of December 31, 2019. The estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets as of
December 31, 2019 was as follows:

�$�P�R�X�Q�W

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

2020 $ 36,029
2021 25,463
2022 11,079
2023 4,324
2024 1,698
Thereafter 5,490

Total $ 84,083

�*�R�R�G�Z�L�O�O

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending carrying amounts of goodwill is as follows:

�$�P�R�X�Q�W

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 266,783
Acquisitions 2,819
Foreign currency translation impact (5,072)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 264,530
Foreign currency translation impact (2,288)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 262,242

The excess purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We have one operating segment and one reporting unit.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis, and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach
based on the market capitalization of the reporting unit. Our annual impairment test was performed as of November 30, 2019.  No impairment of goodwill
was identified during 2019 and 2018. Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes in certain jurisdictions.

�1�R�W�H�����������/ �H�D�V�H�V 

We have operating leases for corporate offices, automobiles, and certain equipment. Our leases have remaining terms of 1 year to 94 years, some of
which may include options to extend the leases for up to 9 years, and some of which may include options to terminate the leases within 1 year. Leases with an
initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. We recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Amounts related to finance lease activities and income from leasing activities were not material for the periods presented.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows:

 
�7�Z�H�O�Y�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V

�(�Q�G�H�G

(In thousands) �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Operating Lease Cost (a) $ 22,708
(a) includes variable and short-term lease costs  
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Supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases were as follows:

 
�7�Z�H�O�Y�H���0 �R�Q�W�K�V

�(�Q�G�H�G

(In thousands) �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

�&�D�V�K���S�D�L�G���I�R�U���D�P�R�X�Q�W�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���P�H�D�V�X�U�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I���O�H�D�V�H���O�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V��  
Cash paid for operating lease liabilities $ 20,919

�6�X�S�S�O�H�P�H�Q�W�D�O���Q�R�Q���F�D�V�K���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q��  
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations $ 18,938

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

(In thousands)  
�<�H�D�U�V���H�Q�G�L�Q�J���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U�������� �2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���/ �H�D�V�H�V

2020 $ 16,104
2021 12,752
2022 8,984
2023 7,415
2024 6,844
Thereafter 14,153
    Total future minimum lease payments 66,252
Less imputed interest 12,171

    Total $ 54,081

  

�: �H�L�J�K�W�H�G���$�Y�H�U�D�J�H���5�H�P�D�L�Q�L�Q�J���/ �H�D�V�H���7�H�U�P�����\�H�D�U�V��  
Operating Leases 5.3
  

�: �H�L�J�K�W�H�G���$�Y�H�U�D�J�H���' �L�V�F�R�X�Q�W���5�D�W�H  
Operating Leases 5.3%

As of December 31, 2019, we have additional operating leases, that have not commenced during the period, which were not material.

�1�R�W�H�������������,�Q�F�R�P�H���W�D�[�H�V  

The components of income before income taxes are as follows:

(In thousands)  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Domestic  $ 98,476  $ 56,068  $ 46,308
Foreign  82,068  120,385  101,072
Total  $ 180,544  $ 176,453  $ 147,380
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The provision for income taxes charged to operations is as follows:

(In thousands)  �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Current tax expense:       
U.S. federal  $ 18,212  $ 15,898  $ 91,043
State  2,705  2,963  348
Foreign  10,156  14,273  9,352

Total current  $ 31,073  $ 33,134  $ 100,743
Deferred tax benefit:       

U.S. federal  $ (9,168)  $ (10,724)  $ (4,796)
State  (1,218)  1,134  (151)
Foreign  (3,045)  (2,148)  (827)

Total deferred  $ (13,431)  $ (11,738)  $ (5,774)
Change in valuation allowance  751  —  —

Total provision  $ 18,393  $ 21,396  $ 94,969

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������

Capitalized software  $ 12,202  $ 16,756
Depreciation and amortization  11,756  12,964
Intangible assets  13,490  13,492
Right of use asset  9,833  —
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments  1,176  1,871
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries  3,482  3,449

Gross deferred tax liabilities  51,939  48,532
Operating loss carryforwards  (87,074)  (83,013)
Vacation and other accruals  (4,979)  (5,391)
Inventory valuation and warranty provisions  (2,317)  (2,576)
Doubtful accounts and sales provisions  (860)  (890)
Unrealized exchange loss  (1,052)  (1,735)
Deferred revenue  (7,708)  (8,199)
Operating lease liabilities  (10,426)  —
Accrued expenses  (262)  (848)
Global intangible low-taxed income  (3,444)  (4,339)
Stock-based compensation  (5,809)  (5,216)
Research and development tax credit carryforward  —  (258)
Capital loss carryforward  —  (250)
Foreign tax credit carryforward  (674)  (42)
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale  (10,762)  —
Cumulative translation adjustment on undistributed earnings  (985)  (912)
Other  (2,072)  (1,776)

Gross deferred tax assets  (138,424)  (115,445)
Valuation allowance  85,516  79,624

Net deferred tax liability  $ (969)  $ 12,711
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A reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate follows:

 �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U��������

 ��������  ��������  ��������

U.S. federal statutory rate  21 %  21 %  35 %
Foreign taxes greater (less) than federal statutory rate  —  (4)  (12)
Outside basis difference on asset held for sale  (6)  —  —
Research and development tax credits  (3)  (2)  (3)
Enhanced deduction for certain research and development expenses  (3)  (4)  (3)
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit  —  2  —
Nondeductible officer compensation  1  —  —
Change in intercompany prepaid tax asset  —  (1)  (2)
Foreign-derived intangible income deduction  (3)  (1)  —
Global intangible low-taxed income inclusion ("GILTI")  1  2  —
Amortization of intangible assets  —  —  1
Remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax balance  —  —  (10)
Transition tax on deferred foreign income  1  1  54
Global intangible low-taxed income deferred  —  (2)  —
Foreign tax on undistributed foreign earnings  —  (1)  3
Other  1  1  1
Effective tax rate  10 %  12 %  64 %

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted on December 22, 2017 (the "Act"). The Act reduced the US federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%,
requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred, and creates new taxes on
certain foreign sourced earnings. In 2018 and 2017, we recorded tax expense related to the enactment-date effects of the Act that included recording the one-
time transition tax liability related to undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were not previously taxed, adjusting deferred tax assets and
liabilities and recognizing the effects of electing to account for GILTI in deferred taxes. As of December 31, 2017, we recognized a provisional amount of
$69.9 million, which was included as a component of income tax expense from continuing operations. During 2018, we reduced the provisional amounts
recorded at December 31, 2017 by $4.2 million and included these adjustments as a reduction of income tax expense from continuing operations.

While we completed our accounting of the Tax Act in the fourth quarter of 2018 based on the regulatory guidance issued at that time, the Department
of Treasury interpretive guidance initiatives are ongoing. The U.S. Treasury Department has issued final interpretive guidance relating to certain provisions of
the Tax Act and proposed additional guidance related to the same provisions. We will account for the impact of additional guidance in the period in which any
new guidance is released, if appropriate. During 2019, we recorded a $2.6 million net tax expense related to an increase in the 2017 one-time deemed
repatriation tax on accumulated foreign earnings as a result of final tax regulations issued in 2019.

As of December 31, 2019, we had federal tax credit carryforwards of $0.7 million which expire during the years 2021 to 2029. Certain of these
carryforwards are subject to limitations following a change in ownership. We do not expect to utilize certain of these carryforwards and have recorded a
valuation allowance of $0.6 million against those credits at December 31, 2019.

As of December 31, 2019, 14 of our subsidiaries had available, for income tax purposes, foreign net operating loss carryforwards of an aggregate of
approximately $981 million, of which $973 million expires during the years 2020 to 2038 and $8 million of which may be carried forward indefinitely. Our
tax valuation allowance relates primarily to our ability to realize certain of these foreign net operating loss carryforwards.

Effective January 1, 2010, a new tax law in Hungary provided for an enhanced deduction for the qualified research and development expenses of NI
Hungary Software and Hardware Manufacturing Kft. (“NI Hungary”). During the three months ended December 31, 2009, we obtained confirmation of the
application of this new tax law for the qualified research and development expenses of NI Hungary. Based on the application of this new tax law to the
qualified research and development expense of NI Hungary, we do not expect to have sufficient future taxable income in Hungary to realize the benefits of NI
Hungary’s deferred tax assets. Therefore, we had a full valuation allowance against those assets at December 31, 2019.
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Earnings from our operations in Malaysia are free of tax under a tax holiday effective January 1, 2013. This tax holiday expires in 2037. If we fail to
satisfy the conditions of the tax holiday, this tax benefit may be terminated early. The tax holiday resulted in income tax benefits of $3.4 million and $4.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respective1y. The impact of the tax holiday on a per share basis for each of the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was a benefit of $0.03 per share.

We have not provided for foreign withholding or distribution taxes on approximately $5.3 million of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries' undistributed
earnings as of December 31, 2019. These earnings would become subject to withholding or distribution taxes of approximately $679,000, if they were
remitted to the parent company as dividends. We intend to permanently reinvest these undistributed earnings.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our financial statements using prescribed recognition thresholds and measurement
attributes for financial statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefit is as follows:
��

(In thousands)  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������  �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

Balance at beginning of period  $ 9,775  $ 10,158
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year  776  1,486
Reductions for tax positions of prior years  —  (1,208)
Additions for tax positions of prior years  390  1,207
Reductions as a result of settlement with taxing authorities  (725)  —
Reductions as a result of the closing of open tax periods  (3,564)  (1,868)
Balance at end of period  $ 6,652  $ 9,775

All of our unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 would affect our effective income tax rate if recognized. As of December 31, 2019, it is
reasonably possible that we will recognize tax benefits in the amount of $2.8 million in the next twelve months due to the closing of open tax years. The
nature of the uncertainty is related to deductions taken on returns that have not been examined by the applicable tax authority.  

We recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we
recognized interest expense related to uncertain tax positions of approximately $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

The tax years 2013 through 2019 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject.   The Internal Revenue
Service concluded an examination of our U.S. income tax returns for 2010 and 2011 in the third quarter of 2014.

�1�R�W�H�������������&�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�Y�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H    

Our comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation, unrealized gains and losses on forward contracts and securities
classified as available-for-sale. The accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the
following:   
��

 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

(In thousands)  

�&�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\
�W�U�D�Q�V�O�D�W�L�R�Q
�D�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W  �,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V  

�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

�$�F�F�X�P�X�O�D�W�H�G���R�W�K�H�U
�F�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�Y�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H

���O�R�V�V��

Balance as of December 31, 2018  $ (22,485)  $ (1,308)  $ 6,862  $ (16,931)
Current-period other comprehensive (loss) income  (3,346)  1,141  (13,473)  (15,678)
Reclassified from accumulated OCI into income  —  —  10,844  10,844
Income tax benefit (expense)  —  82  613  695

Balance as of December 31, 2019  $ (25,831)  $ (85)  $ 4,846  $ (21,070)
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 �' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������

(In thousands)  

�&�X�U�U�H�Q�F�\
�W�U�D�Q�V�O�D�W�L�R�Q
�D�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W  �,�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V  

�' �H�U�L�Y�D�W�L�Y�H
�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�V  

�$�F�F�X�P�X�O�D�W�H�G���R�W�K�H�U
�F�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�Y�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H

���O�R�V�V��

Balance as of December 31, 2017  $ (12,717)  $ (782)  $ (3,010)  $ (16,509)
Current-period other comprehensive income (loss)  (9,768)  (378)  11,139  993
Reclassified from accumulated OCI into income  —  —  1,386  1,386
Income tax (expense) benefit  —  (148)  (2,653)  (2,801)

Balance as of December 31, 2018  $ (22,485)  $ (1,308)  $ 6,862  $ (16,931)

  

�1�R�W�H�������������$�X�W�K�R�U�L�]�H�G���V�K�D�U�H�V���R�I���F�R�P�P�R�Q���D�Q�G���S�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���V�W�R�F�N���D�Q�G���V�W�R�F�N���E�D�V�H�G���F�R�P�S�H�Q�V�D�W�L�R�Q���S�O�D�Q�V����

�$�X�W�K�R�U�L�]�H�G���V�K�D�U�H�V���R�I���F�R�P�P�R�Q���D�Q�G���S�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���V�W�R�F�N

Following approval by the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders, on May 14, 2013, the Company’s certificate of incorporation was
amended to increase the authorized shares of common stock by 180,000,000 shares to a total of 360,000,000 shares.  As a result of this amendment, the total
number of shares which the Company is authorized to issue is 365,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per
share, and (ii) 360,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share.

�5�H�V�W�U�L�F�W�H�G���V�W�R�F�N���X�Q�L�W���S�O�D�Q�V����

Our stockholders approved our 2005 Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) in May 2005. At the time of approval, 4,050,000 shares of our common stock
were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the number of shares which had been reserved but not issued under our 1994 Incentive Plan, which
terminated in May 2005 (The "1994 Plan"), and any shares that returned to the 1994 Plan as a result of termination of options or repurchase of shares issued
under such plan. The 2005 Plan provided for the granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs to directors, executive officers and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Awards vest over a three, five or ten-year period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards
may accelerate based on the Company’s previous year’s earnings and growth but ten-year awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period of less than five
years. The 2005 Plan terminated on May 11, 2010, except with respect to outstanding awards previously granted thereunder. There were 3,362,304 shares of
common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 1994 Plan and the 2005 Plan as of May 11, 2010.  

Our stockholders approved our 2010 Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) on May 11, 2010. At the time of approval, 3,000,000 shares of our common
stock were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the 3,362,304 shares of common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 1994 Plan and
the 2005 Plan as of May 11, 2010, and any shares that are returned to the 1994 Plan and the 2005 Plan as a result of forfeiture or termination of options or
RSUs or repurchase of shares issued under those plans. The 2010 Plan provided for the granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs
to employees, directors and consultants of the Company and employees and consultants of any parent or subsidiary of the Company. Awards vest over a three,
five or ten-year period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards may accelerate based on the Company’s previous year’s earnings and
growth but ten-year awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period of less than five years. The 2010 plan terminated on May 12, 2015, except with
outstanding awards previously granted there under. There were 2,518,416 shares of common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 2010 Plan as of
May 12, 2015.

Our stockholders approved our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) on May 12, 2015. At the time of approval, 3,000,000 shares of our
common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan, as well as the 2,518,416 shares of common stock that were reserved but not issued under the 2010
Plan, and any shares that were returned to the 1994, 2005, and the 2010 Plans as a result of the forfeiture or termination of options or RSUs or repurchase of
shares issued under those plans. The 2015 Plan provides for the granting of incentive awards in the form of restricted stock and RSUs to employees, directors
and consultants of the Company and employees and consultants of any parent or subsidiary of the Company. Awards vest over a three, four, five or ten-year
period, beginning on the date of grant. Vesting of ten-year awards may accelerate based on the Company’s previous year’s earnings and growth but ten-year
awards cannot accelerate to vest over a period of less than five years. There were 1,920,771 shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan at December 31,
2019.  
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not make any changes in accounting principles or methods of estimates related to the 2010 and
2015 Plans.  Transactions under our 2010 Plan and 2015 Plan are summarized as follows:

 �5�6�8�V

 �1�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���5�6�8�V  
�: �H�L�J�K�W�H�G���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���J�U�D�Q�W���S�U�L�F�H���S�H�U

�V�K�D�U�H

Outstanding at December 31, 2016  2,806,201  $ 28.76
Granted  1,205,920  $ 34.57
Earned  (666,786)  $ 28.05
Canceled  (192,371)  $ 29.73

Outstanding at December 31, 2017  3,152,964  $ 31.07
Granted  1,100,067  $ 48.42
Earned  (823,816)  $ 30.78
Canceled  (250,679)  $ 34.13

Outstanding at December 31, 2018  3,178,536  $ 36.91
Granted  1,306,387  $ 46.76
Earned  (958,995)  $ 35.86
Canceled  (236,291)  $ 38.82

Outstanding at December 31, 2019  3,289,637  $ 40.99

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs was approximately $151.6 million as of December 31, 2019,
related to 3,289,637 shares with a per share weighted average fair value of $40.99. We anticipate this expense to be recognized over a weighted average
period of approximately 2.89 years.

�(�P�S�O�R�\�H�H���V�W�R�F�N���S�X�U�F�K�D�V�H���S�O�D�Q����

Our employee stock purchase plan permits substantially all domestic employees and employees of designated subsidiaries to acquire our common
stock at a purchase price of 85% of the lower of the market price at the beginning or the end of the purchase period. The plan has quarterly purchase periods
generally beginning on February 1, May 1, August 1 and November 1 of each year. Employees may designate up to 15% of their compensation for the
purchase of common stock under this plan. On May 14, 2019, our stockholders approved an additional 3,000,000 shares for issuance under our employee
stock purchase plan, and at December 31, 2019, we had 4,085,770 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under this plan. We issued 909,274
shares under this plan in the year ended December 31, 2019. The weighted average purchase price of the shares under this plan was $36.50 per share. The
grant date fair value of the purchase rights was estimated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: 

��

 ��������  ��������  ��������

Dividend yield  0.558%  0.518%  0.650%
Expected life  3 months  3 months  3 months
Expected volatility  34%  24%  18%
Risk-free interest rate  2.32%  1.39%  0.48%

Weighted average, grant date fair value of purchase rights granted under the employee stock purchase plan are as follows:

 �1�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���6�K�D�U�H�V  
�: �H�L�J�K�W�H�G���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���I�D�L�U���Y�D�O�X�H���S�H�U

�V�K�D�U�H

2017  1,065,154  $ 6.80
2018  872,853  $ 8.97
2019  909,274  $ 9.40

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not make any changes in accounting principles or methods of estimates with respect to the
employee stock purchase plan.  

�$�X�W�K�R�U�L�]�H�G �3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N���D�Q�G���3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N���3�X�U�F�K�D�V�H���5�L�J�K�W�V���3�O�D�Q����

We have 5,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock. On January 21, 2004, our Board of Directors designated 750,000 of these shares as Series A
Participating Preferred Stock in conjunction with its adoption of a Preferred Stock Rights Agreement which expired on May 10, 2014. There were no shares
of preferred stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019.  
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�6�W�R�F�N���U�H�S�X�U�F�K�D�V�H�V���D�Q�G���U�H�W�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V

Our Board of Directors has authorized a program to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time, depending on market conditions and
other factors. On January 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be repurchased
to 4,000,000 shares. On October 23, 2019, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to increase the number of shares that may be
repurchased by 3,000,000 shares. Under the current program, during the three months ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased 794,324 shares of our
common stock at a weighted average price per share at $42.98 and during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased 4,000,000 shares of
our common stock at a weighted average price per share of $42.83. We did not repurchase any shares during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. At
December 31, 2019, there were 3,000,000 shares remaining available for repurchase under this program. This repurchase program does not have an expiration
date.

�1�R�W�H�������������( �P�S�O�R�\�H�H���U�H�W�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W���S�O�D�Q

We have a defined contribution retirement plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Substantially all domestic employees with
at least 30 days of continuous service are eligible to participate and may contribute up to 15% of their compensation to such plan. The Board of Directors has
elected to make matching contributions equal to 50% of employee contributions, which could be applied to up to 8% of each participant’s compensation
during 2019, 2018 and 2017. Employees are eligible for matching contributions after one year of continuous service. Company contributions vest
immediately. Our policy prohibits participants from direct investment in shares of our common stock within the plan. Company contributions charged to
expense were $9.6 million, $9.4 million and $9.5 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. 

�1�R�W�H���������� �6�H�J�P�H�Q�W���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q

We operate as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, who is our chief executive officer, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates our financial information and resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a
consolidated basis. Since we operate in one operating segment, all required financial segment information can be found in the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto.

We sell our products in three geographic regions which consist of Americas; EMEIA; and APAC. Our sales to these regions share similar economic
characteristics, similar product mix, similar customers, and similar distribution methods. Revenue from the sale of our products, which are similar in nature,
and software maintenance is reflected as total net sales in our Consolidated Statements of Income. (See Note 2 –Revenue of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for total net sales by the major geographic areas in which we operate). 

Based on the billing location of the customer, total sales outside the U.S. for years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $850 million,
$859 million, and $816 million, respectively. Revenue and long-lived assets attributable to each individual foreign country outside the U.S. were not material.

Total property and equipment, net, outside the U.S. for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $130 million, $132 million, and
$132 million, respectively. 

�1�R�W�H�������������' �H�E�W

On May 9, 2013, we entered into the Loan Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank (the “Lender”). The Loan Agreement provided for a $50 million
unsecured revolving line of credit with a scheduled maturity date of May 9, 2018 (the “Maturity Date”). On October 29, 2015, we entered into a First
Amendment to Loan Agreement (the “Amendment”) with the Lender, which amended our Loan Agreement to among other things, (i) increase the unsecured
revolving line of credit from $50.0 million to $125.0 million, (ii) extend the Maturity Date of the line of credit from May 9, 2018 to October 29, 2020, and
(iii) provide us with an option to request increases to the line of credit of up to an additional $25.0 million in the aggregate, subject to consent of the Lender
and terms and conditions to be mutually agreed between us and the Lender. On April 27, 2018, we entered into a Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (the
"Second Amendment") which amended the Loan Agreement, as amended by the Amendment to, among other things, (i) reduce the revolving line of credit
from $125.0 million to $5.0 million, (ii) reduce the letter of credit sublimit under the line of credit from $10.0 million to $5.0 million and (iii) require us and
our subsidiaries to comply with certain of the affirmative and negative covenants under the Loan Agreement only if loans are outstanding under the Loan
Agreement or if we have not reimbursed any drawing under a letter of credit issued under the Loan Agreement within five business days following the request
of the Lender.
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The loans bear interest, at our option, at a base rate determined in accordance with the Loan Agreement, plus a spread of 0% to 0.5%, or a LIBOR
rate plus a spread of 1.125% to 2.000%, in each case with such spread determined based on a ratio of consolidated indebtedness to EBITDA, determined in
accordance with the Loan Agreement. Principal, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, is due and payable on the Maturity Date. We are also obligated
to pay a quarterly commitment fee, payable in arrears, based on the available commitments at a rate of 0.175% to 0.300%, with such rate determined based on
the ratio described above. The Loan Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. The affirmative covenants include, among other
things, delivery of financial statements, compliance certificates and notices; payment of taxes and other obligations; maintenance of existence; maintenance of
properties and insurance; and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on
indebtedness, liens, mergers, consolidations, acquisitions and sales of assets, investments, changes in the nature of the business, affiliate transactions and
certain restricted payments. The Loan Agreement also requires us to maintain a ratio of consolidated indebtedness to EBITDA equal to or less than 3.25 to
1.00, and a ratio of consolidated EBITDA to interest expense greater than or equal to 3.00 to 1.00, in each case determined in accordance with the Loan
Agreement. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with all applicable covenants in the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement contains customary events of default including, among other things, payment defaults, breaches of covenants or representations
and warranties, cross-defaults with certain other indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, judgment defaults and change in control events, subject to
grace periods in certain instances. Upon an event of default, the lender may declare all or a portion of the outstanding obligations payable by us to be
immediately due and payable and exercise other rights and remedies provided for under the Loan Agreement. Under certain circumstances, a default interest
rate will apply on all obligations during the existence of an event of default under the Loan Agreement at a per annum rate of interest equal to 2.00% above
the otherwise applicable interest rate. Proceeds of loans made under the Loan Agreement may be used for working capital and other general corporate
purposes. We may prepay the loans under the Loan Agreement in whole or in part at any time without premium or penalty. Certain of our existing and future
material domestic subsidiaries are required to guaranty our obligations under the Loan Agreement.

As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we
incurred no interest expense. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the weighted-average interest rate on the line of credit was 3.0% and 3.6%, respectively.

�1�R�W�H�������������&�R�P�P�L�W�P�H�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���&�R�Q�W�L�Q�J�H�Q�F�L�H�V����

We have commitments under non-cancelable operating leases primarily for office facilities throughout the world. Certain leases require us to pay
property taxes, insurance and routine maintenance, and include escalation clauses. Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2019, for each of the
next five years are as follows:

��

�$�P�R�X�Q�W

���,�Q���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G�V��

2020 $ 16,104
2021 12,752
2022 8,984
2023 7,415
2024 6,844
Thereafter 14,153
Total $ 66,252

Rent expense under operating leases was approximately $23 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, $21 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019, we had non-cancelable purchase commitments with various suppliers of customized inventory and inventory components
totaling approximately $6.5 million over the next twelve months.  

As of December 31, 2019, our outstanding guarantees for payment of customs and foreign grants were not material.

F-41



Table of Contents

�1�R�W�H������ �����/ �L�W�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q����

We are not currently a party to any material litigation. However, in the ordinary course of our business, we have in the past, are currently and will
likely become involved in various legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory, tax or government inquiries and investigations, and could incur uninsured
liability in any one or more of them. We also periodically receive notifications from various third parties related to alleged infringement of patents or
intellectual property rights, commercial disputes or other matters. No assurances can be given with respect to the extent or outcome of any investigation,
litigation or dispute.  

�1�R�W�H�������������5�H�V�W�U�X�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J

Since the first quarter of 2017, we have reduced overall employee headcount by approximately 3% by the end of December 31, 2019, we have been
taking steps to minimize job duplication or evaluate where we should shift and centralize activities, improve efficiencies, and rebalance our resources on
higher return activities. The timing and scope of any future headcount reductions will vary.

A summary of the charges in the consolidated statement of operations resulting from these restructuring activities is shown below:

    

(In thousands) �<�H�D�U�V���(�Q�G�H�G  

 �������� �������� ��������

Cost of sales $ — (150) 1,208
Research and development 3,888 1,890 2,990
Sales and marketing 13,300 10,655 10,968
General and administrative 2,877 1,702 1,898
Total restructuring and other related costs $ 20,065 14,097 17,064

Total restructuring and other charges incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019 related to this initiative were $20.1 million primarily related
to employee severance costs. A summary of balance sheet activity during 2019 related to the restructuring activity is shown below:

 �5�H�V�W�U�X�F�W�X�U�L�Q�J���/ �L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������ $ 3,506
Income statement expense 20,065
Cash payments (14,044)

�%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���D�V���R�I���' �H�F�H�P�E�H�U������������������ $ 9,527

The restructuring liability of $9.5 million at December 31, 2019 relating primarily to severance payments associated with the restructuring activity, is
recorded in the “accrued compensation” line item of the consolidated balance sheet.

�1�R�W�H�������������6�X�E�V�H�T�X�H�Q�W���H�Y�H�Q�W�V����

 

On January 29, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.26 per common share, payable on March 9, 2020, to
stockholders of record on February 18, 2020. 

On January 15, 2020, we closed on the sale of our wholly-owned subsidiary AWR Corporation to Cadence Design Systems Inc. for a total of
approximately $160 million in cash. We expect to recognize a gain on the divestment of approximately $123 million, net of taxes, during the first quarter of
2020.
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References to “NI” and the “Company” herein are, unless the context otherwise indicates, only to National Instruments
Corporation and not to any of its subsidiaries.

�'�H�V�F�U�L�S�W�L�R�Q���R�I���&�D�S�L�W�D�O���6�W�R�F�N

The following is a summary of the Company’s capital stock and certain provisions of its Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended (the “�&�H�U�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�H”) and Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “�%�\�O�D�Z�V”). This summary does not purport to be complete
and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of the Certificate and the Bylaws, each of which is incorporated herein by reference
and attached as an exhibit to the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. We encourage you to read the Company’s Certificate, Bylaws and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General
Corporate Law for additional information.

�&�R�P�P�R�Q���6�W�R�F�N

�6�K�D�U�H�V���2�X�W�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J. The Company is authorized to issue up to 360,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share (the “�&�R�P�P�R�Q���6�W�R�F�N”).

�'�L�Y�L�G�H�Q�G�V. Subject to prior rights and preferences, if any, applicable to shares of preferred stock of the Company
(“�3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N”) or any series thereof, the holders of shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive such dividends
(payable in cash, stock, or otherwise) as may be declared thereon by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “�%�R�D�U�G”) at any time
and from time to time out of any funds of the Company legally available therefor. Delaware law allows a corporation to pay
dividends only out of surplus, as determined under Delaware law.

�9�R�W�L�Q�J���5�L�J�K�W�V. Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The
directors of the Company are elected by a plurality of the voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy. On
most other matters submitted to the stockholders, the affirmative vote of the majority of the voting power of the shares present in
person or represented by proxy shall be the act of the shareholders, however in certain circumstances the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 80% of the votes of the outstanding shares of stock generally entitled to vote in the election of directors shall be
the act of the shareholders as described below under “�6�X�S�H�U�P�D�M�R�U�L�W�\���9�R�W�L�Q�J���5�H�T�X�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V.”

�/�L�T�X�L�G�D�W�L�R�Q���5�L�J�K�W�V. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, after
distribution in full of the preferential amounts, if any, to be distributed to the holders of shares of the Preferred Stock or any series
thereof, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive all of the remaining assets of the Company available for
distribution to its stockholders, ratably in proportion to the number of shares of the Common Stock held by them. A liquidation,
dissolution, or winding-up of the Company, as such terms are used in this paragraph, shall not be deemed to be occasioned by or to
include any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation or corporations or other entity or a sale,
lease, exchange or conveyance of all or a part of the assets of the Company.



�)�X�O�O�\���3�D�L�G. The issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and non-assessable. This means the full
purchase price for the outstanding shares of Common Stock has been paid and the holders of such shares will not be assessed any
additional amounts for such shares. Any additional shares of Common Stock that the Company may issue in the future will also be
fully paid and non-assessable.

�2�W�K�H�U���5�L�J�K�W�V. The shares of Common Stock are not subject to redemption by operation of a sinking fund or otherwise.
Holders of shares of Common Stock are not currently entitled to pre-emptive rights or conversion rights or other subscription
rights.

�7�U�D�Q�V�I�H�U���$�J�H�Q�W���D�Q�G���5�H�J�L�V�W�U�D�U. The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is Computershare Trust Company,
N.A.

�/�L�V�W�L�Q�J. Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC under the trading symbol “NATI”.

�3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N

The Board is authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share from time to time in
one or more series, the shares of each class or series to have such designations and powers, preferences, and rights, and
qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof.

The issuance of Preferred Stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the
Company without further action by the stockholders and may adversely affect the voting and other rights of the holders of Common
Stock. The issuance of Preferred Stock with voting and conversion rights may adversely affect the voting power of the holders of
Common Stock, including the loss of voting control to others. On January 21, 2004, our Board of Directors designated 750,000 of
these shares as Series A Participating Preferred Stock in conjunction with its adoption of a Preferred Stock Rights Agreement
which expired on May 10, 2014. The Series A Participating Preferred Stock is not redeemable. For so long as Series A
Participating Preferred Stock is outstanding, the Company is subject to restrictions on dividends and share repurchases including,
but not limited to, (i) declaring any dividends on shares of any stock ranking junior or on parity with the Series A Participating
Preferred Stock, (ii) redeeming or purchasing or otherwise acquiring for consideration shares of any stock ranking on a parity with
the Series A Participating Preferred Stock unless in exchange for any stock ranking junior to the Series A Participating Preferred
Stock, and (iii) redeeming or otherwise acquiring for consideration any shares of Series A Participating Preferred Stock or any
shares ranking on parity, except in accordance with a purchase offer made to all holders of such shares. As of December 31, 2019,
no shares of Preferred Stock were outstanding.

�3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N���3�X�U�F�K�D�V�H���5�L�J�K�W�V

All rights under the Preferred Stock Rights Agreement expired on May 10, 2014 and as of such time, no rights had been
exercised.
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�$�Q�W�L���W�D�N�H�R�Y�H�U���(�I�I�H�F�W�V���R�I���2�X�U���&�H�U�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�H���R�I���,�Q�F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���%�\�O�D�Z�V���D�Q�G���'�H�O�D�Z�D�U�H���/�D�Z

Some provisions of Delaware law, the Certificate and Bylaws could make the following more difficult:

• acquisition of the Company by means of a tender offer,

• acquisition of the Company by means of a proxy contest or otherwise, or

• removal of the Company’s incumbent officers and directors.

These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage and prevent coercive takeover practices and inadequate
takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of the Company to first negotiate
with the Board. They are also intended to provide our management with the flexibility to enhance the likelihood of continuity and
stability if our Board determines that a takeover is not in our best interests or the best interests of the stockholders. These
provisions, however could have the effect of discouraging attempts to acquire us, which could deprive our stockholders of
opportunities to sell their shares of Common Stock at prices higher than prevailing market prices. The Company believes that the
benefits of these provisions, including increased protection, give it the potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an
unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure the Company and outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover
proposals, because negotiation of takeover proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

�6�L�]�H���R�I���%�R�D�U�G���D�Q�G���9�D�F�D�Q�F�L�H�V. The Bylaws provide that the Board will have three or more members, not to exceed twelve
members, which number will be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board. Our Certificate provides for a classified
Board consisting of three classes of directors, each serving a staggered three-year term. The Certificate and Bylaws contain
provisions that establish specific procedures for appointing and removing members of the Board. Under the Certificate and the
Bylaws, vacancies and newly created directorships on the Board may be filled only by a majority of directors then serving on the
Board. Under the Certificate and Bylaws, directors may be removed at any time, but only by the affirmative vote of the holders of
at least 80% of the votes of the outstanding shares of stock generally entitled to vote in the election of directors.

�(�O�L�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U���$�F�W�L�R�Q���E�\���: �U�L�W�W�H�Q���&�R�Q�V�H�Q�W. The Bylaws eliminate the right of the Company’s stockholders to act
by written consent. Stockholder action must take place at the annual or a special meeting of the Company’s stockholders.

�6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U���0�H�H�W�L�Q�J�V. Under the Bylaws, only the chairperson of the Board, the president or the majority of the authorized
number of directors on the Board may call special meetings of the Company’s stockholders.

�5�H�T�X�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V���I�R�U���$�G�Y�D�Q�F�H���1�R�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���6�W�R�F�N�K�R�O�G�H�U���1�R�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���3�U�R�S�R�V�D�O�V. The Bylaws establish advance notice
procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and nomination of candidates for election as directors.
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�'�H�O�D�Z�D�U�H���$�Q�W�L���W�D�N�H�R�Y�H�U���/�D�Z. The Company is subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“�6�H�F�W�L�R�Q
������”), an anti-takeover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date such person became an interested
stockholder, unless the business combination or the �W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�L�R�Q in which such person became an interested stockholder is approved
in a prescribed manner. Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in
a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person that, together with affiliates and
associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a
corporation’s voting stock. The existence of this provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not
approved in advance by the Board, including discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the
shares of Common Stock held by stockholders.

�1�R���&�X�P�X�O�D�W�L�Y�H���9�R�W�L�Q�J. Neither the Certificate nor Bylaws provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors.

�8�Q�G�H�V�L�J�Q�D�W�H�G���3�U�H�I�H�U�U�H�G���6�W�R�F�N. The authorization of the Company’s undesignated Preferred Stock makes it possible for the
Board to issue Preferred Stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change
control of the Company.

�6�X�S�H�U�P�D�M�R�U�L�W�\���9�R�W�L�Q�J���5�H�T�X�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V. The Company’s Certificate and Bylaws require the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least 80% of the votes of the outstanding shares of stock generally entitled to vote in the election of directors for the removal of a
director, the approval of a business combination (as defined in the Certificate), the amendment, repeal or modification of the
Bylaws and the amendment, repeal or modification of certain provisions of the Certificate, including, among other things, relating
to the elimination of stockholder action by written consent, business combinations and the absence of preemptive rights of
stockholders.
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�&�H�U�W�D�L�Q���L�G�H�Q�W�L�I�L�H�G���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���R�P�L�W�W�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�L�V���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���L�W���L�V���Q�R�W���P�D�W�H�U�L�D�O���D�Q�G���Z�R�X�O�G���E�H���F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�Y�H�O�\���K�D�U�P�I�X�O���L�I
�S�X�E�O�L�F�O�\���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�H�G���D�Q�G���K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���P�D�U�N�H�G���Z�L�W�K�����>�
�
�
�@�����W�R���L�Q�G�L�F�D�W�H���Z�K�H�U�H���R�P�L�V�V�L�R�Q�V���K�D�Y�H���E�H�H�Q���P�D�G�H��

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

�(�; �( �&�8�7�,�9�(���( �0 �3�/ �2�<�0 �(�1�7���$�* �5�(�(�0 �(�1�7

This Employment Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Eric Starkloff (“Executive”) and National Instruments
Corporation (“Company”) is entered into as of October 28, 2019, and will become effective on February 1, 2020 (the “Effective Date”).

1. Duties and Scope of Employment.

(a)    Positions and Duties. As of the Effective Date, Executive will transition out of his current role with the Company and into the
position of its President and Chief Executive Officer, based in the Company’s Austin, Texas headquarters. Executive will report to the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). As of the Effective Date, Executive will render such business and professional services in the
performance of his duties, consistent with Executive’s position within the Company, as shall reasonably be assigned to him by the Board). The
period of Executive’s employment under this Agreement is referred to herein as the “Employment Period.”

(b)    Board Membership. Upon commencement of the Employment Period (or as soon as practicable thereafter), the Board shall
appoint Executive to the Board as a director, subject to any required Board approval, and Executive shall continue to serve as a director during
the Employment Period subject to any required approvals from the Company’s Board, Nominating and Governance Committee, and
stockholders.

(c)    Obligations. During the Employment Period, Executive will perform his duties faithfully and to the best of his ability and will
devote his full business efforts and time to the Company. For the duration of the Employment Period, Executive agrees not to engage in any
other employment, occupation, or consulting activity for any direct or indirect remuneration without the Board’s prior written approval.

2.    At-Will Employment. The Parties agree that Executive’s employment with the Company will continue to be at-will employment
and therefore may be terminated at any time with or without cause or notice, for any reason or no reason. However, as described in this
Agreement, Executive may be entitled to severance benefits depending on the circumstances of Executive’s termination of employment with
the Company. The Company requests that, in the event of Executive’s resignation, where practicable, he provide the Company with up to ninety
(90) days’ advance notice. The Company may, in its discretion, accelerate the separation date during that period without altering the nature of
Executive’s resignation. Any such requested notice period does not alter the at-will nature of Executive’s employment with the Company.

3.    Compensation.

(a)    Base Salary. As of the Effective Date, Executive’s annual base salary will increase to a rate of $700,000 per annum (the “Base
Salary”), payable in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices and subject to usual required withholdings. The first and last
payment of Executive’s Base Salary will be adjusted, if necessary, to reflect a commencement or termination date other than the first or last
working day of a pay period.
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(b)    Annual Bonus. As of the Effective Date, Executive will remain eligible to participate in the Company Annual Incentive Program
(“AIP”) with an annual target of 110% of Base Salary, with performance goals commensurate with Executive’s position, as specified by the
Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”), as may be applicable. The actual earned AIP bonus will be determined
based on achievement of performance goals and paid no later than two and one-half (2-1/2) months following the end of the performance year.
Executive will also continue to be eligible to participate in the Company’s Annual Cash Performance Bonus Program, in accordance with the
terms of the program as in effect from time to time.

(c)    Restricted Stock Unit Award. Subject to the approval of the Board, on February 1, 2020, Executive will be granted 150,000
restricted stock units under the Company’s equity incentive plan (the “Initial Award”). One-half of the restricted stock units subject to the Initial
Award will be scheduled to vest annually over three (3) years subject to Executive’s continued service as an employee through each vesting
date. The remaining restricted stock units subject to the Initial Award will vest based on the Company’s total shareholder return performance in
relation to the performance of the Russell 2000 index over a three-year period commencing January 1, 2020 and subject further to Executive’s
continued employment through the vesting date. In addition, at the Company’s next equity award approval cycle, expected in April 2020,
Executive will be granted additional restricted stock units under the Company’s equity incentive plan equal to the result (rounded to the nearest
whole share) of $2,000,000 divided by the Company’s common stock closing price on the day immediately preceding the grant date
(“Supplemental Award”). The Supplemental Award will be subject to approval of the Board and will be scheduled to vest as to one-half of the
restricted stock units annually over a three-year period subject to Executive’s continued service as an employee through each vesting date. The
remaining restricted stock units subject to the Supplemental Award will be scheduled to vest based on the Company total shareholder return
performance relative to the Russell 2000 index over a three-year performance period commencing January 1, 2020 and subject further to
Executive’s continued employment through the vesting date. Both the Initial Award and the Supplemental Award will be subject to the terms of
the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan or a successor plan, as applicable, and to the standard approved form of service-based and
performance-based restricted stock unit agreement thereunder (the “Equity Award Documents”) and to Executive’s continued employment
through the award grant date. Executive understands and agrees that, to the extent he becomes eligible for any future equity grants, such grant
would be subject to any required Board approval and subject to the relevant equity documents as then in effect at the Company.

4.    Employee Benefits. During the Employment Period, Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents will continue to be eligible to
participate in Company employee benefit plans and perquisites and fringe benefit programs, including medical, dental, 401(k), company
performance bonus and stock purchase plan, made available to other senior executive-level employees, as in effect from time to time.

5.    Vacation. During the Employment Period, Executive will be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the Company’s then-
current policy for other executive-level employees.

6.    Severance Benefits.

(a)    Termination Without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason. If the Company terminates Executive’s employment involuntarily
without Cause (excluding any termination due to death or Disability) or Executive resigns for Good Reason, then, subject to the limitations of
Sections 7 and 8 below, Executive shall be entitled to receive: (i) continuing severance pay at a rate equal to one-hundred percent (100%) of the
Executive’s Base Salary, as then in effect (less applicable withholding), for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of such termination,
paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices; (ii) to the extent not already earned and accrued, a lump sum equivalent to
one hundred percent (100%) of Executive’s AIP bonus as in effect at the time of the applicable termination or resignation, less applicable
withholding, which amount shall be paid at such time annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the Company (for avoidance of
doubt in no case would Executive be entitled to more than one AIP bonus payment under the terms of this provision); (iii) accelerated vesting
of Executive’s outstanding Company service-based restricted stock units that would have vested had
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Executive remained employed by the Company for twelve (12) months following the termination date, and subject to any required approval by
the Board; and (iv) provided Executive timely elects healthcare continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation
Act of 1986 (“COBRA”), Company reimbursement of Executive for, or direct payment of, Executive’s COBRA premiums (at the coverage
level in effect immediately prior to Executive’s termination) until the earlier of eighteen (18) months following the termination date or the date
Executive becomes covered under similar plans. If the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that it cannot provide the foregoing benefit
related to COBRA premiums without potentially violating, or being subject to an excise tax under, applicable law, the Company will instead
provide a taxable monthly payment of an equivalent amount, which will be made regardless of whether Executive elects COBRA and continue
until the earlier of eighteen (18) months following termination or the date Executive becomes covered under similar plans.

(b)    Change in Control Benefits. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the preceding paragraph, if a termination described in
Section 6(a) occurs within the period beginning three months prior to a Change in Control and ending twelve (12) months following a Change
in Control, then the Executive will be entitled to receive the same severance in Section 6(a) except the severance amount in Section 6(a)(i) will
be paid in a lump-sum on the sixtieth (60th) day following the termination date. For avoidance of doubt, Executive’s equity awards will remain
subject to the Change in Control vesting or other treatment as provided for under the terms of the Company’s equity plan and Executive’s
equity award agreements, as applicable, notwithstanding Executive’s eligibility to receive vesting acceleration under Section 6(a)(iii) of this
Agreement in the event of a termination described in Section 6(a).

(c)    Voluntary Resignation; Termination for Cause. If Executive’s employment with the Company or its Affiliates terminates
(i) voluntarily by Executive (other than for Good Reason) or (ii) for Cause by the Company, then Executive will not be entitled to receive
severance or other benefits except for those (if any) as may then be established under the Company’s then existing severance and benefits plans
and practices or pursuant to other written agreements with the Company, if applicable.

(d)    Disability; Death. If the Company terminates Executive’s employment as a result of Executive’s Disability, or Executive’s
employment terminates due to Executive’s death, then Executive will not be entitled to receive severance or other benefits except for those (if
any) as may then be established under the Company’s then existing written severance and benefits plans and practices or pursuant to other
written agreements with the Company, if applicable.

(e)    Accrued Compensation. For the avoidance of any doubt, in the event of a termination of Executive’s employment with the
Company or its Affiliates, Executive will be entitled to receive all accrued but unpaid base salary, any earned but unused vacation pay and
reimbursement for any unreimbursed expenses, in accordance with Company policies then in effect and applicable law.

(f)    Transfer between the Company and Affiliates. For purposes of this Section 6, Executive will not be determined to have been
terminated without Cause, where Executive continues to remain employed by the Company or one of its Affiliates (e.g., upon transfer from on
Affiliate to another); provided, however, that the parties understand and acknowledge that any such transfer could potentially result in
Executive’s ability to resign for Good Reason.

(g)    Exclusive Remedy. Severance benefits provided to the Executive pursuant to this Section 6 are in lieu of, and not in addition to,
any benefits to which Executive may otherwise be entitled under any Company severance plan, policy or program.

7.    Conditions to Receipt of Severance. Any severance payments, equity acceleration, or other payments or benefits under
Section 6(a) and (b) above are conditioned on Executive’s continued compliance with the Proprietary Rights Agreement (defined below),
including the restrictive covenants therein, and on Executive’s
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signing and not revoking separation agreement and release, including a general release of claims against the Company and certain related
persons and entities, in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Company (the “Release”) and such Release becoming effective in accordance with
its terms (such date, the “Release Effective Date”) within sixty (60) days following your termination date (the “Release Deadline”). Severance
payments or benefits shall be paid or commence, as applicable, upon the first payroll date following the Release Effective Date and such
payment will include the amount of any installment that would otherwise been paid prior to such payment date. All other benefits, if any, due to
Executive following a termination will be determined in accordance with the plans, policies and practices of the Company as then in effect.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations and
guidance promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”), if the sixty (60) day Release period spans two (2) calendar years, the severance payments
will be delayed to the first scheduled payroll date in the second year (and will include all payments that would otherwise have been made prior
to such date). Severance payments will not be paid or provided until the Release becomes effective and irrevocable.

8.    Section 409A. The parties intend that this Agreement be interpreted to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A so that none
of the severance payments or benefits provided hereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A. For purposes of
determining severance, a termination of employment shall mean not be deemed to have occurred unless the termination is also a “separation
from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. If Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, then the
severance and any other separation benefits payable upon a separation from service (whether under this Agreement or otherwise) that would
constitute deferred compensation under Section 409A (the “Deferred Payments”), otherwise due to Executive on or within the six (6)-month
period following Executive’s separation from service will accrue during such six (6)-month period and will become payable in a lump sum
payment on the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s separation from service (such rule, the “Six Month Delay
Rule”) or, if earlier, the date of your death. All subsequent Deferred Payments following the application of the Six Month Delay Rule, if any,
will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit or, if earlier, upon the date of Executive’s death.
Each payment and benefit payable under this Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of
the Treasury Regulations. Executive and the Company agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to
take such reasonable actions that are necessary, appropriate or desirable to avoid subjecting Executive to an additional tax or income
recognition under Section 409A prior to actual payment of any payments and benefits under this Agreement, as applicable. In no event will the
Company reimburse Executive for any taxes that may be imposed on Executive as a result of Section 409A.

9. Limitation on Payments. In the event that the severance and other benefits provided for in this Agreement or otherwise
payable to Executive (i) constitute “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this Section 9, would
be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, then Executive’s severance benefits under Section 6 will be either:

(a)    delivered in full, or

(b)    delivered as to such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such severance benefits being subject to excise tax
under Section 4999 of the Code, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes
and the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, results in the receipt by Executive on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of
severance benefits, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such severance benefits may be taxable under Section 4999 of the Code. If a
reduction in severance and other benefits constituting “parachute payments” is necessary so that benefits are delivered to a lesser extent,
reduction will occur in the following order: (i) reduction of cash payments; (ii) cancellation of awards granted “contingent on a change in
ownership or control” (within the meaning of Code Section 280G); (iii) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards; or (iv) reduction
of employee benefits. In the event that acceleration of vesting of equity award compensation is to be reduced, such acceleration of vesting will
be cancelled
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in the reverse order of the date of grant of Executive’s equity awards. Unless the Company and Executive otherwise agree in writing, any
determination required under this Section 9 will be made in writing by a nationally recognized accounting or valuation firm (the “Firm”)
selected by the Company, whose determination will be conclusive and binding upon Executive and the Company for all purposes. For purposes
of making the calculations required by this Section 9, the Firm may make reasonable assumptions and approximations concerning applicable
taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code. The Company
and Executive will furnish to the Firm such information and documents as the Accountants may reasonably request in order to make a
determination under this Section. The Company will bear all costs the Firm may reasonably incur in connection with any calculations
contemplated by this Section 9.

10. Definitions. The following terms referred to in this Agreement will have the following meanings:

(a)    Affiliate. “Affiliate” means Company and any other parent or subsidiary corporations of the Company, as such terms are defined
in Section 424(e) of the Code.

(b)    Cause. “Cause” means the occurrence of one or more of the following: (i) Executive’s indictment for the commission of any
felony or a misdemeanor involving deceit, material dishonesty or fraud, or any other such conduct by Executive that would reasonably be
expected to result in material injury or reputational harm to the Company if Executive were retained in his position; (ii) Executive’s material
violation of this Agreement, the Proprietary Rights Agreement, or any other material agreement with the Company, including any
misappropriation or disclosure of confidential and proprietary information or trade secrets of the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates; (iii)
continued failure to substantially perform Executive’s duties with the Company (other than any such failure resulting from Executive’s
Disability) after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to Executive by the Board, which is not substantially corrected by
Executive to the satisfaction of the Board within thirty (30) days of receipt of such demand; (iv) a breach by Executive of Executive’s fiduciary
duties and responsibilities to the Company that would be reasonable likely to result in a material injury or effect on the Company’s business,
operations, prospects or reputation; (v)  Executive’s participation in releasing financial statements known by Executive to be false or materially
misleading or intentional submission of a false certification to the Securities and Exchange Commission or other governmental agency or
authority;  (vi) a material violation of the Company’s Code of Ethics or other policies of the Company, as determined by the Board its sole
discretion; or (vii)  failure to cooperate with a bona fide internal investigation or an investigation by regulatory or law enforcement authorities,
after being instructed by the Board to cooperate, or the destruction or failure to preserve documents or other materials known to be relevant to
such investigation or the inducement of others to fail to cooperate or to produce documents or other materials in connection with such
investigation.

(c)    Change in Control. “Change in Control” means (i) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of
the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then outstanding voting
securities; (ii) the consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; (iii) a change in
the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of the members of the Board is replaced during any twelve (12)
month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to the date of the
appointment or election; or (iv) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent
(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) at least fifty percent (50%) of
the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after
such merger or consolidation. Notwithstanding the foregoing definition, any payment or benefit that would be considered deferred
compensation subject to, and not exempt from, Section 409A, payable or to be provided upon a Change in Control shall only be paid or
provided to Executive to the extent such event also qualifies as an event described in Internal Revenue Code Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v).
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(d)    Disability. “Disability” means Executive’s entitlement to benefits under Company’s long-term disability plan or if Executive does
not participate in Company’s long term-disability plan, Executive’s inability, due to physical or mental incapacity, to perform Executive’s duties
under this letter Agreement for a period of ninety (90) consecutive days or one-hundred twenty (120) days during any consecutive six-month
period.

(e)    Good Reason. “Good Reason” means Executive’s resignation within thirty (30) days following the expiration of any Company
cure period (discussed below) following the occurrence of one or more of the following, without Executive’s written consent: (i) a material
diminution of Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities relative to Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities in effect immediately
prior to such diminution; provided, however, that a reduction in the Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities solely by virtue of the
Company being acquired and made part of a larger entity (for example, “Good Reason” does not exist if the Executive is employed by the
Company with substantially the same responsibilities with respect to the Company’s business that Executive had immediately prior to the
Change of Control regardless of whether Executive’s title is revised to reflect Executive’s placement within the overall corporate hierarchy or
whether Executive provides services to a subsidiary, affiliate, business unit or otherwise); (ii) a material reduction by the Company in the base
compensation or target bonus of the Executive as in effect immediately prior to such reduction, other than a reduction of up to 25% that is also
applied to other senior executives of the Company; or (iii) the relocation of Executive to a facility or a location more than one hundred (100)
miles from Executive’s then-present location. Executive’s resignation will not be deemed to be for Good Reason unless Executive has first
provided the Company with written notice of the acts or omissions constituting the grounds for “Good Reason” within ninety (90) days of the
initial existence of the grounds for “Good Reason” and a reasonable cure period of not less than thirty (30) days following the date the
Company receives such notice, and such condition has not been cured during such period.

11. Company Matters.

(a)    Proprietary Information and Inventions. Executive acknowledges and agrees that as a condition of his continued
employment with the Company under this Agreement, he will be required to sign and comply with an At-Will Employment, Confidential
Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement��(the “Proprietary Rights Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as
Exhibit A. Executive further acknowledges and agrees that he will continue to abide by the Company Values and Guidelines and the Company
Code of Ethics, which remain in full force and effect, as well as other Company policies as in effect from time to time. In the event of any
conflict between any pre-existing confidentiality, non-compete, or non-disclosure obligations and the terms of the restrictive covenants
agreement set forth in the Proprietary Rights Agreement, the terms of the Proprietary Rights Agreement shall control.

(b)     Resignation on Termination. On termination of his employment, regardless of the reason thereof, Executive shall
immediately (and with contemporaneous effect) resign any directorships, offices, or other positions he may hold in the Company unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.

(c)    Notification of New Employer. In the event that Executive leaves the employ of the Company, Executive grants consent
to notification by the Company to Executive’s new employer about his rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Proprietary Rights
Agreement.

12. Arbitration. IN CONSIDERATION OF EXECUTIVE’S CONTINUED EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY, ITS
PROMISE TO ARBITRATE ALL EMPLOYMENT-RELATED DISPUTES AND EXECUTIVE’S RECEIPT OF THE COMPENSATION,
PAY RAISES AND OTHER BENEFITS PAID TO EXECUTIVE BY THE COMPANY, AT PRESENT AND IN THE FUTURE,
EXECUTIVE AGREES THAT ANY AND ALL CONTROVERSIES, CLAIMS, OR DISPUTES WITH ANYONE (INCLUDING THE
COMPANY AND ANY EMPLOYEE, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, SHAREHOLDER OR BENEFIT PLAN, IN THEIR CAPACITY AS SUCH
OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF, RELATING TO, OR RESULTING FROM
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EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY OR THE TERMINATION OF EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE
COMPANY, INCLUDING ANY DISPUTES RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO
BINDING ARBITRATION AS SET FORTH IN THE PROPRIETARY RIGHTS AGREEMENT, AND SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS
THEREIN REGARDING PROTECTED ACTIVITY.

13. Assignment. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal
representatives of Executive upon Executive's death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be
deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm,
corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or
substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of the rights of Executive to receive any form of compensation payable
pursuant to this Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Any other attempted
assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of Executive’s right to compensation or other benefits will be null and void.

14. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications called for under this Agreement shall be in writing and
shall be delivered personally by hand or by courier, mailed by United States first-class mail, postage prepaid, or sent by email directed to the
party to be notified at the physical address or email address indicated for such party on the signature page to this Agreement, or at such other
address or email address as such party may designate by ten (10) days’ advance written notice to the other Parties hereto. All such notices and
other communications shall be deemed given upon personal delivery, three (3) days after the date of mailing, or upon sending the email.

15. Severability. In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal,
unenforceable or void, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect without said provision.

16. Integration. This Agreement, together with the Proprietary Rights Agreement, any other agreements relating to proprietary
rights between you and the Company, the Equity Award Agreements, the Indemnification Agreement, dated March 6, 2014, and the Company’s
Employee Handbook and Code of Ethics, set forth the terms of your employment with the Company as of the Effective Date and supersede any
prior representations and agreements, whether written or oral. This Agreement supersedes any prior employment agreement between you and
the Company, including, but not limited, to the letter agreement entered into in connection with your promotion to President and Chief
Operating Officer dated October 23, 2018.

17. Tax Withholding. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to withholding of applicable taxes.

18. Waiver. No party to this Agreement shall be deemed to have waived any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or
any provisions hereof unless such waiver shall have been duly executed in writing and acknowledged by the party to be charged with such
waiver. No waiver of any breach of this Agreement shall be held to be a waiver of any other subsequent breach.

19. Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Texas (with the exception of its conflicts of
law provisions). Subject to the arbitration provisions referenced above and without limiting such provisions, the parties agree to exclusive
venue in the state and federal courts in Austin, Texas.

20. Acknowledgment. Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice
from his legal counsel, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of this Agreement, and is
knowingly and voluntarily entering into this Agreement.
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21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original,
and all such counterparts shall constitute but one instrument.

22. Effect of Headings. The section and subsection headings contained herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the
construction hereof.

[�5�H�P�D�L�Q�G�H�U���R�I���S�D�J�H���L�V���L�Q�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�D�O�O�\���E�O�D�Q�N�����6�L�J�Q�D�W�X�U�H���S�D�J�H���I�R�O�O�R�Z�V]
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�,�1���: �,�7�1�(�6�6���: �+�(�5�(�2�)�� the Company and Executive have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

���&�2�0 �3�$�1�<��

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

By:/s/ Michael McGrath    
Michael McGrath
     
Address:

National Instruments Corporation
11500 N Mopac Expwy             
Austin, TX 78759-3504        
Attn: General Counsel

���( �; �( �&�8�7�,�9�(��

/s/ Eric Starkloff    
Eric Starkloff

Address:

[***]

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

SIGNATURE PAGE
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�( �[�K�L�E�L�W���$

���3�U�R�S�U�L�H�W�D�U�\���5�L�J�K�W�V���$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W��

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1
�$�7���: �,�/ �/ ���( �0 �3�/ �2�<�0 �(�1�7�����&�2�1�)�,�' �( �1�7�,�$�/ ���,�1�)�2�5�0 �$�7�,�2�1��

�,�1�9�(�1�7�,�2�1���$�6�6�,�* �1�0 �(�1�7�����$�1�' ���$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�,�2�1���$�* �5�(�(�0 �(�1�7

As a condition of my employment with National Instruments Corporation (the “�&�R�P�S�D�Q�\”), and in consideration of my employment
with the Company and my receipt of the compensation now and hereafter paid to me by the Company, and additional consideration of $100
paid to me by Company concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, I agree to the following provisions of this At-Will Employment,
Confidential Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement (this “�$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W”):

���� �$�7���: �,�/ �/ ���( �0 �3�/ �2�<�0 �(�1�7

I UNDERSTAND AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT MY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY IS FOR NO SPECIFIED TERM
AND CONSTITUTES “AT-WILL” EMPLOYMENT. I ALSO UNDERSTAND THAT ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS
UNAUTHORIZED AND NOT VALID UNLESS IN WRITING AND SIGNED BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY. ACCORDINGLY, I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT MY EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP MAY BE TERMINATED AT
ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE OR FOR ANY OR NO CAUSE, AT MY OPTION OR AT THE OPTION OF THE
COMPANY, WITH OR WITHOUT NOTICE. I FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE COMPANY MAY MODIFY JOB TITLES,
SALARIES, AND BENEFITS FROM TIME TO TIME AS IT DEEMS NECESSARY.

���� �&�2�1�)�,�' �( �1�7�,�$�/ �,�7�<

A. �' �H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���R�I���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���&�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�W�L�D�O���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q. I understand that “�&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���&�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�W�L�D�O���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q” means
information (including any and all combinations of individual items of information) that the Company has or will develop, acquire, create,
compile, discover or own, that has value in or to the Company’s business which is not generally known and which the Company wishes to
maintain as confidential. Company Confidential Information includes both information disclosed by the Company to me, and information
developed or learned by me during the course of my employment with the Company. Company Confidential Information also includes all
information of which the unauthorized disclosure could be detrimental to the interests of the Company, whether or not such information is
identified as Company Confidential Information. By way of example, and without limitation, Company Confidential Information includes any
and all non-public information that relates to the actual or anticipated business and/or products, research or development of the Company, or to
the Company’s technical data, trade secrets, or know-how, including, but not limited to, research, product plans, or other information regarding
the Company’s products or services and markets therefor, customer lists and customers (including, but not limited to, customers of the
Company on which I called or with which I may become acquainted during the term of my employment), software, developments, inventions,
discoveries, ideas, processes, formulas, technology, designs, drawings, engineering, hardware configuration information, marketing, finances,
and other business information disclosed by the Company either directly or indirectly in writing, orally or by drawings or inspection of
premises, parts, equipment, or other Company property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company Confidential Information shall not include
any such information which I can establish (i) was publicly known or made generally available prior to the time of disclosure by the Company
to me; (ii) becomes publicly known or made generally available after disclosure by the Company to me through no wrongful action or omission
by me; or (iii) is in my rightful possession, without confidentiality obligations, at the time of disclosure by the Company as shown by my then-
contemporaneous written records; provided that any combination of individual items of information shall not be deemed to be within any of the
foregoing exceptions merely because one or more of the individual items are within such exception, unless the combination as a whole is within
such exception. I understand that nothing in
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this Agreement is intended to limit employees’ rights to discuss the terms, wages, and working conditions of their employment, as protected by
applicable law.

B. �1�R�Q�X�V�H���D�Q�G���1�R�Q�G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H. I agree that during and after my employment with the Company, I will hold in the strictest
confidence and take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of Company Confidential Information. I will not
(i) use Company Confidential Information for any purpose whatsoever other than for the benefit of the Company in the course of my
employment, or (ii) disclose Company Confidential Information to any third party without the prior written authorization of the President,
CEO, General Counsel or the Board of Directors of the Company (as applicable). Prior to disclosure, when compelled by applicable law, I shall
provide prior written notice to the President, CEO, and General Counsel of the Company (as applicable). I agree that I obtain no title to any
Company Confidential Information, and that the Company retains all Confidential Information as the sole property of the Company. I
understand that my unauthorized use or disclosure of Company Confidential Information during my employment may lead to disciplinary
action, up to and including, immediate termination and legal action by the Company. I understand that my obligations under this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������%
shall continue after termination of my employment and also that nothing in this Agreement prevents me from engaging in protected activity, as
described in Section 14 below.

C. �)�R�U�P�H�U���(�P�S�O�R�\�H�U���&�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�W�L�D�O���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q. I agree that during my employment with the Company, I will not
improperly use, disclose, or induce the Company to use any proprietary information or trade secrets of any former employer or other person or
entity with which I have an obligation to keep such proprietary information or trade secrets in confidence. I further agree that I will not bring
onto the Company’s premises or transfer onto the Company’s technology systems any unpublished document, proprietary information, or trade
secrets belonging to any such third party unless disclosure to, and use by, the Company has been consented to, in writing, by such third party
and the Company.

D. �7�K�L�U�G���3�D�U�W�\���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q. I recognize that the Company has received, and in the future may receive, from third parties
(for example, customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees, partners, and collaborators) as well as its subsidiaries and affiliates (“�$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�H�G���7�K�L�U�G
�3�D�U�W�L�H�V”), information which the Company is required to maintain and treat as confidential or proprietary information of such Associated Third
Parties (“�$�V�V�R�F�L�D�W�H�G���7�K�L�U�G���3�D�U�W�\���&�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�W�L�D�O���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q”), and I agree to use such Associated Third Party Confidential Information only
as directed by the Company and to not use or disclose such Associated Third Party Confidential Information in a manner that would violate the
Company’s obligations to such Associated Third Parties. By way of example, Associated Third Party Confidential Information may include the
habits or practices of Associated Third Parties, the technology of Associated Third Parties, requirements of Associated Third Parties, and
information related to the business conducted between the Company and such Associated Third Parties. I agree at all times during my
employment with the Company and thereafter, that I owe the Company and its Associated Third Parties a duty to hold all such Associated
Third Party Confidential Information in the strictest confidence, and not to use it or to disclose it to any person, firm, corporation, or other third
party except as necessary in carrying out my work for the Company consistent with the Company’s agreement with such Associated Third
Parties. I further agree to comply with any and all Company policies and guidelines that may be adopted from time to time regarding
Associated Third Parties and Associated Third Party Confidential Information. I understand that my unauthorized use or disclosure of
Associated Third Party Confidential Information or violation of any Company policies during my employment may lead to disciplinary action,
up to and including, immediate termination and legal action by the Company.

���� �2�: �1�(�5�6�+�,�3

A. �$�V�V�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W���R�I���,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�V. As between the Company and myself, I agree that all right, title, and interest in and to any
and all copyrightable material, notes, records, drawings, designs, logos, inventions, improvements, developments, discoveries, ideas and trade
secrets conceived, discovered, authored, invented, developed or reduced to practice by me, solely or in collaboration with others, during the
period of time I am in the employ of the Company (including during my off-duty hours), or with the use of the Company’s equipment, supplies,
facilities, or Company Confidential Information, and any copyrights, patents, trade secrets, mask work
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rights or other intellectual property rights relating to the foregoing, except as provided in���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������* ��below (collectively, “�,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�V”), are
the sole property of the Company. I also agree to promptly make full written disclosure to the Company of any Inventions, and to deliver and
assign and hereby irrevocably assign fully to the Company all of my right, title and interest in and to Inventions. I agree that this assignment
includes a present conveyance to the Company of ownership of Inventions that are not yet in existence. I further acknowledge that all original
works of authorship that are made by me (solely or jointly with others) within the scope of and during the period of my employment with the
Company and that are protectable by copyright are “works made for hire,” as that term is defined in the United States Copyright Act. I
understand and agree that the decision whether or not to commercialize or market any Inventions is within the Company’s sole discretion and
for its sole benefit, and that no royalty or other consideration will be due to me as a result of the Company’s efforts to commercialize or market
any such Inventions.

B. �3�U�H���(�[�L�V�W�L�Q�J���0�D�W�H�U�L�D�O�V. I will inform the Company, in writing, before incorporating any inventions, discoveries, ideas,
original works of authorship, developments, improvements, trade secrets and other proprietary information or intellectual property rights owned
by me or in which I have an interest prior to, or separate from, my employment with the Company, including, without limitation, any inventions
that qualify as an “Other Invention” as defined below in �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q �����* , (“�3�U�L�R�U���,�Q�Y�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�V”) into any Invention or otherwise utilizing any Prior
Invention in the course of my employment with the Company; and the Company is hereby granted a nonexclusive, royalty-free, perpetual,
irrevocable, transferable worldwide license (with the right to grant and authorize sublicenses) to make, have made, use, import, offer for sale,
sell, reproduce, distribute, modify, adapt, prepare derivative works of, display, perform, and otherwise exploit such incorporated or utilized
Prior Inventions, without restriction, including, without limitation, as part of, or in connection with, such Invention, and to practice any method
related thereto. I will not incorporate any inventions, discoveries, ideas, original works of authorship, developments, improvements, trade
secrets and other proprietary information or intellectual property rights owned by any third party into any Invention without the Company’s
prior written permission. I have attached hereto as Exhibit A a list describing all Prior Inventions that relate to the Company’s current or
anticipated business, products, or research and development or, if no such list is attached, I represent and warrant that there are no such Prior
Inventions. Furthermore, I represent and warrant that if any Prior Inventions are included on Exhibit A, they will not materially affect my
ability to perform all obligations under this Agreement.

C. �0�R�U�D�O���5�L�J�K�W�V. Any assignment to the Company of Inventions includes all rights of attribution, paternity, integrity,
modification, disclosure and withdrawal, and any other rights throughout the world that may be known as or referred to as “moral rights,”
“artist’s rights,” “droit moral,” or the like (collectively, “�0 �R�U�D�O���5�L�J�K�W�V”). To the extent that Moral Rights cannot be assigned under applicable
law, I hereby waive and agree not to enforce any and all Moral Rights, including, without limitation, any limitation on subsequent modification,
to the extent permitted under applicable law.

D. �0�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H���R�I���5�H�F�R�U�G�V. I agree to keep and maintain adequate, current, accurate, and authentic written records of all
Inventions made by me (solely or jointly with others) during the term of my employment with the Company. The records will be in the form of
notes, sketches, drawings, electronic files, reports, or any other format that may be specified by the Company. As between the Company and
myself, the records are and will be available to and remain the sole property of the Company at all times.

E. �)�X�U�W�K�H�U���$�V�V�X�U�D�Q�F�H�V. I agree to assist the Company, or its designee, at the Company’s expense, in every proper way to
secure the Company’s rights in the Inventions in any and all countries, including the disclosure to the Company of all pertinent information and
data with respect thereto, the execution of all applications, specifications, oaths, assignments, and all other instruments that the Company shall
deem proper or necessary in order to apply for, register, obtain, maintain, defend, and enforce such rights, and in order to deliver, assign and
convey to the Company, its successors, assigns, and nominees the sole and exclusive rights, title, and interest in and to all Inventions, and
testifying in a suit or other proceeding relating to such Inventions. I further agree that my obligations under this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������( ��shall continue after
the termination of this Agreement.
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F. �$�W�W�R�U�Q�H�\���L�Q���)�D�F�W. I agree that, if the Company is unable because of my unavailability, mental or physical incapacity, or
for any other reason to secure my signature with respect to any Inventions, including, for the purpose of applying for or pursuing any
application for any United States or foreign patents or mask work or copyright registrations covering the Inventions assigned to the Company in
�6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������$, then I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as my agent and
attorney-in-fact, to act for and on my behalf to execute and file any papers and oaths, and to do all other lawfully permitted acts with respect to
such Inventions to further the prosecution and issuance of patents, copyright and mask work registrations with the same legal force and effect
as if executed by me. This power of attorney shall be deemed coupled with an interest, and shall be irrevocable.

G. �(�[�F�H�S�W�L�R�Q���W�R���$�V�V�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W�V. I UNDERSTAND THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT REQUIRING
ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS (AS DEFINED UNDER �6�(�&�7�,�2�1�������$ ABOVE) TO THE COMPANY DO NOT APPLY TO ANY
INVENTION FOR WHICH NO EQUIPMENT SUPPLIES, FACILITY, OR TRADE SECRET INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY WAS
USED AND WHICH WAS DEVELOPED ENTIRELY ON MY OWN TIME (AN “�2�7�+�(�5���,�1�9�(�1�7�,�2�1”) EXCEPT FOR THOSE
OTHER INVENTIONS THAT RELATE: (A) DIRECTLY TO THE BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY; (B) TO THE COMPANY’S ACTUAL
OR DEMONSTRABLY ANTICIPATED RESEARCH OR DEVELOPMENT; OR (C) RESULT FROM ANY WORK I PERFORM FOR
THE COMPANY. I WILL NOT INCORPORATE, OR PERMIT TO BE INCORPORATED, ANY OTHER INVENTION OWNED BY ME
OR IN WHICH I HAVE AN INTEREST INTO A COMPANY PRODUCT, PROCESS OR SERVICE WITHOUT THE COMPANY’S PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.

I WILL ADVISE THE COMPANY PROMPTLY IN WRITING OF ANY INVENTIONS THAT I BELIEVE MEET THE ABOVE
CRITERIA AND ARE NOT OTHERWISE DISCLOSED ON EXHIBIT A TO PERMIT A DETERMINATION OF OWNERSHIP BY THE
COMPANY. ANY SUCH DISCLOSURE WILL BE RECEIVED IN CONFIDENCE.

���� �&�2�1�)�/ �,�&�7�,�1�* ���2�%�/ �,�* �$�7�,�2�1�6

A. �&�X�U�U�H�Q�W���2�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V����I agree that during my employment with the Company, I will not engage in or undertake any other
employment, occupation, consulting relationship, or commitment that is directly related to the business in which the Company is now involved
or becomes involved or has plans to become involved, nor will I engage in any other activities that conflict with my obligations to the
Company.

B. �3�U�L�R�U�� �5�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�V. Without limiting �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�� �����$, I represent and warrant that I have no other agreements,
relationships, or commitments to any other person or entity that conflict with the provisions of this Agreement, my obligations to the Company
under this Agreement, or my ability to become employed and perform the services for which I am being hired by the Company. I further agree
that if I have signed a confidentiality agreement or similar type of agreement with any former employer or other entity, I will comply with the
terms of any such agreement to the extent that its terms are lawful under applicable law. I represent and warrant that after undertaking a careful
search (including searches of my computers, cell phones, electronic devices, and documents), I have returned all property and confidential
information belonging to all prior employers (and/or other third parties I have performed services for in accordance with the terms of my
applicable agreement). Moreover, I agree to fully indemnify the Company, its directors, officers, agents, employees, investors, shareholders,
administrators, affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, predecessor and successor corporations, and assigns for all verdicts, judgments, settlements,
and other losses incurred by any of them resulting from my breach of my obligations under any agreement with a third party to which I am a
party or obligation to which I am bound, as well as any reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs if the plaintiff is the prevailing party in such an
action, except as prohibited by law.

���� �5�(�7�8�5�1���2�)���&�2�0 �3�$�1�<���0 �$�7�(�5�,�$�/ �6

A. �' �H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���R�I���(�O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0�H�G�L�D���(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W���D�Q�G���(�O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0�H�G�L�D���6�\�V�W�H�P�V�����, understand that ���( �O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0 �H�G�L�D
�(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W�� includes, but is not limited to, computers, external storage devices, thumb drives, mobile devices (including, but not limited to,
smart phones, tablets, and e-readers), telephone equipment, and other
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electronic media devices. I understand that ���( �O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0 �H�G�L�D���6�\�V�W�H�P�V�� includes, but is not limited to, computer servers, messaging and email
systems or accounts, applications for computers or mobile devices, and web-based services (including cloud-based information storage
accounts).

B. �5�H�W�X�U�Q���R�I���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\�� I understand that anything that I created or worked on for the Company while working for
the Company belongs solely to the Company and that I cannot remove, retain, or use such information without the Company’s express written
permission. Accordingly, upon separation from employment with the Company or upon the Company’s request at any other time, I will
immediately deliver to the Company, and will not keep in my possession, recreate, or deliver to anyone else, any and all Company property,
including, but not limited to, Company Confidential Information, Associated Third Party Confidential Information, all Company equipment
including all Company Electronic Media Equipment, all tangible embodiments of the Inventions, all electronically stored information and
passwords to access such information, Company credit cards, records, data, notes, notebooks, reports, files, proposals, lists, correspondence,
specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, materials, photographs, charts, any other documents and property, and reproductions of any of
the foregoing items including, without limitation, those records maintained pursuant to �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������' . Notwithstanding the foregoing, I
understand that I am allowed to keep a copy of the Company’s employee handbook and personnel records relating to my employment.

C. �5�H�W�X�U�Q���R�I���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���R�Q���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���(�O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0�H�G�L�D���(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W����In connection with my obligation to return
information to the Company, I agree that I will not copy, delete, or alter any information, including personal information voluntarily created or
stored, contained in Company Electronic Media Equipment before I return the information to the Company.

D. �5�H�W�X�U�Q���R�I���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���,�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���R�Q���3�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���(�O�H�F�W�U�R�Q�L�F���0�H�G�L�D���(�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W�� In addition, if I have used any personal
Electronic Media Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems to create, receive, store, review, prepare or transmit any Company
information, including, but not limited to, Company Confidential Information, I agree to make a prompt and reasonable search for such
information in good faith, including reviewing any personal Electronic Media Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems to locate such
information and, if I locate such information, I agree to notify the Company of that fact and then provide the Company with a computer-useable
copy of all such Company information from those equipment and systems. I agree to cooperate reasonably with the Company to verify that the
necessary copying is completed (including upon request providing a sworn declaration confirming the return of property and deletion of
information), and, upon confirmation of compliance by the Company, I agree to delete and expunge all Company information.

E. �1�R���(�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���3�U�L�Y�D�F�\���L�Q���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\���3�U�R�S�H�U�W�\�� I understand that I have no expectation of privacy in Company
property, and I agree that any Company property is subject to inspection by Company personnel at any time with or without further notice. As
to any personal Electronic Media Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems that I have used for Company purposes, I agree that the
Company, at its sole discretion, may have reasonable access, as determined by the Company in good faith, to such personal Electronic Media
Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems to review, retrieve, destroy, or ensure the permanent deletion of Company information from
such equipment or systems or to take such other actions necessary to protect the Company or Company property, as determined by the
Company reasonably and in good faith. I also consent to an exit interview and an audit to confirm my compliance with this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q����, and I will
certify in writing that I have complied with the requirements of this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q����.

���� �7�(�5�0 �,�1�$�7�,�2�1���&�(�5�7�,�)�,�&�$�7�,�2�1

Upon separation from employment with the Company, I agree to immediately sign and deliver to the Company the “Termination
Certification” attached hereto as Exhibit C.
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���� �1�2�7�,�)�,�&�$�7�,�2�1���2�)���1�(�: ���( �0 �3�/ �2�<�(�5

If I leave the employ of the Company, I hereby grant consent to the Company to notify my new employer about my obligations under
this Agreement. I also agree to keep the Company advised of my home and business address for a period of three (3) years after termination of
my employment with the Company, so that the Company can contact me regarding my continuing obligations provided by this Agreement.

���� �&�2�9�(�1�$�1�7���1�2�7���7�2���&�2�0 �3�(�7�(���$�1�' ���1�2���6�2�/ �,�&�,�7�$�7�,�2�1

A.    �&�R�Y�H�Q�D�Q�W���1�R�W���W�R���&�R�P�S�H�W�H����I agree that during the course of my employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months
immediately following the termination of my relationship with the Company for any reason, whether with or without cause, at the option either
of the Company or myself, with or without notice, I will not, without the prior written consent of the Company: (i) serve as a partner, principal,
licensor, licensee, employee, consultant, officer, director, manager, agent, affiliate, representative, advisor, promoter, associate, investor, or
otherwise for (except for passive ownership of one percent (1%) or less of any entity whose securities have been registered under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended); (ii) directly or indirectly, own, purchase, organize
or take preparatory steps for the organization of; or (iii) build, design, finance, acquire, lease, operate, manage, control, invest in, work or
consult for or otherwise join, participate in or affiliate myself with, any business whose business, products or operations are in any respect
involved in the Covered Business.  For purposes of this Agreement, “�&�R�Y�H�U�H�G���%�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V” shall mean any business in which the Company
directly competes with through the termination of my relationship with the Company, and includes, but is not limited to, the entities
on the list set forth in Exhibit D (as may be amended by the Company from time to time). The foregoing covenant shall cover my
activities in every part of the Territory.  For purposes of this Agreement, “�7�H�U�U�L�W�R�U�\” shall mean: (i) all counties in the State of Texas; (ii) all
other states of the United States of America in which the Company provided goods or services, had customers, or otherwise conducted business
at any time during the two-year period prior to the date of the termination of my relationship with the Company; and (iii) any other countries
from which the Company maintains non-trivial operations or facilities, provided goods or services, had customers, or otherwise conducted
business at any time during the two-year period prior to the date of the termination of my relationship with the Company. Should I obtain other
employment during my employment with the Company or within twenty-four (24) months immediately following the termination of my
relationship with the Company, I agree to provide written notification to the Company as to the name and address of my new employer, the
position that I expect to hold, and a general description of my duties and responsibilities, at least three (3) business days prior to starting such
employment.

B.    �1�R���6�R�O�L�F�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q��

(1)    �1�R�Q���6�R�O�L�F�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���&�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V�� I agree that for a period of twelve (12) months immediately following the
termination of my relationship with the Company for any reason, whether with or without cause, at the option either of the Company or myself,
with or without notice, I will not contact, or cause to be contacted, directly or indirectly, or engage in any form of oral, verbal, written,
recorded, transcribed, or electronic communication with any Customer for the purposes of conducting business that is competitive or similar to
that of the Company or for the purpose of disadvantaging the Company’s business in any way. For purposes of this Agreement, “�&�X�V�W�R�P�H�U”
shall mean all persons or entities that have used or inquired of the Company’s services at any time during the two-year period preceding the
termination of my employment with the Company. I acknowledge and agree that the Customers did not use or inquire of the Company’s
services solely as a result of my efforts, and that the efforts of other Company personnel and resources are responsible for the Company’s
relationship with the Customers. I further acknowledge and agree that the identity of the Customers is not readily ascertainable or discoverable
through public sources, and that the Company’s list of Customers was cultivated with great effort and secured through the expenditure of
considerable time and money by the Company.

(2)    �1�R�Q���6�R�O�L�F�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���(�P�S�O�R�\�H�H�V�� I agree that for a period of twelve (12) months immediately following the
termination of my relationship with the Company for any reason, whether with or without
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cause, at the option either of the Company or myself, with or without notice, I will not directly or indirectly hire, solicit, or recruit, or attempt to
hire, solicit, or recruit, any employee of the Company to leave their employment with the Company, nor will I contact any employee of the
Company, or cause an employee of the Company to be contacted, for the purpose of leaving employment with the Company.

(3)    �1�R�Q���6�R�O�L�F�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���2�W�K�H�U�V�� I agree that for a period of twelve (12) months immediately following the termination
of my relationship with the Company for any reason, whether with or without cause, at the option either of the Company or myself, with or
without notice, I will not solicit, encourage, or induce, or cause to be solicited, encouraged or induced, directly or indirectly, any franchisee,
joint venture, supplier, vendor or contractor who conducted business with the Company at any time during the two-year period preceding the
termination of my employment with the Company, to terminate or adversely modify any business relationship with the Company or not to
proceed with, or enter into, any business relationship with the Company, nor shall I otherwise interfere with any business relationship between
the Company and any such franchisee, joint venture, supplier, vendor or contractor.

C.    �$�F�N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H�P�H�Q�W�V�� I acknowledge that I will derive significant value from the Company’s agreement to provide me with
Company Confidential Information to enable me to optimize the performance of my duties to the Company.  I further acknowledge that my
fulfillment of the obligations contained in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, my obligation neither to disclose nor to use Company
Confidential Information other than for the Company’s exclusive benefit and my obligations not to compete and not to solicit contained in
subsections (A) and (B) above, is necessary to protect Company Confidential Information and, consequently, to preserve the value and
goodwill of the Company.  I also acknowledge the time, geographic and scope limitations of my obligations under subsections (A) and (B)
above are fair and reasonable in all respects, especially in light of the Company’s need to protect Company Confidential Information and the
scope and nature of the Company’s business, and that I will not be precluded from gainful employment if I am obligated not to compete with
the Company or solicit its customers, employees, or others during the period and within the Territory as described above. In the event of my
breach or violation of this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q����, or good faith allegation by the Company of my breach or violation of this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q����, the restricted
periods set forth in this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q���� shall be tolled until such breach or violation, or dispute related to an allegation by the Company that I have
breached or violated this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q����, has been duly cured or resolved, as applicable. I agree that nothing in this �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q���� shall affect my
continuing obligations under this Agreement during and after this twelve (12) month period, including, without limitation, my obligations
under �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q��Error! Reference source not found..

�'��    �6�H�S�D�U�D�W�H���&�R�Y�H�Q�D�Q�W�V. The covenants contained in subsections (A) and (B) above shall be construed as a series of separate
covenants, one for each city, county and state of any geographic area in the Territory.  Except for geographic coverage, each such separate
covenant shall be deemed identical in terms to the covenant contained in subsections (A) and (B) above.  If, in any judicial or arbitral
proceeding, a court or arbitrator refuses to enforce any of such separate covenants (or part thereof), then such unenforceable covenant (or such
part) shall be revised, or if revision is not permitted it shall be eliminated from this Agreement, to the extent necessary to permit the remaining
covenants (or portions thereof) to be enforced.  In the event the provisions of subsections (A) and (B) above are deemed to exceed the time,
geographic or scope limitations permitted by law, then such provisions shall be reformed to the maximum time, geographic or scope
limitations, then permitted by such law. In the event that the applicable court or arbitrator does not exercise the power granted to it in the prior
sentence, I and the Company agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision
that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term.

���� �&�2�1�)�/ �,�&�7���2�)���,�1�7�(�5�(�6�7���* �8�,�' �( �/ �,�1�(�6

I agree to diligently adhere to all policies of the Company, including the Company’s insider trading policies, any employee handbook or
manual, any code of ethics, or any other Company policies as may be in effect from time to time during my employment.
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������ �5�(�3�5�(�6�(�1�7�$�7�,�2�1�6

Without limiting my obligations under �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������( , I agree to execute any proper oath or verify any proper document required to carry
out the terms of this Agreement. I represent and warrant that my performance of all the terms of this Agreement will not breach any agreement
to keep in confidence information acquired by me in confidence or in trust prior to my employment by the Company. I hereby represent and
warrant that I have not entered into, and I will not enter into, any oral or written agreement in conflict herewith.

������ �$�8�' �,�7

I acknowledge that I have no reasonable expectation of privacy in any Company Electronic Media Equipment or Company Electronic
Media System. All information, data, and messages created, received, sent, or stored in Company Electronic Media Equipment or Company
Electronic Media Systems are, at all times, the property of the Company. As such, the Company has the right to audit and search all such items
and systems, without further notice to me, to ensure that the Company is licensed to use the software on the Company’s devices in compliance
with the Company’s software licensing policies, to ensure compliance with the Company’s policies, and for any other business-related purposes
in the Company’s sole discretion. I understand that I am not permitted to add any unlicensed, unauthorized, or non-compliant applications to the
Company’s technology systems, including, without limitation, open source or free software not authorized by the Company, and that I shall
refrain from copying unlicensed software onto the Company’s technology systems or using non-licensed software or websites. I understand that
it is my responsibility to comply with the Company’s policies governing use of the Company’s documents and the internet, email, telephone,
and technology systems to which I will have access in connection with my employment. In addition, as to any personal Electronic Media
Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems or other personal property that I have used for Company purposes, I agree that the Company
may have reasonable access to such personal Electronic Media Equipment or personal Electronic Media Systems or other personal property to
review, retrieve, destroy, or ensure the permanent deletion of Company information from such equipment or systems or property or take such
other actions that are needed to protect the Company or Company property, as determined by the Company reasonably and in good faith.

I am aware that the Company has or may acquire software and systems that are capable of monitoring and recording all Company
network traffic to and from any Company Electronic Media Equipment or Company Electronic Media Systems. The Company reserves the
right to access, review, copy, and delete any of the information, data, or messages accessed through Company Electronic Media Equipment or
Electronic Media Systems, with or without notice to me and/or in my absence. This includes, but is not limited to, all e-mail messages sent or
received, website visits, chat sessions, news group activity (including groups visited, messages read, and postings by me), and file transfers into
and out of the Company’s internal networks. The Company further reserves the right to retrieve previously deleted messages from e-mail or
voicemail and monitor usage of the Internet, including websites visited and any information I have downloaded. In addition, the Company may
review Internet and technology systems activity and analyze usage patterns, and may choose to publicize this data to assure that technology
systems are devoted to legitimate business purposes.

������ �$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�,�2�1���$�1�' ���( �4�8�,�7�$�%�/ �(���5�(�/ �,�( �)

A. �$�U�E�L�W�U�D�W�L�R�Q. IN CONSIDERATION OF MY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY, ITS PROMISE TO
ARBITRATE ALL EMPLOYMENT-RELATED DISPUTES WITH ME, AND MY RECEIPT OF COMPENSATION, AND OTHER
COMPANY BENEFITS, AT PRESENT AND IN THE FUTURE, I AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL CONTROVERSIES, CLAIMS, OR
DISPUTES THAT I MAY HAVE WITH THE COMPANY (INCLUDING ANY COMPANY EMPLOYEE, OFFICER, DIRECTOR,
SHAREHOLDER, TRUSTEE, OR BENEFIT PLAN OF THE COMPANY, IN THEIR CAPACITY AS SUCH OR OTHERWISE), ARISING
OUT OF, RELATING TO, OR RESULTING FROM MY EMPLOYMENT OR RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY OR THE
TERMINATION OF MY EMPLOYMENT OR RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY, INCLUDING ANY BREACH OF THIS
AGREEMENT, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO BINDING ARBITRATION UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT (THE “FAA”).  THE
FAA’S SUBSTANTIVE
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AND PROCEDURAL RULES SHALL GOVERN AND APPLY TO THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WITH FULL FORCE AND
EFFECT, AND ANY STATE COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION MAY STAY PROCEEDINGS PENDING ARBITRATION OR
COMPEL ARBITRATION IN THE SAME MANNER AS A FEDERAL COURT UNDER THE FAA. I FURTHER AGREE THAT, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, I MAY BRING ANY SUCH ARBITRATION PROCEEDING ONLY IN MY INDIVIDUAL
CAPACITY, AND NOT AS A PLAINTIFF, REPRESENTATIVE OR CLASS MEMBER IN ANY PURPORTED CLASS, COLLECTIVE
OR REPRESENTATIVE LAWSUIT OR PROCEEDING. �,���$�* �5�(�(���7�2���$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�(���$�1�<���$�1�' ���$�/ �/ ���&�2�0 �0 �2�1���/ �$�: ���$�1�' ���2�5
�6�7�$�7�8�7�2�5�<���&�/ �$�,�0 �6���8�1�' �( �5���/ �2�&�$�/ �����6�7�$�7�(�����2�5���)�( �' �( �5�$�/ ���/ �$�: �����,�1�&�/ �8�' �,�1�* �����%�8�7���1�2�7���/ �,�0 �,�7�(�' ���7�2�����&�/ �$�,�0 �6���8�1�' �( �5
�7�,�7�/ �( ���9�,�,���2�)���7�+�(���&�,�9�,�/ ���5�,�* �+�7�6���$�&�7���2�)���������������7�+�(���$�0 �(�5�,�&�$�1�6���: �,�7�+���' �,�6�$�%�,�/ �,�7�,�( �6���$�&�7���2�)���������������7�+�(���$�* �(
�' �,�6�&�5�,�0 �,�1�$�7�,�2�1�� �,�1�� �( �0 �3�/ �2�<�0 �(�1�7�� �$�&�7�� �2�)�� ������������ �7�+�(�� �2�/ �' �( �5�� �: �2�5�. �( �5�6�� �%�(�1�(�)�,�7�� �3�5�2�7�(�&�7�,�2�1�� �$�&�7���� �7�+�(
�: �2�5�. �( �5���$�' �-�8�6�7�0 �(�1�7���$�1�' ���5�(�7�5�$�,�1�,�1�* ���1�2�7�,�)�,�&�$�7�,�2�1���$�&�7�����7�+�(���)�$�,�5���/ �$�%�2�5���6�7�$�1�' �$�5�' �6���$�&�7�����7�+�(���)�$�0 �,�/�<
�$�1�' �� �0 �(�' �,�&�$�/ �� �/ �( �$�9�(�� �$�&�7���� �7�+�(�� �7�(�; �$�6�� �&�2�0 �0 �,�6�6�,�2�1�� �2�1�� �+�8�0 �$�1�� �5�,�* �+�7�6�� �$�&�7���� �&�/ �$�,�0 �6�� �5�(�/ �$�7�,�1�* �� �7�2
�(�0 �3�/ �2�<�0 �(�1�7�� �6�7�$�7�8�6���� �&�/ �$�6�6�,�)�,�&�$�7�,�2�1�� �$�1�' �� �5�(�/ �$�7�,�2�1�6�+�,�3�� �: �,�7�+�� �7�+�(�� �&�2�0 �3�$�1�<���� �$�1�' �� �&�/ �$�,�0 �6�� �2�)
�+�$�5�$�6�6�0 �(�1�7���� �' �,�6�&�5�,�0 �,�1�$�7�,�2�1���� �: �5�2�1�* �)�8�/ �� �7�(�5�0 �,�1�$�7�,�2�1���� �$�1�' �� �%�5�(�$�&�+�� �2�)�� �&�2�1�7�5�$�&�7���� �( �; �&�(�3�7�� �$�6
�3�5�2�+�,�%�,�7�(�' ���%�<���/ �$�: �����,���$�/ �6�2���$�* �5�(�(���7�2���$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�(�����( �; �&�(�3�7���$�6���3�5�2�+�,�%�,�7�(�' ���%�<���/ �$�: �����$�1�<���$�1�' ���$�/ �/ ���' �,�6�3�8�7�(�6
�$�5�,�6�,�1�* ���2�8�7���2�)���2�5���5�(�/ �$�7�,�1�* ���7�2���7�+�(���,�1�7�(�5�3�5�(�7�$�7�,�2�1���2�5���$�3�3�/ �,�&�$�7�,�2�1���2�)���7�+�,�6���$�* �5�(�(�0 �(�1�7���7�2���$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�(��
�%�8�7�� �1�2�7�� �' �,�6�3�8�7�(�6�� �$�%�2�8�7�� �7�+�(�� �( �1�)�2�5�&�(�$�%�,�/ �,�7�<���� �5�(�9�2�&�$�%�,�/ �,�7�<�� �2�5�� �9�$�/ �,�' �,�7�<�� �2�)�� �7�+�,�6�� �$�* �5�(�(�0 �(�1�7�� �7�2
�$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�(���2�5���$�1�<���3�2�5�7�,�2�1���+�(�5�(�2�)�����: �,�7�+���5�(�6�3�(�&�7���7�2���$�/ �/ ���6�8�&�+���&�/ �$�,�0 �6���$�1�' ���' �,�6�3�8�7�(�6���7�+�$�7���,���$�* �5�(�(���7�2
�$�5�%�,�7�5�$�7�(�����,���+�(�5�(�%�<���( �; �3�5�(�6�6�/�<���$�* �5�(�(���7�2���: �$�,�9�(�����$�1�' ���' �2���: �$�,�9�(�����$�1�<���5�,�* �+�7���7�2���$���7�5�,�$�/ ���%�<���-�8�5�<�� I FURTHER
UNDERSTAND THAT THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE ALSO APPLIES TO ANY DISPUTES THAT THE COMPANY MAY HAVE
WITH ME. I UNDERSTAND THAT NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT REQUIRES ME TO ARBITRATE CLAIMS THAT CANNOT BE
ARBITRATED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, SUCH AS THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT. SIMILARLY, NOTHING IN THIS
AGREEMENT PROHIBITS ME FROM ENGAGING IN PROTECTED ACTIVITY, AS SET FORTH BELOW.

B. �3�U�R�F�H�G�X�U�H. I AGREE THAT ANY ARBITRATION WILL BE ADMINISTERED BY JAMS, PURSUANT TO ITS
EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION RULES & PROCEDURES (THE “�-�$�0 �6���5�8�/ �( �6”), AS THEN IN EFFECT, WHICH ARE AVAILABLE
AT https://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/ AND THE COMPANY. I AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL
HAVE THE POWER TO ORDER DISCOVERY, DECIDE ANY MOTIONS BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY TO THE ARBITRATION,
INCLUDING MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND/OR ADJUDICATION, AND MOTIONS TO DISMISS, APPLYING THE
STANDARDS SET FORTH UNDER THE TEXAS RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE. I AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL
ISSUE A WRITTEN DECISION ON THE MERITS. I ALSO AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE THE POWER TO
AWARD ANY REMEDIES AVAILABLE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, AND THAT THE ARBITRATOR MAY AWARD ATTORNEYS’
FEES AND COSTS TO THE PREVAILING PARTY, WHERE PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW. I AGREE THAT THE DECREE OR
AWARD RENDERED BY THE ARBITRATOR MAY BE ENTERED AS A FINAL AND BINDING JUDGMENT IN ANY COURT
HAVING JURISDICTION THEREOF. I UNDERSTAND THAT THE COMPANY WILL PAY FOR ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR
HEARING FEES CHARGED BY THE ARBITRATOR OR JAMS EXCEPT THAT I SHALL PAY ANY FILING FEES ASSOCIATED
WITH ANY ARBITRATION THAT I INITIATE, BUT ONLY SO MUCH OF THE FILING FEES AS I WOULD HAVE INSTEAD PAID
HAD I FILED A COMPLAINT IN A COURT OF LAW. I AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL ADMINISTER AND CONDUCT
ANY ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH TEXAS LAW, INCLUDING THE TEXAS RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE AND THE
TEXAS RULES OF EVIDENCE, AND THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL APPLY SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL TEXAS LAW
TO ANY DISPUTE OR CLAIM, WITHOUT REFERENCE TO RULES OF CONFLICT-OF-LAW. TO THE EXTENT THAT THE JAMS
RULES CONFLICT WITH TEXAS LAW, TEXAS LAW SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE. I AGREE THAT ANY ARBITRATION
HEREUNDER SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS.
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C. �5�H�P�H�G�\. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED BY THE FAA OR THIS AGREEMENT, ARBITRATION SHALL BE THE SOLE,
EXCLUSIVE, AND FINAL REMEDY FOR ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN ME AND THE COMPANY. ACCORDINGLY, EXCEPT AS
PROVIDED FOR BY THE FAA OR THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER I NOR THE COMPANY WILL BE PERMITTED TO PURSUE OR
PARTICIPATE IN A COURT ACTION REGARDING CLAIMS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION. �$�G�P�L�Q�L�V�W�U�D�W�L�Y�H���5�H�O�L�H�I. I
UNDERSTAND THAT THIS AGREEMENT DOES NOT PROHIBIT ME FROM PURSUING AN ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIM WITH A
LOCAL, STATE, OR FEDERAL ADMINISTRATIVE BODY OR GOVERNMENT AGENCY THAT IS AUTHORIZED TO ENFORCE OR
ADMINISTER LAWS RELATED TO EMPLOYMENT, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE TEXAS WORKFORCE
COMMISSION, THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, OR THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, OR THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD. THIS AGREEMENT DOES,
HOWEVER, PRECLUDE ME FROM PURSUING A COURT ACTION REGARDING ANY SUCH CLAIM, EXCEPT AS PERMITTED
BY LAW.

D. �9�R�O�X�Q�W�D�U�\�� �$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W. I ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT I AM EXECUTING THIS AGREEMENT
VOLUNTARILY AND WITHOUT DURESS OR UNDUE INFLUENCE BY THE COMPANY OR ANYONE ELSE. I FURTHER
ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT I HAVE CAREFULLY READ THE AGREEMENT AND HAVE ASKED ANY QUESTIONS
NEEDED FOR ME TO UNDERSTAND THE TERMS, CONSEQUENCES, AND BINDING EFFECT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND
FULLY UNDERSTAND IT, INCLUDING THAT �,���$�0���: �$�,�9�,�1�*���0�<���5�,�*�+�7���7�2���$���-�8�5�<���7�5�,�$�/ . FINALLY, I AGREE THAT I HAVE
BEEN PROVIDED AN OPPORTUNITY TO SEEK THE ADVICE OF AN ATTORNEY OF MY CHOICE BEFORE SIGNING THIS
AGREEMENT.

������ �0 �,�6�&�(�/ �/ �$�1�(�2�8�6

A. �*�R�Y�H�U�Q�L�Q�J���/�D�Z�����&�R�Q�V�H�Q�W���W�R���3�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���-�X�U�L�V�G�L�F�W�L�R�Q. With the exception of those arbitration requirements set forth in
Section 12 above that are governed by the FAA, this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Texas without regard to Texas’
conflicts-of-law rules that may result in the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than Texas. To the extent that any lawsuit is
permitted under this Agreement, I hereby expressly consent to the personal and exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the state and federal courts
located in or having jurisdiction over Travis County, Texas for any��lawsuit filed against me by the Company.

B. �$�V�V�L�J�Q�D�E�L�O�L�W�\. This Agreement will be binding upon my heirs, executors, assigns, administrators, and other legal
representatives, and will be for the benefit of the Company, its successors, and its assigns. The Associated Third Parties are intended third-party
beneficiaries to this Agreement with respect to my obligations in �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������' . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Company
may assign this Agreement and its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any successor to all, or substantially all, of the Company’s
relevant assets, whether by merger, consolidation, reorganization, reincorporation, sale of assets or stock, or otherwise. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Company’s successors and assigns are authorized to enforce the Company’s rights under this Agreement.

C. �(�Q�W�L�U�H���$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W. This Agreement, together with the Exhibits herein and any executed written offer letter between me
and the Company, to the extent such materials are not in conflict with this Agreement, sets forth the entire agreement and understanding
between the Company and me with respect to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior written and oral agreements, discussions, or
representations between us, including, but not limited to, any representations made during my interview(s) or relocation negotiations. I
represent and warrant that I am not relying on any statement or representation not contained in this Agreement. Any subsequent change or
changes in my duties, salary, compensation, conditions or any other terms of my employment will not affect the validity or scope of this
Agreement.

D. �+�H�D�G�L�Q�J�V. Headings are used in this Agreement for reference only and shall not be considered when interpreting this
Agreement.
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E. �6�H�Y�H�U�D�E�L�O�L�W�\. If a court or other body of competent jurisdiction finds, or the parties mutually believe, any provision of
this Agreement, or portion thereof, to be invalid or unenforceable, such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent permissible so as to
effect the intent of the parties, and the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect.

F. �0�R�G�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�����: �D�L�Y�H�U����No modification of or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waiver of any rights under this
Agreement, will be effective unless in a writing signed by the Chairman of the Board of the Company (or a duly authorized member of the
Board) and me. Waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement will not operate as a waiver of any other or subsequent
breach.

G. �6�X�U�Y�L�Y�R�U�V�K�L�S����The rights and obligations of the parties to this Agreement will survive termination of my employment
with the Company.

H. �$�S�S�O�L�F�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���3�D�V�W���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�L�H�V. The Company and I acknowledge that I have been engaged to provide services by the
Company for a period of time prior to the date of this Agreement (the “�3�U�L�R�U���(�Q�J�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���3�H�U�L�R�G”). Accordingly, I agree that if and to the
extent that, during the Prior Engagement Period: (i) I received access to any information from or on behalf of Company that would have been
Company Confidential Information if I received access to such information during the period of my employment with the Company under this
Agreement; or (ii) I conceived, created, authored, invented, developed or reduced to practice any item, including any intellectual property rights
with respect thereto, that would have been an Invention if conceived, created, authored, invented, developed or reduced to practice during the
period of my employment with the Company under this Agreement; then any such information shall be deemed Company Confidential
Information hereunder and any such item shall be deemed an Invention hereunder, and this Agreement shall apply to such information or item
as if conceived, created, authored, invented, developed or reduced to practice under this Agreement.

������ �3�5�2�7�(�&�7�(�' ���$�&�7�,�9�,�7�<���1�2�7���3�5�2�+�,�%�,�7�(�'

I understand that nothing in this Agreement limits or prohibits me from filing a charge or complaint with, or otherwise communicating
or cooperating with or participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by, any federal, state or local government agency
or commission, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Occupational Safety
and Health Administration, and the National Labor Relations Board �����* �R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W���$�J�H�Q�F�L�H�V��), including disclosing documents or other
information as permitted by law, without giving notice to, or receiving authorization from, the Company. Notwithstanding, in making any such
disclosures or communications, I agree to take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that
may constitute Company Confidential Information to any parties other than the Government Agencies. I further understand that I am not
permitted to disclose the Company’s attorney-client privileged communications or attorney work product. In addition, I hereby acknowledge
that the Company has provided me with notice in compliance with the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 regarding immunity from liability for
limited disclosures of trade secrets. The full text of the notice is attached in Exhibit B.

Date: 10/28/2019        /s/ Eric H. Starkloff    
Signature

Eric H. Starkloff    
Name of Employee (typed or printed)
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�( �; �+�,�%�,�7���$

�/ �,�6�7���2�)���3�5�,�2�5���,�1�9�(�1�7�,�2�1�6
�$�1�' ���2�5�,�* �,�1�$�/ ���: �2�5�. �6���2�)���$�8�7�+�2�5�6�+�,�3

Title Date Identifying Number or Brief Description

   

   

   

   

X No inventions or improvements

Additional Sheets Attached

Date: 10/28/2019     /s/ Eric H. Starkloff    
Signature

Eric H. Starkloff    
Name of Employee (typed or printed)

�3�U�R�S�U�L�H�W�D�U�\���5�L�J�K�W�V���$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W - 12



�( �; �+�,�%�,�7���%

�6�(�&�7�,�2�1�������2�)���7�+�(���' �( �)�( �1�' ���7�5�$�' �( ���6�(�&�5�(�7�6���$�&�7���2�)����������

“ . . . An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret
that—(A) is made—(i) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii)
solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. . . . An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting
a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade secret information in the court
proceeding, if the individual—(A) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade secret, except
pursuant to court order.”
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�( �; �+�,�%�,�7���&

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1���7�(�5�0 �,�1�$�7�,�2�1���&�(�5�7�,�)�,�&�$�7�,�2�1

This is to certify that I do not have in my possession, nor have I failed to return, any devices, records, data, notes, reports, proposals,
lists, correspondence, specifications, drawings, blueprints, sketches, materials, equipment, any other documents or property, or reproductions of
any and all aforementioned items belonging to National Instruments Corporation (the “�&�R�P�S�D�Q�\”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, I
understand that I may keep a copy of the Company’s employee handbook and personnel records relating to me.

I further certify that I have complied with all the terms of the Company’s At-Will Employment, Confidential Information, Invention
Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement (the “�$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W”) signed by me, including the reporting of any inventions and original works of
authorship (as defined therein) conceived or made by me (solely or jointly with others), as covered by that Agreement.

I understand that pursuant to the Agreement, and subject to its protected activity exclusion, I am obligated to preserve, as confidential,
all Company Confidential Information and Associated Third Party Confidential Information, including trade secrets, confidential knowledge,
data, or other proprietary information relating to products, processes, know-how, designs, formulas, developmental or experimental work,
computer programs, databases, other original works of authorship, customer lists, business plans, financial information, or other subject matter
pertaining to any business of the Company or any of its employees, clients, consultants, or licensees.

I also acknowledge that under the Agreement, for twelve (12) months from this date, I will not engage in any of the activities
prohibited by �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q���� of the Agreement, including competition with the Company in the “Territory” defined in �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�������$��of the
Agreement, and solicitation of employees, customers, vendors, consultants, collaborators, agents, and contractors of the Company. After
leaving the Company’s employment, I will be employed by _______________________________________________________________ in
the position of _______________________________________________________________.

Date:                 
Signature

                    
Name of Employee (typed or printed)

Address for Notifications:        
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This Amendment (“Amendment”) is made as of February 3, 2020 by and between National Instruments Corporation
(“Company”), and Eric Starkloff (“Executive”). The Company and Executive may be referred to herein individually as a “Party”
and collectively as the “Parties.” Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the
Agreement (as defined below).

WHEREAS, Executive and Company entered into that certain Executive Employment Agreement as of October 28, 2019 to
become effective February 1, 2020 (the “Agreement”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(b) of the Agreement, Executive was eligible to participate in the Company’s Annual
Incentive Program (“AIP”) with an annual target of 110% of Base Salary and was to participate in the Company’s Annual Cash
Performance Bonus Program (the “CPB”);

WHEREAS, subsequent to entering into the Agreement, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the Company’s
Executive Incentive Program (“EIP”) to replace the AIP and CPB with respect to executive officers of the Company, including
Executive; and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the terms of the Agreement to make appropriate changes to reflect the adoption of
the EIP and increase Executive’s annual target thereunder in lieu of Executive’s participation in the AIP and CPB as set forth in this
Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

���� Section 3(b) of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(b)    Annual Bonus. As of the Effective Date, Executive is eligible to participate in the Company Executive Incentive
Program (“EIP”) with an annual target of 135% of Base Salary, with performance goals commensurate with Executive’s
position, as specified by the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”) from time to time, as may
be applicable. The actual earned EIP bonus will be determined based on achievement of performance goals and paid no later
than two and one-half (2-1/2) months following the end of the performance year.”

���� Section 4 of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“4.    Employee Benefits. During the Employment Period, Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents will continue
to be eligible to participate in Company employee benefit plans and perquisites and fringe benefit programs, including medical,
dental, 401(k), company stock purchase plan, made available to other senior executive-level employees, as in effect from time
to time.”
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���� Each reference to “AIP” in Section 6 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced with a reference to “EIP.”

���� Miscellaneous. Except as specifically modified by this Amendment, the terms of the Agreement shall remain in
full force and effect. After the date hereof, any reference to the Agreement shall mean the Agreement, as amended and modified
hereby. Sections 12 through 22 of the Agreement are incorporated by reference herein, mutatis mutandis, as if set forth in length
herein.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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�,�1���:�,�7�1�(�6�6���:�+�(�5�(�2�)�� the Company and Executive have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first above
written.

���&�2�0�3�$�1�<��

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/���,�1�6�7�5�8�0�(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

By:/s/ Michael McGrath        

Michael McGrath

Chairman of the Board

     

Address:

National Instruments Corporation

11500 N Mopac Expwy             
Austin, TX 78759-3504        

Attn: General Counsel

���(�;�(�&�8�7�,�9�(��

/s/ Eric Starkloff        

Eric Starkloff

Address:

[***]
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This Transition Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Alexander M. Davern (“Executive”) and National
Instruments Corporation (“Company”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties” or individually referred to as a “Party”) as of October 28, 2019
(the “Effective Date”).

�5�(�&�,�7�$�/ �6

WHEREAS, Executive is employed at-will by the Company as its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”);

WHEREAS, Executive signed an Employment Agreement with the Company on August 29, 2016 which became effective January 1,
2017 (the “Employment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Company granted Executive the restricted stock unit awards covering shares of the Company’s common stock (the
“Equity Awards”), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the applicable Company equity plan and an award agreement thereunder
(collectively, the “Equity Documents”);  

WHEREAS, the Parties desire that Executive become a transitional CEO upon Effective Date, and thereafter transition into an advisory
role on the Transition Date (defined below) whereby he will provide certain transition and advisory services to the Company through the
Termination Date (defined below);

WHEREAS, the Parties desire that this Agreement will supersede and replace his Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date, and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made herein, the Company and Executive hereby agree as follows:
�&�2�9�(�1�$�1�7�6

1. Consideration. In consideration of Executive’s execution of this Agreement and contingent upon his fulfillment of all of its
terms and conditions, the Company agrees as follows:

a. �&�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H�G���(�P�S�O�R�\�P�H�Q�W���' �X�U�L�Q�J���7�U�D�Q�V�L�W�L�R�Q���3�H�U�L�R�G. Upon the Effective Date, Executive, as mutually agreed by the
Parties, will transition into the following transitional employment roles (the period between the Effective Date and Termination Date shall be
referred to as the “Transition Period”):

(i)    Continued CEO Role: Immediately upon the Effective Date, Executive will continue serving as the Company’s CEO until
January 31, 2020 or other such date as may be agreed to by the Parties in writing (“Transition Date”). In that role, Executive will continue serve
as the CEO of the Company, with the same duties and authority, during such interim period.

(ii)    Strategic Advisor Role: As of the Transition Date, Executive will transition into a Strategic Advisor role with the
Company, through May 5, 2020, subject to the terms of this Agreement (the actual final day of such employment, the “Termination Date”) In
such role, Executive will provide services relating to the transition of his role, any requested advisory services and guidance to the management
team, and other such services as requested by the Company’s CEO or its Board of Directors (the “Board”).

(iii)     Other Related Terms:

(1)    During the Transition Period, Executive will continue to be a full-time at-will employee and will be expected to
perform the transition and other related duties referenced above to the satisfaction of the Company and Board. The Company will continue to
pay Executive’s base salary at his current rate until the Termination Date, less applicable withholdings, and in accordance with the Company’s
regular payroll practices. Executive’s other Company employee benefits shall continue during the Transition Period,
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subject to the terms of the applicable policies and plans. Executive shall also continue to vest under any applicable Equity Award grants during
the Transition Period, subject to the terms and conditions of any applicable Equity Documents.

(2)    Executive agrees that he shall not be eligible for any bonus or other incentive pay during the Transition Period
after 2019 (as discussed more below). Executive acknowledges that his continued employment during the Transition Period and the transition
provided hereunder, does not trigger any separation for Good Reason, termination without Cause, or serve as grounds for a constructive
termination, whether under the Employment Agreement or any other agreement with the Company, or applicable law.

b. �6�H�S�D�U�D�W�L�R�Q���$�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W���D�Q�G���5�H�O�H�D�V�H. Executive understands and agrees that if he performs the duties referenced above
in Section 1(a) and completes the Transition Period, and subject to Section 1(c) below, he will be eligible for the benefits offered under the
Separation Agreement and Release (“Separation Agreement”) attached as Exhibit A. Executive acknowledges and agrees that he has received
adequate consideration for both herein and in exchange for the consideration described in the Separation Agreement and will execute the
Separation Agreement on or after the Termination Date. Executive further agrees that continued employment during the Transition Period, as
well as the payment of salary and the provision of benefits during the Transition Period are expressly conditioned upon his agreement to
execute the Separation Agreement on or after the Termination Date. Executive acknowledges and agrees that any benefits or consideration
offered under the Separation Agreement are expressly conditioned upon Executive signing that agreement, and such agreement becoming
effective under its terms.

c. �(�D�U�O�\���6�H�S�D�U�D�W�L�R�Q���G�X�U�L�Q�J���7�U�D�Q�V�L�W�L�R�Q���3�H�U�L�R�G: In the event that either the Company terminates Executive without Cause
(as defined below) or the Parties mutually agree to end the Transition Period in writing, prior to May 5, 2020, then Executive will be entitled to
the following:

(1)    the benefits offered under the Separation Agreement, provided he signs such agreement and such agreement becomes
effective under its terms (for clarity, Executive will be entitled to the same separation benefits under the Separation Agreement, as if he
completed the full Transition Period); and

(2)    a lump sum payment reflecting any remaining base salary that Executive otherwise would have earned under this
Transition Agreement through May 5, 2020, which shall also be subject to Executive signing the Separation Agreement and such agreement
becoming effective under its terms.

(3)    for purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall be as defined in Exhibit A of Executive’s Employment Agreement (which
for clarity shall incorporate the definition of Disability used in the Employment Agreement for purposes of the Cause definition).

d. �$�F�N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H�P�H�Q�W. Executive acknowledges that without this Agreement, Executive is otherwise not entitled to the
consideration listed in this Section 1.

2. Bonus. Executive will be eligible to receive his bonus under the Company Annual Incentive Program (“AIP”) and the Annual
Cash Bonus Performance Program (“CPB”) for the 2019 performance period, in the amount determined under each program based on the
achievement of performance goals, which, if earned, would be paid at the time AIP and CPB bonuses are paid to other executives of the
Company. Executive will not be eligible to receive any payment under the AIP or the CPB for the 2020 performance period or otherwise, or, as
referenced above, any other incentive-based compensation.

3. Equity Awards. Executive will be considered to have vested based on continued service up to the Termination Date (subject
to any vesting acceleration received pursuant to Section 1(b) of the Separation Agreement, and contingent upon the terms of such agreement).
All unvested shares subject to outstanding Equity Awards as of the Termination Date will terminate as of that date (excluding any shares that
may accelerate
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vesting under Section 1(b) of the Separation Agreement). All Equity Awards shall continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of the
Equity Documents. The Equity Award Summary attached as Exhibit B (the “Equity Award Table”) sets forth the number and vesting schedule
for Executive’s Equity Awards subject solely to service-based vesting that are eligible to vest during 2019 following the Effective Date through
2021.

4. Trade Secrets and Confidential Information/Company Property. Executive agrees at all times hereafter to hold in the strictest
confidence, and not to use or disclose to any person or entity, any Confidential Information of the Company. Executive understands that
“Confidential Information” means any Company or associated third party proprietary information, technical data, trade secrets or know-how,
including, but not limited to, research, product plans, products, services, customer lists and customers (including, but not limited to, customers
of the Company on whom he has called or with whom he became acquainted during the term of his employment), markets, software,
developments, inventions, processes, formulas, technology, designs, drawings, engineering, hardware configuration information, marketing,
finances, or other business information disclosed to him by the Company either directly or indirectly, in writing, orally, or by drawings or
observation of parts or equipment. Executive further understands that Confidential Information does not include any of the foregoing items that
have become publicly known and made generally available through no wrongful act of him or of others who were under confidentiality
obligations as to the item or items involved or improvements or new versions thereof. Executive hereby grants consent to notification by the
Company to any new employer about his obligations under this section. Executive represents that he has not to date misused or disclosed
Confidential Information to any unauthorized party. In connection with Executive’s agreement to protect the Company’s Confidential
Information, he reaffirms and agrees to observe and abide by the terms of Sections 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 15 of the Employment Agreement
(collectively, the “Surviving Provisions”), specifically including the provisions regarding nondisclosure of the Company’s trade secrets and
confidential and proprietary information, and any restrictive covenants contained therein. Executive agrees to return any documents and other
items provided to him by the Company, developed or obtained by him in connection with his employment therewith, or otherwise belonging to
the Company (excluding a copy of the Employee Handbook and personnel documents specifically relating to him), that may be requested by
the Company.

5. Protected Activity Not Prohibited. Executive understands that nothing in this Agreement, or any other agreement or policy of
the Company, shall in any way limit or prohibit him from engaging in any Protected Activity. Protected Activity includes filing and/or pursuing
a charge, complaint, or report with, or otherwise communicating, cooperating, or participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be
conducted by any federal, state or local government agency or commission, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the National Labor Relations Board
(“Government Agencies”) and/or disclosing information pertaining to sexual harassment or any other unlawful or potentially unlawful conduct.
Executive understands that in connection with such Protected Activity, Executive is permitted to disclose documents or other information as
permitted by law, without giving notice to, or receiving authorization from, the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive agrees to
take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that may constitute Company confidential and
proprietary information to any parties other than the Government Agencies. Executive further understands that “Protected Activity” does not
include the disclosure of any Company attorney-client privileged communications or attorney work product. In addition, pursuant to the Defend
Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive is notified that an individual will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade
secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (a) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official (directly or
indirectly) or to an attorney �V�R�O�H�O�\ for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, or (b) is made in a complaint or
other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if (and only if) such filing is made under seal. In addition, an individual who files a
lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the individual’s attorney and
use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual files any document containing the trade secret under seal and does not
disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.
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6. Costs. The Parties shall each bear their own costs, attorneys’ fees, and other fees incurred in connection with the preparation
of this Agreement.

7. ARBITRATION. EXCEPT AS PROHIBITED BY LAW, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES
ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS OF THIS TRANSITION AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT
WITH THE COMPANY OR THE TERMS THEREOF, OR ANY RELATED MATTERS, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION
UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT (THE “FAA”) AND THAT THE FAA SHALL GOVERN AND APPLY TO THIS
ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WITH FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; HOWEVER, WITHOUT LIMITING ANY PROVISIONS OF THE
FAA, A MOTION OR PETITION OR ACTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION MAY ALSO BE BROUGHT IN STATE COURT UNDER
THE PROCEDURAL PROVISIONS OF SUCH STATE’S LAWS RELATING TO MOTIONS OR PETITIONS OR ACTIONS TO COMPEL
ARBITRATION. EXECUTIVE AGREES THAT, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, HE MAY BRING ANY SUCH
ARBITRATION PROCEEDING ONLY IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES
ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, AND ANY OF THE MATTERS HEREIN
RELEASED, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION IN TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS BEFORE JUDICIAL ARBITRATION &
MEDIATION SERVICES, INC. (“JAMS”), PURSUANT TO ITS EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION RULES & PROCEDURES (“JAMS
RULES”). THE ARBITRATOR MAY GRANT INJUNCTIONS AND OTHER RELIEF IN SUCH DISPUTES. THE ARBITRATOR SHALL
ADMINISTER AND CONDUCT ANY ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH TEXAS LAW, INCLUDING THE TEXAS RULES OF
CIVIL PROCEDURE, AND THE ARBITRATOR SHALL APPLY SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL TEXAS LAW TO ANY DISPUTE
OR CLAIM, WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ANY CONFLICT-OF-LAW PROVISIONS OF ANY JURISDICTION. TO THE EXTENT THAT
THE JAMS RULES CONFLICT WITH TEXAS LAW, TEXAS LAW SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE. THE DECISION OF THE
ARBITRATOR SHALL BE FINAL, CONCLUSIVE, AND BINDING ON THE PARTIES TO THE ARBITRATION. THE PARTIES AGREE
THAT THE PREVAILING PARTY IN ANY ARBITRATION SHALL BE ENTITLED TO INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IN ANY COURT OF
COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE THE ARBITRATION AWARD. THE PARTIES TO THE ARBITRATION SHALL EACH
PAY AN EQUAL SHARE OF THE COSTS AND EXPENSES OF SUCH ARBITRATION, AND EACH PARTY SHALL SEPARATELY PAY
FOR ITS RESPECTIVE COUNSEL FEES AND EXPENSES. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO HAVE
ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THEM RESOLVED IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE
FOREGOING, THIS SECTION WILL NOT PREVENT EITHER PARTY FROM SEEKING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF (OR ANY OTHER
PROVISIONAL REMEDY) FROM ANY COURT HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE PARTIES AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF
THEIR DISPUTE RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE AGREEMENTS INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE.
SHOULD ANY PART OF THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT CONTAINED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER
ARBITRATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT SHALL
GOVERN.

8. Tax Consequences. The Company makes no representations or warranties with respect to the tax consequences of the
payments and any other consideration provided to Executive or made on Executive’s behalf under the terms of this Agreement. The Parties
agree and acknowledge that the payments made pursuant to Section 1 of this Agreement are not related to sexual harassment or sexual abuse
and not intended to fall within the scope of 26 U.S.C. Section 162(q).

9. Authority. The Company represents and warrants that the undersigned has the authority to act on behalf of the Company and
to bind the Company and all who may claim through it to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Executive represents and warrants that he
has the capacity to act on his own behalf and on behalf of all who might claim through him to bind them to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. Each
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Party warrants and represents that there are no liens or claims of lien or assignments in law or equity or otherwise of or against any of the
claims or causes of action released herein.

10. Severability. In the event that any provision or any portion of any provision hereof or any surviving agreement made a part
hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator to be illegal, unenforceable, or void, this Agreement shall
continue in full force and effect without said provision or portion of provision.

11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and Executive
concerning the subject matter of this Agreement and Executive’s continued employment with the Company during the Transition Period and the
events leading thereto and associated therewith, and supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning the
subject matter of this Agreement and Executive’s relationship with the Company, including, but not limited to, the Employment Agreement,
which is expressly superseded hereby; �S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�G�����K�R�Z�H�Y�H�U, that this Agreement does not supersede and replace the Surviving Provisions or the
Equity Documents, except as they are otherwise modified or superseded herein. For avoidance of any doubt, the Employment Agreement shall
be null and void and of no further force and effect, other than the Surviving Provisions, and with no further payments, severance entitlements,
or other obligations due thereunder.

12. No Oral Modification. This Agreement may only be amended in a writing signed by Executive and the Chairman of the
Board or a duly authorized member of the Board.

13. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas, without regard for choice-of-law
provisions. Executive consents to personal and exclusive jurisdiction and venue in Texas.

14. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and each counterpart shall be deemed an original and all of
which counterparts taken together shall have the same force and effect as an original and shall constitute an effective, binding agreement on the
part of each of the undersigned.  The counterparts of this Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile, photo, email PDF, or other
electronic transmission or signature.

15. Voluntary Execution of Agreement. Executive understands and agrees that he executed this Agreement voluntarily and
without any duress or undue influence on the part or behalf of the Company or any third party. Executive acknowledges that: (a) he has read
this Agreement; (b) has been represented in the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Agreement by legal counsel of Executive’s own
choice or has elected not to retain legal counsel; (c) he understands the terms and consequences of this Agreement; (d) he is fully aware of the
legal and binding effect of this Agreement; and (e) he has not relied upon any representations or statements made by the Company that are not
specifically set forth in this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.

�$�/ �( �; �$�1�' �( �5���0 �����' �$�9�(�5�1�����D�Q���L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O

Dated: 10/28/19     /s/ Alexander M. Davern    
Alexander M. Davern

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

Dated: 10/28/19     By /s/ Michael McGrath    
Michael McGrath
Chairman of the Board

SIGNATURE PAGE TO TRANSITION AGREEMENT
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This Separation Agreement and Release (“Separation Agreement”) is made by and between Alexander M. Davern (“Executive”) and
National Instruments Corporation (the “Company”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties” or individually referred to as a “Party”). Terms
capitalized herein but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in that certain Transition Agreement by and between the Parties
to which this Exhibit is attached (the “Transition Agreement”).

�5�(�&�,�7�$�/ �6

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to resolve any and all disputes, claims, complaints, grievances, charges, actions, petitions, and demands
that the Executive may have against the Company and any of the Releasees as defined below, including, but not limited to, any and all claims
arising out of or in any way related to Executive’s employment with or separation from the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made herein, the Company and Executive hereby agree as follows:
�&�2�9�(�1�$�1�7�6

1. Consideration. In consideration of Executive’s execution of this Separation Agreement, and contingent upon Executive’s
fulfillment of all of the terms and conditions set forth herein, and provided Executive does not revoke the Separation Agreement under Section
6 below, the Company agrees as follows:

a.    �&�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H�G���(�P�S�O�R�\�P�H�Q�W���' �X�U�L�Q�J���W�K�H���7�U�D�Q�V�L�W�L�R�Q���3�H�U�L�R�G. The Company has allowed Executive to continue employment with
the Company during the Transition Period in consideration for his agreement to sign this Separation Agreement on or after the Termination
Date.

b.    �6�H�Y�H�U�D�Q�F�H���)�R�O�O�R�Z�L�Q�J���W�K�H���7�U�D�Q�V�L�W�L�R�Q���3�H�U�L�R�G. Further, provided Executive has met the conditions of Section 1(b) or 1(c) of
the Transition Agreement, as may be applicable, the Company agrees to provide Executive with the following additional consideration:

i.    �$�F�F�H�O�H�U�D�W�H�G���9�H�V�W�L�Q�J. On the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Equity Awards that are subject only to service-
based vesting will vest as to the portion of each applicable Equity Award that would be scheduled to vest if Executive had remained employed
through May 5, 2021. For the avoidance of doubt, the Equity Awards subject to performance-based vesting will not vest pursuant to this
Separation Agreement.

ii.    �(�T�X�L�W�\���$�Z�D�U�G�V���5�H�P�D�L�Q���6�X�E�M�H�F�W���W�R���W�K�H���(�T�X�L�W�\���' �R�F�X�P�H�Q�W�V. Section 1(b)(i) expressly acts as an amendment to the
Equity Documents memorializing any Equity Awards. Other than as amended by Section 1(b)(i), the Equity Awards will continue to be
governed by the terms and conditions of the Equity Documents.

iii.    �&�2�%�5�$. The Company shall reimburse Executive for, or pay directly on Executive’s behalf, the premiums for
healthcare continuation coverage pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”) for
Executive and Executive’s eligible dependents (as applicable) through May 31, 2021, or until Executive has secured health insurance coverage
through another employer, whichever occurs first, provided Executive timely elects COBRA continuation coverage within the time period
prescribed pursuant to COBRA. Notwithstanding the preceding, if the Company determines in its sole discretion that it cannot provide COBRA
reimbursement benefits without potentially violating applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service
Act), the Company will instead provide the Executive a taxable payment in an amount equal to the monthly COBRA premium that he would
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be required to pay to continue the Executive’s group health coverage in effect on the date of termination of employment (which amount will be
based on the premium for the first month of COBRA coverage), which payments will be made regardless of whether Executive elects COBRA
continuation coverage and will commence in the month following the month of the Termination Date and continue for the period of months
indicated in this Section 1(b)(iii).

c.    �$�F�N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H�P�H�Q�W. Executive acknowledges that without this Separation Agreement, Executive is otherwise not entitled to
the consideration listed in this Section 1.

2. Equity Awards. The Parties agree that for purposes of determining the number of shares of the Company’s common stock that
Executive is entitled to receive from the Company, pursuant to the vesting of outstanding Equity Awards, Executive will be considered to have
vested only up to the Termination Date (including any vesting acceleration set forth in Section 1(b)(i)). All unvested shares subject to
outstanding Equity Awards as of the Termination Date will terminate on the Termination Date (excluding, for avoidance of doubt, any shares
for which vesting is accelerated under Section 1(b)(i)). Other than as set forth in Section 1(b)(i) of this Separation Agreement, the Equity
Awards shall continue to be governed by the terms and conditions of the Equity Documents. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the
number of restricted stock units subject to Equity Awards subject to service-based vesting eligible to vest during 2019, 2020 and 2021,
including the number eligible to accelerate vesting upon the Termination Date pursuant to Section 1(b)(i) of this Agreement are as set forth in
the Equity Award Table.

3. Benefits. Executive’s health insurance benefits shall cease on the last day of the month in which he is employed by the Company,
subject to his right to continue his health insurance under COBRA. Executive’s participation in all benefits and incidents of employment,
including, but not limited to, vesting in stock options, and the accrual of bonuses, vacation, and paid time off, ceased as of the Termination
Date.

4. Payment of Salary and Receipt of All Benefits. Executive acknowledges and represents that, other than the consideration set forth
in this Separation Agreement, the Company has paid or provided all salary, wages, bonuses, accrued vacation/paid time off, premiums, leaves,
housing allowances, relocation costs, interest, severance, outplacement costs, fees, reimbursable expenses, commissions, stock, stock options,
vesting, and any and all other benefits and compensation that may be due to Executive, including any in connection with the Employment
Agreement or otherwise.

5. Release of Claims. Executive agrees that the foregoing consideration represents settlement in full of all outstanding obligations
owed to Executive by the Company and its current and former officers, directors, employees, agents, investors, attorneys, shareholders,
administrators, affiliates, benefit plans, plan administrators, professional employer organization or co-employer,��insurers, trustees, divisions,
subsidiaries, predecessor and successor corporations, and assigns (collectively, “Releasees”). Executive, on Executive’s behalf and on behalf of
Executive’s respective heirs, family members, executors, agents, and assigns, hereby and forever releases the Releasees from, and agrees not to
sue concerning, or in any manner to institute, prosecute, or pursue, any claim, complaint, charge, duty, obligation, demand, or cause of action
relating to any matters of any kind, whether presently known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, that Executive may possess against any
Releasee arising from any omissions, acts, facts, or damages occurring up until and including the date Executive signs this Separation
Agreement, including, without limitation:

a.    any and all claims relating to or arising from Executive’s employment relationship with the Company and the termination
of that relationship, including any claims related to the Employment Agreement or any other agreement with the Company;

b.    any and all claims relating to, or arising from, Executive’s right to purchase, or actual purchase of shares of stock of the
Company, including, without limitation, any claims for fraud,
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misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of duty under applicable state corporate law, and securities fraud under any state or federal
law;

c.    any and all claims for wrongful discharge of employment, termination in violation of public policy, discrimination,
harassment, retaliation, breach of contract (both express and implied), breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing (both express and
implied), promissory estoppel, negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraud, negligent or intentional misrepresentation,
negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective economic advantage, unfair business practices, defamation, libel, slander,
negligence, personal injury, assault, battery, invasion of privacy, false imprisonment, conversion, and disability benefits;

d.    any and all claims for violation of any federal, state, or municipal statute, including, but not limited to, Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Equal
Pay Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers
Benefit Protection Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the
Family and Medical Leave Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act, the National Labor Relations Act, the Texas Payday Act, the Texas
Workers’ Compensation Act, and Chapter 21 of the Texas Labor Code (also known as the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act);

e.    any and all claims for violation of the federal or any state constitution;

f.    any and all claims arising out of any other laws and regulations relating to employment or employment discrimination;

g.    any claim for any loss, cost, damage, or expense arising out of any dispute over the nonwithholding or other tax treatment
of any of the proceeds received by Executive as a result of this Separation Agreement; and

h.    any and all claims for attorneys’ fees and costs.

Executive agrees that the release set forth in this section shall be and remain in effect in all respects as a complete general release as to the
matters released. This release does not extend to any obligations incurred under this Separation Agreement. This release does not release claims
that cannot be released as a matter of law. Any disputed wage claims that are released herein shall be subject to binding arbitration in
accordance with this Separation Agreement, except as required by applicable law. This release does not extend to any right Executive may have
to unemployment compensation benefits.

6. Acknowledgment of Waiver of Claims under ADEA. Executive acknowledges that he is waiving and releasing any rights he may
have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ADEA”), and that this waiver and release is knowing and voluntary.
Executive agrees that this waiver and release does not apply to any rights or claims that may arise under the ADEA after the Effective Date of
this Separation Agreement. Executive acknowledges that the consideration given for this waiver and release is in addition to anything of value
to which Executive was already entitled. Executive further acknowledges that he has been advised by this writing that: (a) he should consult
with an attorney prior to executing this Separation Agreement; (b) he has twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Separation
Agreement; (c) he has seven (7) days following his execution of this Separation Agreement to revoke this Separation Agreement; (d) this
Separation Agreement shall not be effective until after the revocation period has expired; and (e) nothing in this Separation Agreement prevents
or precludes Executive from challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under the ADEA, nor does it
impose any condition precedent, penalties, or costs for doing so, unless specifically authorized by federal law. In the event Executive signs this
Separation Agreement and returns it to the Company in less than the 21-day period identified above, Executive hereby acknowledges that
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he has freely and voluntarily chosen to waive the time period allotted for considering this Separation Agreement. Executive acknowledges and
understands that revocation must be accomplished by a written notification to the Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors with a copy
to its General Counsel that is received prior to the Effective Date. The Parties agree that changes to this Separation Agreement, whether
material or immaterial, do not restart the running of the 21-day consideration period referenced above.

7. Unknown Claims. Executive acknowledges that he has been advised to consult with legal counsel and that he is familiar with the
principle that a general release does not extend to claims that the releaser does not know or suspect to exist in his favor at the time of executing
the release, which, if known by him, must have materially affected his settlement with the releasee. Executive, being aware of said principle,
agrees to expressly waive any rights he may have to that effect, as well as under any other statute or common law principles of similar effect.

8. No Pending or Future Lawsuits. Executive represents that he has no lawsuits, claims, or actions pending in his name, or on behalf
of any other person or entity, against the Company or any of the other Releasees. Executive also represents that he does not intend to bring any
claims on his own behalf or on behalf of any other person or entity against the Company or any of the other Releasees.

9. Application for Employment. Executive understands and agrees that, as a condition of this Separation Agreement, Executive
shall not be entitled to any future employment with the Company, and he hereby waives any right, or alleged right, of employment or re-
employment with the Company. Executive further agrees not to apply for employment with the Company and not otherwise pursue an
independent contractor or vendor relationship with the Company.

10. Trade Secrets and Confidential Information/Company Property. Executive agrees at all times hereafter to hold in the strictest
confidence, and not to use or disclose to any person or entity, any Confidential Information of the Company. Executive understands that
“Confidential Information” means any Company or associated third party proprietary information, technical data, trade secrets or know-how,
including, but not limited to, research, product plans, products, services, customer lists and customers (including, but not limited to, customers
of the Company on whom he has called or with whom he became acquainted during the term of his employment), markets, software,
developments, inventions, processes, formulas, technology, designs, drawings, engineering, hardware configuration information, marketing,
finances, or other business information disclosed to him by the Company either directly or indirectly, in writing, orally, or by drawings or
observation of parts or equipment. Executive further understands that Confidential Information does not include any of the foregoing items that
have become publicly known and made generally available through no wrongful act of his or of others who were under confidentiality
obligations as to the item or items involved or improvements or new versions thereof. Executive hereby grants consent to notification by the
Company to any new employer about his obligations under this section. Executive represents that he has not to date misused or disclosed
Confidential Information to any unauthorized party. In connection with Executive’s agreement to protect the Company’s Confidential
Information, Executive reaffirms and agrees to observe and abide by the terms of the Surviving Provisions. Executive’s signature below
constitutes Executive’s certification that Executive has returned all documents and other items provided to Executive by the Company,
developed or obtained by him in connection with his employment with the Company, or otherwise belonging to the Company (with the
exception of a copy of the Employee Handbook and personnel documents specifically relating to Executive), including any provided during the
Transition Period.

11. No Cooperation. Subject to the Protected Activity provision below, Executive agrees that he will not knowingly encourage,
counsel, or assist any attorneys or their clients in the presentation or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances, claims, charges, or
complaints by any third party against any of the Releasees, unless under a subpoena or other court order to do so or upon written request from
an administrative agency or the legislature or as related directly to the ADEA waiver in this Separation Agreement. Executive agrees both to
immediately notify the Company upon receipt of any such subpoena or court order or written
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request from an administrative agency or the legislature, and to furnish, within three (3) business days of its receipt, a copy of such subpoena or
other court order or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature. If approached by anyone for counsel or assistance in the
presentation or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances, claims, charges, or complaints against any of the Releasees, Executive
shall state no more than that he cannot provide counsel or assistance.

12. Protected Activity Not Prohibited. Executive understands that nothing in this Separation Agreement, or any other agreement or
policy of the Company, shall in any way limit or prohibit Executive from engaging in any Protected Activity. Protected Activity includes filing
and/or pursuing a charge, complaint, or report with, or otherwise communicating, cooperating, or participating in any investigation or
proceeding that may be conducted by any federal, state or local government agency or commission, including the Securities and Exchange
Commission, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the National Labor
Relations Board (“Government Agencies”). Executive understands that in connection with such Protected Activity, he is permitted to disclose
documents or other information as permitted by law, without giving notice to, or receiving authorization from, the Company. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Executive agrees to take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that may
constitute Company Confidential Information to any parties other than the Government Agencies. Executive further understands that “Protected
Activity” does not include the disclosure of any Company attorney-client privileged communications or attorney work product. In addition,
pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Executive is notified that an individual will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any
federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (a) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official
(directly or indirectly) or to an attorney �V�R�O�H�O�\ for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, or (b) is made in a
complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if (and only if) such filing is made under seal. In addition, an individual
who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the individual’s
attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual files any document containing the trade secret under seal
and does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

13. Nondisparagement. Executive agrees to refrain from any disparagement, defamation, libel, or slander of any of the Releasees,
and agrees to refrain from any tortious interference with the contracts and relationships of any of the Releasees.

14. No Admission of Liability. Executive understands and acknowledges that with respect to all claims released herein, this
Separation Agreement constitutes a compromise and settlement of any and all actual or potential disputed claims by Executive unless such
claims were explicitly not released by the release in this Separation Agreement. No action taken by the Company hereto, either previously or in
connection with this Separation Agreement, shall be deemed or construed to be (a) an admission of the truth or falsity of any actual or potential
claims or (b) an acknowledgment or admission by the Company of any fault or liability whatsoever to Executive or to any third party.

15. Costs. The Parties shall each bear their own costs, attorneys’ fees, and other fees incurred in connection with the preparation of
this Separation Agreement.

16. ARBITRATION. EXCEPT AS PROHIBITED BY LAW, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES
ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS OF THIS SEPARATION AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT
WITH THE COMPANY OR THE TERMS THEREOF, OR ANY OF THE MATTERS HEREIN RELEASED, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO
ARBITRATION UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT (THE “FAA”) AND THAT THE FAA SHALL GOVERN AND APPLY TO
THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WITH FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; HOWEVER, WITHOUT LIMITING ANY PROVISIONS OF
THE FAA, A MOTION OR PETITION OR ACTION TO
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COMPEL ARBITRATION MAY ALSO BE BROUGHT IN STATE COURT UNDER THE PROCEDURAL PROVISIONS OF SUCH
STATE’S LAWS RELATING TO MOTIONS OR PETITIONS OR ACTIONS TO COMPEL ARBITRATION. EXECUTIVE AGREES THAT,
TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EXECUTIVE MAY BRING ANY SUCH ARBITRATION PROCEEDING ONLY IN
EXECUTIVE’S INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF THE TERMS
OF THIS AGREEMENT, THEIR INTERPRETATION, AND ANY OF THE MATTERS HEREIN RELEASED, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO
ARBITRATION IN TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS BEFORE JUDICIAL ARBITRATION & MEDIATION SERVICES, INC. (“JAMS”),
PURSUANT TO ITS EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION RULES & PROCEDURES (“JAMS RULES”). THE ARBITRATOR MAY GRANT
INJUNCTIONS AND OTHER RELIEF IN SUCH DISPUTES. THE ARBITRATOR SHALL ADMINISTER AND CONDUCT ANY
ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH TEXAS LAW, INCLUDING THE TEXAS RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, AND THE
ARBITRATOR SHALL APPLY SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL TEXAS LAW TO ANY DISPUTE OR CLAIM, WITHOUT
REFERENCE TO ANY CONFLICT-OF-LAW PROVISIONS OF ANY JURISDICTION. TO THE EXTENT THAT THE JAMS RULES
CONFLICT WITH TEXAS LAW, TEXAS LAW SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE. THE DECISION OF THE ARBITRATOR SHALL BE
FINAL, CONCLUSIVE, AND BINDING ON THE PARTIES TO THE ARBITRATION. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE PREVAILING
PARTY IN ANY ARBITRATION SHALL BE ENTITLED TO INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IN ANY COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION
TO ENFORCE THE ARBITRATION AWARD. THE PARTIES TO THE ARBITRATION SHALL EACH PAY AN EQUAL SHARE OF THE
COSTS AND EXPENSES OF SUCH ARBITRATION, AND EACH PARTY SHALL SEPARATELY PAY FOR ITS RESPECTIVE
COUNSEL FEES AND EXPENSES. THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO HAVE ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN
THEM RESOLVED IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THIS SECTION WILL
NOT PREVENT EITHER PARTY FROM SEEKING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF (OR ANY OTHER PROVISIONAL REMEDY) FROM ANY
COURT HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE PARTIES AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THEIR DISPUTE RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT AND THE AGREEMENTS INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE. SHOULD ANY PART OF THE ARBITRATION
AGREEMENT CONTAINED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER ARBITRATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE
PARTIES, THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT SHALL GOVERN.

17. Tax Consequences. The Company makes no representations or warranties with respect to the tax consequences of the payments
and any other consideration provided to Executive or made on Executive’s behalf under the terms of this Separation Agreement. Executive
agrees and understands that Executive is responsible for payment, if any, of local, state, and/or federal taxes on the payments and any other
consideration provided hereunder by the Company and any penalties or assessments thereon. Executive further agrees to indemnify and hold
the Releasees harmless from any claims, demands, deficiencies, penalties, interest, assessments, executions, judgments, or recoveries by any
government agency against the Company for any amounts claimed due on account of (a) Executive’s failure to pay or delayed payment of
federal or state taxes, or (b) damages sustained by the Company by reason of any such claims, including attorneys’ fees and costs. The Parties
agree and acknowledge that the payments made pursuant to Section 1 of this Separation Agreement are not related to sexual harassment or
sexual abuse and not intended to fall within the scope of 26 U.S.C. Section 162(q).

18. Section 409A. It is intended that this Separation Agreement comply with, or be exempt from, Code Section 409A and the final
regulations and official guidance thereunder (“Section 409A”) and any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to so comply and/or be exempt
from Section 409A. Each payment and benefit to be paid or provided under this Separation Agreement is intended to constitute a series of
separate payments for purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations. Payments under Section 1 of this Separation Agreement
will be made no later than March 15, 2021. The Company and Executive will work together in good faith to consider either (a) amendments to
this Separation Agreement; or (b) revisions to this Separation Agreement with respect to the payment of any awards, which are necessary or
appropriate to avoid
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imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to the actual payment to Executive under Section 409A. In no event will the
Releasees reimburse Executive for any taxes that may be imposed on Executive as a result of Section 409A.

19. Authority. The Company represents and warrants that the undersigned has the authority to act on behalf of the Company and to
bind the Company and all who may claim through it to the terms and conditions of this Separation Agreement. Executive represents and
warrants that he has the capacity to act on his own behalf and on behalf of all who might claim through him to bind them to the terms and
conditions of this Separation Agreement. Each Party warrants and represents that there are no liens or claims of lien or assignments in law or
equity or otherwise of or against any of the claims or causes of action released herein.

20. Severability. In the event that any provision or any portion of any provision hereof or any surviving agreement made a part
hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction or arbitrator to be illegal, unenforceable, or void, this Separation Agreement
shall continue in full force and effect without said provision or portion of provision.

21. Entire Agreement. This Separation Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the Company and
Executive concerning the subject matter of this Separation Agreement and Executive’s employment with and separation from the Company and
the events leading thereto and associated therewith, and supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements and understandings concerning
the subject matter of this Separation Agreement and Executive’s relationship with the Company. This Separation Agreement does not supersede
and replace the Surviving Provisions.

22. No Oral Modification. This Separation Agreement may only be amended in a writing signed by Executive and the Company’s
Chairman of the Board or a duly authorized member of the Board.

23. Governing Law. This Separation Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas, without regard for choice-of-
law provisions, except that any dispute regarding the enforceability of the arbitration section of this Separation Agreement shall be governed by
the FAA. Executive consents to personal and exclusive jurisdiction and venue in the State of Texas.

24. Effective Date. Executive understands that this Separation Agreement shall be null and void if not executed by Executive within
twenty-one (21) days. Each Party has seven (7) days after that Party signs this Separation Agreement to revoke it. This Separation Agreement
will become effective on the eighth (8th) day after Executive signed this Separation Agreement, so long as it has been signed by the Parties and
has not been revoked by either Party before that date (the “Effective Date”).

25. Counterparts. This Separation Agreement may be executed in counterparts and each counterpart shall be deemed an original and
all of which counterparts taken together shall have the same force and effect as an original and shall constitute an effective, binding agreement
on the part of each of the undersigned.  The counterparts of this Separation Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile, photo,
email PDF, or other electronic transmission or signature.

26. Voluntary Execution of Agreement. Executive understands and agrees that he executed this Separation Agreement voluntarily
and without any duress or undue influence on the part or behalf of the Company or any third party, with the full intent of releasing all of
Executive’s claims against the Company and any of the other Releasees. Executive acknowledges that: (a) he has read this Separation
Agreement; (b) he has been represented in the preparation, negotiation, and execution of this Separation Agreement by legal counsel of
Executive’s own choice or has elected not to retain legal counsel; (c) he understands the terms and consequences of this Separation Agreement
and of the releases it contains; (d) he is fully aware of the legal and binding effect of this Separation Agreement; and (e) has not relied upon any
representations or statements made by the Company that are not specifically set forth in this Separation Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Separation Agreement on the respective dates set forth below.

�$�/ �( �; �$�1�' �( �5���0 �����' �$�9�(�5�1

Dated: ________________, 2019                    
Alexander M. Davern

�1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

Dated: ________________, 2019    By             
Michael McGrath
Chairman of the Board



�( �; �+�,�%�,�7���%
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 �5���(���6���7���5���,���&���7���(���'���6���7���2���&���.���8���1���,���7���6  
  

�1�D�P�H �1�X�P�E�H�U 
�$�Z�D�U�G��

�'�D�W�H �3�O�D�Q
�6�K�D�U�H�V���W�R���E�H

�9�H�V�W�H�G 

�6�F�K�H�G�X�O�H�G��
�5�H�O�H�D�V�H��

�'�D�W�H  �9�H�V�W�L�Q�J���<�H�D�U

Davern, Alex 26586  01/24/2017 2015 50,000  12/16/2019  ��������

�����������7�R�W�D�O     ������������     
          
          

Davern, Alex 18240  04/20/2011 2010 2,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 20129  04/18/2012 2010 2,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 22034  04/23/2013 2010 1,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 23866  04/22/2014 2010 1,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 24356  04/21/2015 2010 2,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 25622  04/26/2016 2015 2,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 31370  04/25/2017 2015 12,500  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 31697  04/25/2018 2015 11,250  05/01/2020  ��������

Davern, Alex 33812  02/01/2019 2015 17,667  05/01/2020  ��������

�����������7�R�W�D�O     ������������     
          
          

Davern, Alex 18240  04/20/2011 2010 192  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 20129  04/18/2012 2010 2,500  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 22034  04/23/2013 2010 1,500  05/01/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 23866  04/22/2014 2010 1,500  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 24356  04/21/2015 2010 2,500  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 25622  04/26/2016 2015 2,500  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 31370  04/25/2017 2015 12,500  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 31697  04/25/2018 2015 11,250  05/03/2021  ��������

Davern, Alex 33812  02/01/2019 2015 17,666  05/03/2021  ��������

�����������7�R�W�D�O     ������������     

* For purposes of this Equity Award Table, the “Termination Date” is deemed to be May 5, 2020. If the Termination Date occurs earlier than May 5, 2020, the
Company will revise this Equity Award Table in accordance with the Equity Documents to reflect the actual vesting status of Executive’s Equity Awards as of
the actual Termination Date (subject to any vesting acceleration that Executive may receive pursuant to Section 1(b) of the Separation Agreement, and
contingent upon the terms of such agreement).



�( �; �+�,�%�,�7����������
�6�8�%�6�,�' �,�$�5�,�( �6���2�)���1�$�7�,�2�1�$�/ ���,�1�6�7�5�8�0 �(�1�7�6���&�2�5�3�2�5�$�7�,�2�1

Unless noted, all subsidiaries are formed under local law.

Applied Wave Research Limited, United Kingdom*
AWR Corporation, a Delaware corporation*
AWR-APLAC Oy, Finland*
AWR Japan KK*
Enterprise International Holding B.V., Netherlands
M2 SAS, France
Measurement Computing Corporation, a Delaware corporation
Measurement Computing GmbH, Germany
Micropross SAS, France
National Instruments Asia Minor Ölcüm Cihazlar�ã  Ticaret Limited Sirketi, Turkey
National Instruments Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore
National Instruments Australia Pty Ltd., Australia
National Instruments Belgium N.V.
National Instruments Brazil Ltda.
National Instruments Canada Co.
National Instruments Chile SpA.
National Instruments Colombia SAS
National Instruments Corporation (UK) Limited, United Kingdom
National Instruments Costa Rica Ltda.
National Instruments (Czech Republic) s.r.o.
National Instruments Denmark ApS, Denmark
National Instruments de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
National Instruments de Mexico Servicios, S.A. de C.V.
National Instruments Dresden GmbH, Germany
National Instruments Egypt LLC
National Instruments Engineering GmbH, Germany
National Instruments Engineering GmbH & Co. KG, Germany
National Instruments Europe Corporation, a Texas corporation
National Instruments Finland Oy
National Instruments France SAS, France
National Instruments Germany GmbH    
National Instruments Gesellschaft m.b.H., Austria
National Instruments Hong Kong Limited
National Instruments Hungary Kft.
National Instruments Ireland Resources Limited
National Instruments Israel Ltd.
National Instruments Italy s.r.l.
National Instruments Japan KK
National Instruments (Korea) Corporation
National Instruments Lebanon SARL
National Instruments Netherlands B.V.
National Instruments New Zealand Limited
National Instruments Norway AS, Norway
National Instruments Philippines Inc.
National Instruments Poland Sp.Zo.o.
National Instruments Romania s.r.l.
National Instruments RUS LLC, Russia
National Instruments Scandinavia Corporation, a Texas corporation
National Instruments Singapore (PTE) Ltd.
National Instruments Spain, S.L.
National Instruments Sweden A.B.
National Instruments Switzerland GmbH, Switzerland
National Instruments (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
NI France Holdings SAS, France
NI Hungary Kft.
NI Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
NI Southeast Asia Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia
NI Systems (India) Private Limited, India
NI Taiwan Corporation
Phase Matrix, Inc., a California corporation
PT. National Instruments Indonesia
Quality Instrumentation Solutions, Inc., a Texas corporation
Shanghai NI Instruments Co. Ltd, People’s Republic of China
Washington Holding and Finance B.V., Netherlands
X5 Systems, Inc. Delaware Corporation*

*until January 15, 2020



�( �; �+�,�%�,�7����������

�&�R�Q�V�H�Q�W���R�I���,�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���5�H�J�L�V�W�H�U�H�G���3�X�E�O�L�F���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���)�L�U�P

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-91671, 333-118034) pertaining to the Amended and Restated
1994 Incentive Plan; the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-127751) pertaining to the 2005 Incentive Plan; the Registration Statements (Form S-8
Nos. 333-145301, 333-176047, 333-197878, 333-218452, 333-232792) pertaining to the 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and the Registration
Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-166791) pertaining to the 2010 Incentive Plan; the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No 333-206067) pertaining to the 2015
Equity Incentive Plan, of National Instruments Corporation of our report dated February 20, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
National Instruments Corporation, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of National Instruments Corporation, included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
February 20, 2020
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I, Eric Starkloff, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of National Instruments Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 20, 2020

By: /s/ Eric Starkloff

Eric Starkloff
Chief Executive Officer
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I, Karen Rapp, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of National Instruments Corporation; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 20, 2020

By: /s/ Karen Rapp
Karen Rapp
Chief Financial Officer
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I, Eric Starkloff, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report
of National Instruments Corporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition
and results of operations of National Instruments Corporation.

By: /s/ Eric Starkloff
Eric Starkloff
Chief Executive Officer

I, Karen Rapp, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of
National Instruments Corporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and
results of operations of National Instruments Corporation.

By: /s/ Karen Rapp
Karen Rapp
Chief Financial Officer


